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We are Biffa

We've been at the forefront of the UK sustainable waste management industry for over

100 years.

Qur strotegy for growth means ot our waste reduchion,
recycling, 2nergy recovery and cellection services cli have
pesitive 'impact across *he UK We have g strong track record of
growing our orofits whilst reinvesting 10 grow our business,

Today, Biffa is on established snobler of the LK circulor
aconomy ond our team of just under 11,000 colleagues carry out
assental services every day n line with our purpose to change
the way people think about waste'. Sustoinability has been ar
tha haart of our business strategy for many years. Our areas of
investment reflact the waste huerarchy - to Reduce, Recycle and
Recover, all supported by the reed to Collect.

We have already taken huge stnides in our sustainability journey
by investing n surplus redistnbution, plastic recycling, energy
racovery infrastructure and low carbon collections, leading to a
70% reduction in our carbon ermissions since 2002, Our
sustainability strateqy, ‘Resourceful, Responsible’, will see us
unlock £1.25bn of investment in vital green economy
infrastructure by 2030, of which ¢.£1bn has already beent
committed to, while further reducing our carbon emissiaons by
50% by 2030, Our aim is to reach net zero emissions by no later
than 2050.

Our pecple care about doing the ngrt thing and, in turn, we
strive 1o do right oy them by prioritising their health, safery and
welloeing We dre proud to have been awarded a 5-star rating
by the British Safety Council. we have also made sfrorg
progress in making sure Biffa is an inclusive place *o work where
diversity 13 championed and our employees feel valued and
understand the positive contribution they make to enabling the
UK circular economy.

Our longstanding Biffa Award programme supports sustainable
projects across the uK which deliver environmental benefits,
while making a valuable contribution to local communities.

Through cur proud partnership with wasteAid, we are helping to
share practical ond low-cost waste management knowledge
with communities in developing countries.

As we iook forward, whilst being mindful of the near-term
challenges the UK economy is facing, we are increasingly well
pasitioned to play a key role in the transition that our sectar is
embarking on, supported by an ombitious policy dagenda.
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Strategic Report

Combining purpose

with profit

Why we exist beyond profit

Who we are and what drives us How we defiver for our stokehoiders What we're striving fo ochieve
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<@ Our Vision Our Sustainable

Busingss Model
To lead the way in UK

Collect
sustainable woste monagerment Reduce @
« Recyde
« Recover
Our Purpose Qur Sustainability
Goals
To change the « Buiding o clrcuior economy
way people think cing climate change
t wast " « Cori
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Protect our Planet
Grow Sustainably

- .
Wa take we do
the fght

Why we do what we do

Our business model combines purpose with profit, helping to enable the circular economy, generate profit for our shareholders and deliver
our core purpose - to change the way people think about waste,

Who we are and what drives us

Cur values demonstrate how we act every day and how we make
decisions. They set us apart from the competition and show that
how we do things is just as important as what we do. They are the
guiding principles for how we do business,

We make
things
happen

We take
pride
in what
we do

We do
the right
thing

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 3



Strategic Report

What we do

Our business model focuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect.
Concentraring on these four areas enables us to deliver efficient and sustainable waste
management in ling with the waste hierarchy and enabiles us to deliver the most value from

our operational capabilities,

Jur business model 's resifient by design, demanstrated by how we have navigated economic
uncertainty and market challenges during the year. Our services are generally essentici, non-
discretionary and pradictable in demand. Commercial terms either offer good levels of pricing
flexibility or contractual structures designed fo protect against commodity and infighionary

SXPOSUres.

Reduce

To pioneer and operate
the UK’s leading waste
reduction and

redistribution services.

" Sources of revenue:
«  Saleof surplus
produce To Company

Shop Group's
members.

Where we focus: our objectives

Recycle

To develop and operate
the UK's leading recycling
solutions.

Sources of revenue:

s Gate fees for processing” -

and treating waste.
. Sale of comrmodity
products.

_ recycled,

Recover

To invest in energy

recovery infrastructure as a

lower carbon aHernative to
landfill for our customers’
waste that cannot be

Sources of revenue:

«  Gate fees for proces-si-r;é- o

and treating wasfre.
- Sale of renewabie energy.

e L3
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{ Recycle
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Collect

To build the UK’s largest,
most efficient, low
carbon waste and
recycling collections
operation.

Sources of revenue:

. Service fees for
collecrion and disposal
of commercial waste.

. Fees for outscurced
provision of household
collection services

Cur Balanced Business Plan ('BBP") is aligned to five key pillars - Safer Together, Value Peopie, Customer First, Grow Sustamably and
Protect our Planet. The actions and targets within our annual BBP help to guide octivity around our business model.

Underpinning all of this is our powerful sustainability story,

based around three key pillars:

Building a circular economy

Tackling climate change

Caring for our people,

supporting our communities
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Strategic Report

The Directors present their strategic report for Biffa Limited (‘the Company”) and ifts subsidiary companies (together “the Group’ or
‘Biffa”) for the year ended 31 March 2023

Accounting reference date

This strategic report and the accompanying financicl statements are prepared for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023. The comparatives
are prepared for the 52 weeks ended 25 March 2022. The strategic report for the subsequent period will be prepared for the 52 weeks
ending 27 Mvarch 2024

Principal Activity

Biffa is a leading integrated sustainabie waste management company in the UK. The Group collects and processes a significant
proportion of the waoste generated in the UK with a focus on developing a circular economy. Operations include waste collection,
recycting, organic waste treatment, landfill, surplus stock redistribution and investments in two Energy from waste (Efw’) joint ventures.

Ownership Structure

QOn 26 Jonuary 2023 the entire issued and to be issued share copital of Biffa ple was acquired by Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears
Bidco Limited). Biffa's listing on the London Stock Exchange was cancelled ot 8am on 27 January 2023 and Biffa plc was subsequently
re-registered as a private company and renamed Biffa Limited.

Biffa Limited remained a wholly-owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited at 31 March 2023, Biffa Bidco Limited is an entity whelly owned
by the funds managed by the Energy Capital Partners group of companies ('ECP’).

Founded in 2005, ECP 15 a leading investor across energy fransition, electrification and decorbonization infrastructure assets, including
powet generation, renewables and storage sclutions, environmental infrastructure and sustainability, efficiency & reliability assets
facilitating the energy transition. The ECP team, comprised of 73 people with 600+ years of collective industry experience, deep expertise
and extensive relationiships, has consummated more than 100 transactions over the last 18 years. For more information, visit
WWW.eCpgp.com.

Going concern

The Directors have concluded that the Group is able fo continue as a going concern and the financicl statements have been prepared on
the going concern basis accordingly. Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements for more information.

Forward-looking statements

This report contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the financial congition, results, operations and business of the
Group. By their nature, these statements and forecasts involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on
circumstances that may of may not occur in the future. There are a number of factors that could cause actual results or developments 1o
differ materially from those expressed or implied by these statements and forecasts.

Key Performance Indicators ("KPIs")
The Directors utilise a number of KPIs when measuring the performance of the business. These KPIs hove been detailed in the below table
and discussed further on the following pages. Definitions for the metrics are provided in the Appendix to the financial statements.

FY23 FY22 Movement

Financial KPIs:

Organic net revenue growth (%) 12.0% 20.0% {8.0)%
Acquisition net revenue growth (%) 6.0% 18.0% (12.0)%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 6.7% 67% -
Adjusted Return on Operating Assets (%) 18.2% 18.2% -
Adijusted Return on Capital Employed (%) 8.5% 7.0% 1.5%
Group Leverage Ratio (Net Debt ERITDA) (x) 3.0x 3.1x {0.1)x
Non-financial KPIs:

Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions (kt) 524kt 538kt {14kt
Plastics recycling capacity (kt) 167kt 151kt 16kt
Employee engagement (%) 63% 59% 4%
Lost time injury (LTI} rate 0.32 0.39 0.n
RIDDOR rate 0.19 017 0.02
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Strategic Report

Financial Review

Financial highlights
The other finarcal perforrrance highlights in addition *o the KPIs above are detailed i tne following table. Alternative performance
measures are olso defined and reconcilea in the Appendix to the financial statements,

FY23 FY22 Movement
Statutory Revenue 1,680.4 14432 2372
Adjusted EBITDA 2255 1950 | 30.5
| Operating Profit/(Loss) 6.7 (8.3 i 15.0
Adjusted Operating Profit 112.8 96.6 16.2
| Loss After Tax 16.7) (17 6) 09
[ Met Debt: EBITDA 3.0x 3 1x (G

Group performance

The Group has built upon FY22's strong frajectory with Statutory Revenue increasing by 16.4% in the year 1o the record level of £1,680.4m,
This has been achieved across the Group with Collections, Resources & Energy and Speciclist Services divisions growing by 15.1%, 11.2%
and 34.8% respectively. The majority of the growih has been orgaric, being roughly twice that attributed o acquisitions.

Operating Prof't has risen from a loss of £8.3m in FY22 1o a profit of £6.7m. This was driven by the 16.8% improvernent in Adjusted
Operating Profit from £96.6m in FY22 to £112.8m.

The Group continues fo experience significant inflationary heodwinds. Despite this, the Adjusted Cperating Profit Margin has remained
figt ar 6.7%, demonstrating the Group’s resilience and pricing flexibility,

The Group uses Afternative Performance Measures {APMs") to enable a better understanding of Group performance. APM’s exciude
certain irems from statutory results and are used to enhance the comparability of information between reporting periods and the
Group's divisions,

Adjusting items are fully explained in the Appendix te the financial statements. The net impact of adjusting items on Loss Before Tax was
a charge of £105.1m (FY22: £104.2m charge). The main adjusting items were geguisition related costs (£24.8m), strategy related and
resTructuring costs (£18.0m), increase to provision related to HMRC Landfill Tax eaguiry (£50.7m), asset impairments (£9 lrm),
anortisation of acquisition intangibles (£25.2m) and impact of real discount rate changes on landfil! provisions (£24 8m credit)

Net debt and borrowings

Group net debt is £667.0m (FY22: £595.8m) representing 3.0x Adiusted EBITDA (FY22: 3.1x). This demonstrates strong continued cash ,
performance across the Group

On 1 February 2023 the Group’s existing borrowirgs drown down under the RCF were repaid by Biffa Bideo Limited, with a corresponding
loan established between Biffo Bidco Limited and a subsidiary of Biffa Limited. The RCF was simultaneously replaced by o new £225m
RCF held by Biffo Bideo Limited.

The private placements held af 25 March 2022 were still held at 31 March 2023, but were terminated on 23 May 2023 as part of the debt
restructure.

Finance income and charges

Net finance charges rose from £19.2m in FY22 to £22.8m. The primary driver behind this was the £5.9m increcse in finance costs on loans
and private placemenss mostly caused by interest rate rises during the year, portly offset by net interest income on the net defined
herefit surplus increasing by £2.5m.

Refirement Benefits

The Group operates o defined benefir pension scherre for certain employees which is closed to new entrants and which closed to future
acgrual for the maojority of its members as ar 1 Novemiber 2013. At 31 March 2023 the Group's Total TAS 19 net retirement benefit surpius
wns £85.1m, o significant fall from the surpius of £166.1m at 25 March 2022,

The reasor for this fall is the overall shrinking of the largest scheme. with both plan assets and lignilities decreasing due *o the rise n
borrowing rates,

Refurn on Capital
Group Adjusted Return on Caprtal Employed mproved from 7.0% in FY22 1o 8.3% due tc the rise in Adjusted Operagting Profit
HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

This enquirv is n progress and therefore the cuscome remains uncear. Following the ~eceipt of furt~er informatian from HMRC, we "ove
increased cur provision from £20m to £64m. Refer 1o Nore 1 to the fingnciar statemenrs for more informanon.
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Financial Review continued
Post-balance sheet events

The following materal events cccurred ofter the reporting pericd.

. The Group acquired the entire issued share copiial of Esferpet Limited and 49 9% of the issued share capital of Esterform Pockaging
Limited in Aprii 2023

- A restructure of the Group's debt became effective in May 2023 with term loans increasing by £135m, rolling credit facility increasing
by £150m and private placements decreasing by £85m

. It was cnnounced in June 2023 that the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland will no tonger commence in FY24 as previously expected.
A replacemeant scheme will commence in October 2025 at the earliest.

. In May and June 2023 £7.8m was paid fo EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in
Note 29. A further £10.0m is expected to be paid in FY25.

Refer to the Directors’ Report ond Note 34 for more information.

Operating Review
The Group is organised into three cperating divisions:

. Collections
. Resources & Energy
. Specialist Services

Collections

This division provides sustainable waste and recycling coilections and refated services. It is gpiit into two businesses: Municipal and
Industrial and Commercial (‘[&C"). The Municipal business pravides household waste and recycling collections, street cleaning and other
services for households, on behalf of local authorities. The [&C business provides waste and recycling collections for a wide range of
industrial and commercial customers,

Fy23 FY22 Change Change

£m £m £m k)

Statutory Revenue 1,006.1 8739 132.2 15.1%
I&C 792.7 690 9 101.8 14 7%
Municipai 213.4 183.0 304 16.6%
Net Revenue 1,006.1 873.9 132.2 15.1%
Operating profit 75.9 656 10.3 15.7%
Operating profit margin (%) 7.5% 7.5% n/a n/a
Adjusted EBITDA 1446.1 1307 15.4 11.8%
Adjusted Operating profit 82.5 75.0 7.5 10.0%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 8.2% 8.6% n/a n/c

The Collections division had a strong year in FY23, with Statutory Revenue rising by 15.1%. This high growth rate was seen consistently
across the division with I&C and Municipal achieving growth rates of 14.7% and 16.6% respectively.

1&C

The growth in I&C has been achieved through the combination of acquisitions {including a full 12 months’ contribution from the Viridor
acguisition in FY22), volume growth and price increases. The I&C business has continued to be affected by substantial inflationary cost
pressures impacting the UK economy. While these pressures have had a significant impact on our operating costs, pricing flexibility built
into our confracts has enabled the business to pass on most of these cost increases to customers, thereby protecting our profitability
with Collections Adiusted Operating Profit Margin anly failing from 8.6% in FY22 to 8.2% in FY23.

Wwhile the business was impacted by notional HGV driver shartoges in FY22, these shortages eased in the latter part of FY22 and this
easing continued infte FY23. Supply chain disruption has continued to provide chatlenges in FY23, e.q. the procurement of new vehicles,
These challenges require careful management going forwerd.

Qur strategy remains to drive forward our pion to consolidate the fragmented [&C collections market Acquisitions are highly synergistic
due to the removal of duplicate routes and locations, and result in o more efficient, flexible service proposition for our customers with
lower carbon intensity. The acquisifion pipeline iooks promising and Biffa’s new owners mtend to support our historically acquisitive
approach.

Operating Review continued
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Cotlectiions continued
Municipal

Tive sighimcant  powh experienced in =725 has geen driven by the reveoue indesatian bult sora our Mumapdl contracis enabaling e
g 3 2 3
esults N revenue rises laggrg cost NICTEases i

prrces chovged o custTomers ta fse i ine with the ralevanr inflation indices. Th
environment st Jrowing nflation. but ther o carch-up s mtlanon slows, A margin imErovement 1s rhererore expected in FY 24

The chollengay roced by the Mumcipal busihess ore $imor 1o hose Toced By the T&T Dusmess and The nungoing Jenons e therefoi-
oroadly similar

fhe bushitss s well placed 1o cuntinue 10 delver ils growTh strutegy by copitalising on s scale ana expertse we will seek o cap tolise
3 The cppoertunities that are presantea by the approaching regulatory changes i the wedustry

Resources and Energy (‘R&E’)

The R&F division focuses on the sustainuble freatment, recycling, energy recovery and ullimate disposal of waste It comornses the
Recycling, Orgarics, Inerts ana Landfill Gas businesses as well as our equily investments in iwo Energy from waste (efw’) tfacidines st
were uncler construction ot the year end dare,

[T T T T

FY23 F¥22 | Change Change

o . £m Em £m Y

Statutory Revenue 439.6 3952 44 4 11 2%
Recyehing T 1651 ! 1408 | | 24.7 175% |

Organics 102.0 73.0 234 30.0%

i Therts 54.7 567 (19 (3.4)%

Landflll Gas 42.1 40‘4<l 18 4.5%

| Net Revenue - h 3639 3159 | 480 15.2%

Operating profit 35.3 175 178 LOL7%
Qperating profit margin (%) 8.0% 4 A% n/a H/T

Adjusted EBITDA 78.3 754 49 67%
Adjusted Operating profit 42.3 Ay 1z | 29%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%} G.6% 10.4% n/a n/a |

The R&E division saw sirong performance in FY23 with Net Revenue of £363 %m, up 13.2% on the prior year. This was driven by growTh i
the Recyching ard Orgamos businesses, which in turn was partly caused by a full 12 months’ contriburion from the Virdor acquisition

The signiticant cost Increases expenenced in the yean were largely mitigated through the Group's risk management medasdres and prc nig
frexibibry, but Adjusted Operaring Profit Margin did fall from 10.4% 10 2.6%

Recycling
Our Recycling pusiness comprises our ieading Polymers plastics business ana sur Materials Recyeling Facoilities {MRFs?.

F 22 was a transitonal year tor the Polymers business due to customer acceptance o Seaham faking longer than expecied but o

number of muit-muition pound agreements were signed lare in FY22 und FY23, driving rhe 17 5% revenue growth am P23

We axpect damana for glasiics recycling to conminue 1o strengthen following the introduction of the L Covernment s Ploshio Packaging
Tux and grearer scrahiny on corporate behaviours

Construction ot the third rfHDPE line at Redcar s now complete,
Crganics

The Organics bus.ness wcludes Biffa’s anaerobic digestion {ADY), compesting and residual waste Trecthiment ussers. Assers dre geoerally
SLPPW TET DY DNG BT BCal QUIROTITY CoNTIaTTs. The business nad a sTong veor with revenue growth of 30 ¥4

Inerrs

Our Ingrts business includes the rreatment and aisposal Of complex construchion wast2 and provides landtill disposal for untrearanla
rasidues. Inerts Met Revenue fell by 3.4%; due to a decline in landfill volumes caused by Macroeconomic uncertainiy

Landfill Gas

e tandril Sas busmess provides energy generation frang laedfill oz exteachis: .

Ravene Srove oy 4 20 FoO23 ot The Gosimive midgverman: o enecgy ur-ces oftetring the raduc: on 6 guas yieds

Operating Review Znnnued
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Resources and Energy (‘R&E’) continued
Energy Recovery

The *reamment of general was*e for energy recovery 's an important part of our investment strategy for waste which cannot be avoided,
reduced or recycled. Biffa has invested in rwo Energy from Waste joint ventures in partnershin with Encyclis (previously Covanta).

Construction of the Newhurst Energy Recovery Facility 1s complete and the site became fuily operational in May 2023, so FY24 Adjusted
Ceraling Profil will benefil from roughly 10 months of canrribution, Construction of the Protos bnergy Recovery Facility 1s stillin
progress and is 1-2 years behind Newhurst.

Specialist Services

The $pecialist Services division helps customers fulfil their sustainability ambitions by providing bespoke solutions including surplus
redistribution, infegrated resource managemeant and hazardous waste services. The division contains the Industrial Services and
Company Shop Group ('CSG) businesses.

The Industrial Services business provides bespoke solutions to customers who have more complex waste requirements such as
manufacturing and distribution businesses. Solutions include on site services and equiprment rental {Infegrated Rescurce Management’
or "IRM"), hazardous waste collection and treatment and packaging producer responsibility compliance services ('Biffpack’).

CSG adds waste reduction and redistribution capabilities to Biffa’s range of sustainable waste management solutions. It also enables us
1o support customers in moving surplus products further up the waste hierarchy and to deliver on their sustainability ambitions.
Alongside its core nefwork, CSG operates Community Shop, a not-for-profit community interest company that supports some of the
most deprived areas of the UK through a network of hubs which sell produce provided by donations from supplier partners ot deeply
discounted prices, alongside the provision of a number of community services,

In July 2022 Biffa cnnounced that Circularity Scotland Ltd (‘CSLY, the scheme administrator for Scotland’s Deposit Return Scheme,
appointed Biffa to provide collection, counting and sorting services for the billions of drinks containers which are placed on the Scottish
market each year. The attributable financial performance was to be included within the Specialist Services division due to the unique
nature of the scheme. The scheme will no longer commence in August 2023 as criginally planned, gs it was announced on 7 June 2023
that a replacement scheme would not go anead until at least October 2025, Refer to Note 34 for further details on the DRS and posiiien
as gt the balance sheet date.

FY23 FY22 Change Change

£m £m £m %

Statutory Revenue 234.7 174.1 60.6 34.8%
Industrial Services 145.1 1034 417 40.3%
Company Shop Group 89.6 707 189 267%
Net Revenue 2347 174.1 60.6 34.8%
Operating profit / (loss) 12.7 (19.9) 32.6 n/a
Operating profit margin (%) 54% (1L.4)% n/a n/a
Adjusted EBITDA 21.6 11.6 10.0 86.2%
Adjusted Qperating profit 138 54 8.4 155.6%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 5.9% 31% n/a n/a

The Specialist Services division had g very strong year, with revenue increasing by 34.8%. The majority of this growth was seen in
Industrial Services which grew by 40.3%, followed by Company Shop Group which saw its reverues incredase by 26.7%.

Industrial Services

Industrial Services continued its strong performance info FY23, with all three business units {(IRM, Hazardous Waste and Compliance)
performing seeing high levels of growth. The acquisition of Total Recycling Services in March 2023 will help drive further growth in FY24.

Biffa is uniguely placed to benefit from the growing Industrial Services marker as the fully integrated waste management platform
means we can fake advantage of cross-selling services from our I&C custcmer base.

The business experienced similar challenges to those faced by the Collections division in FY23, but these were sufficiently mitigated to
ensure performance was not significantly impacted

Company Shop Group

The business saw a significant turnaround in FY23, moving from being loss-making to profit-making. The encouraging progress seen in
the final quarter of FY22, achieved through strategic changes, continued into FY23 as membership, footfall and gross margins
maintained their positive trajectory. Performance is expected to improve further in FY24 due to a full year of higher sales and margins.

Stakeholder engagement and sustainability

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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we have continued to focus on our purpese “to change the way people think about waste”. Sustainability is at the heart of our business.
we're committed to doing the right things 1o protect our planet, which includes minimising our carbon footprint whilst delivering the most
environmental, socici and financial value from the resources we collect. we are glsa proud fo give something back to the communities we
serve and in doing so create value for all our stakeholders.

We care about our custormers and their needs. Every day we provide essentigl services 1o o wide range of customers across the LK from
large corporates to thousands of local businesses and local authorities. We focus on delivering excellent services consistently, as
promised, every time. Our sustainable approach, responsiveness to customer needs and delivery makes us the first choice for customers.

Qur suppiiers play an important role in helping our business deliver for our customers. We form strong, sustainable and trusted
partnerships and look to secure excellent value for money, whilst minimising risk in our supply chain.

The health, safety and wellbeing of our colleagues and our communities continues to be of paramocunt importance. During the year, we
have continued to actively suppart the communities in which we operate through various community projects, including our proud
partnership with the charity, wasteAid. wasieAid is an independent UK charity, set up by waste management professionals to share
practical and low-cost waste management knowledge with communities in developing countries. We suppert them through our
sponsorship, employee fundraising and with thelr projects in the Gambia, Kenya and Cameroon.

Employee engogement
Qur employee engagement score has increased 4% during the year, and we are now 7% above the UK average.

we want our people to be engaged in their work and with their workplace. Research shows that organisations with high levels of
employee engogement are more efficient and effective and that highly engoged empioyees care about the future of their organisation
and are motivated to help it achieve its objectives. We have doubled engagement over the past 10 years and our ambition s fo be in the
top 25% of alt companies in the UK, which we are now only 4 percentage points away from achieving.

We have o team of just under 11,000 tolented and diverse colleagues who support Biffa’s purpose of changing the way people think
about waste. we pride curselves on having an open and honest relationship with our workforce, empowering them to have their say,
whilst ensuring they remain supported. We engage with each other respectfully, encourage sach other and help moke Biffa a fair,
inclusive and fun place to work.

we also continue to maintain two-way engagement with our workforce, ensuring that they are kept up 1o date with the latest business
developments and answering their questions, Qur channels include regular all-employee video calls with our Group Executive Team, CEQ
vlogs, conferences and news updates via our intranet and employee app, Biffa Beat. Biffa Beat helps us to communicate and engage
with our frontline workforce, enobling them to openly ask questions and voice their opinions at the fouch of a button. This is further
supported by the Biffa Involvement Group, a forum of over 100 employees that meet reguiarly to share ideas and feedback with both
each other and the Group Executive Team.

Health and safety

Over the year, through dedicated focus on risk reduction, we reduced our LTI rate from 0.39 injuries per 100,000 hours worked to 0.32. We
also reduced the overall proportion of all injures that resuited in any lost time from 12,35% to 9.95%. Disappointingly, our RIDDOR rate
rose slightly over the 12m period cdue largely to our I&C business. We are maintaining our approach to increasing the effectiveness of our
risk management processes with a specific focus on reducing road risk by improving our systems, technology and driver copabilities. We
are also investing in EcoOnline, a best class H&S management platform to help us improve our incident management procedures, and in
the TopSet investigation methodology to improve our ability to learn from incidents.

Cther matters contained within the Strategic Report

The Section 172 statement, Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures {TCFD'), Principal risks and uncertainties and Non-
Financial Informaticn Statement below form part of the Straregic Report.

On behalf of the Board.

«—

Michael Topham

Direcror

Biffa Limited

Registered in Englond and wales No. 10336040
11 September 2023
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Section 172 statement

The Directors had regard to their duty under Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 ('5172') to promate the long-term success of Biffa
Limited (the ‘Company’) for the benefit of its members during the year. In doing so, the Directors have considerad rthe marrers outlined
beloyy.

The likely consequences of any decisions in the long term / The need to act fairly between members of the Company

Qur business model focuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect. See pages 3 and 4 for more details. 5172
factors were considered in the Board's discussions on strategy, including how they underpin the Company's long-term success and the
need to act fairly between members.

The interests of the Company’s employees

The Directors engage directly with our employees, both through their day-to-day activities ang via site visits, conferences, dinners and
other events. The Direcrors and Group Executive Team host regular ali-employee calls, giving employees the opportunity fo provide
feedback and ask questions. All Directors also have access to our employee app, Biffa Beat, giving them the ability to view employee
feedback on announcerments and other communications. In addition, the annual employee engagement survey provides valuable insight
o the Directors across @ range of key employee matters, including safety, wellbeing, reward & recognition and diversity & inclusion. See
page 10 for more detalls.

The need to foster the Company’s business relctionships with suppliers, customers and others

To be able to fulfil their 5172 duty when making decisions, it is essential that the Directors understand what matters to the Company’s
stakeholders, Much of the stakeholder engagement at Biffa is carried out at a business level. The Board has received updates on
stakeholder engagement during the year. See page 10 for more details.

The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment

Sustamability is at the heart of our business. We're committed to changing the way people think about waste and doing the right things
to protect our pianet, which includes minimising our carbon footprint whilst delivering the most environmental, social and financial value
from the resources we collect. We are also proud to give something back to the communities we serve and in doing so create value for all
our stakehclders. See pages 12 to 20 for more details.

The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct
we are committed to maintaining our reputation for high standards across all areas of our business. More detail is provided as follows:

. Stakeholder engagement - page 10

. Employee engagement - page 10

. Health and safety - page 10

. Environment and sustainability - pages 12 to 20

. Nen-Financial Information Statement - pages 28 to 29

Example of principal decision of the Boord

During the year, the Board considered and approved the acquisition of the whole of the ordinary share capital of the Company by funds
manraged and/or advised by Energy Capital Partners LLC {'ECP"), implemented by way of scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the
Companies Act 2006 (the “Transoction’).

In considering the Transaction, the Board sought the views of certain of the Company’s largest shoreholders and consistently considered
the potential impact of the Transaction on the Company’s wider (nen-shareholder) stakehelders. This included looking for reassurance to
ECP on a number of matters as follows:

»  ECP having a strong frack record of employee stewardship with the evaluation of the Transaction not being predicated on headcount
reductions or cost cutting initiatives and that ali existing employee rights would be safeguarded,

. ECP supporting the Company’s sustainability strategy, with Biffa’s leadership in this area being a major reason faor their interest in the
Transaction; and

. ECP's support for continued focus by the Company on ts customers and communities,
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

In 2022 we made a mandatory disclosure in line with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. This year, due to
being delisted, this is no longer a mandated requirement however we have chosen to make a voluntary disclosure
consistent, albeit not fully compliant, with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. Using this framework enables
us to explain our process for responding to climate-related opportunities and risks to our key stakeholder groups
in g purposeful and comparable context.

Governance

Board

For the maijority of the year the Biffa Limited Board were responsible for the delivery of sustainable value to aur key stakeholder groups
and provided oversight of our strategic cormmitments, which are aligned with our sustainability strategy. Following the acquisition by
ECP, the Biffa Topco Limited (formerly Bears Topeo Limited) Board are responsible for the whole business, which includes sustainability.
This ensures climate-related risks and opportunities are considered in all aspects of the business including copital expenditure,
acquisitions, and performance objectives.

Executive Sustainability Committee

During the reparting year the Executive Sustainability Committee managed the Company's sustainability strategy while senior
management are responsible for the day-to-day implementation, monitering and management of our sustainability performance
including climate-related risks and opportunities. During the year the Executive Sustainability Committee met fwice. At the end of the
financial year the Executive Sustainability Committee was disbanded and sustainability has become a standing item on the Group
Executive meeting agenda at least 3 times per year. This ensures climate-related risks and opportunities are integrated in decision
making across our business.

During the year the Executive Sustainability Cormmittee received updates on UK legislation including the Environment Act and Resources
and Waste Strategy, the Group's Alternative Fuels Strategy. the Group's sustainabiity ratings and accreditations, the Group's social value
strategy and progress against the Group's sustainability strategy. The Executive Sustainability Commirtee also approved the Group's
Scope 3 emissions target which has now been submitted for validation by the Science-based Target Initiative (SBTH). Similar updates will
be provided ar least 3 times @ year at the Executive meetings during the next financial year.

Environment and Sustainability Team

During the reporting year the Group’s Environment and Sustainability team reported to the Corporate Affairs Director however the ream
now report 1o the General Counsel and Company Secretary following changes to the Group Executive Team in FY24, The team provide
reqular updates including o the Group Executive Team and work closely with management feams and employees across the business fo:

. Identify and report any emerging climate-related risks and opportunities fo the Group Executive Team.

- Drive awareness of our sustainability targets across the business and ensure that where relevant, sustainability targets are
incorporated into our divisional balanced business plans.

. Evolve and refine the sustainability strategy and associated fargets, ensuring it keeps pace with Biffa’s overall ambitions. market
developments and the larest Science-based Targets.

. Ensure performance monitoring and reporting is completed and rigorously audited through both internal audit and external
verification to ensure accurate information is communicated to stakeholders.

- Escalate any issues that may impact the delivery of the sustainability strategy fo the Group Executive Team.

. Participate in industry working groups, olong with other experts, and monitor best proctice.

- Ensure the Company position is reflected in developing Government policy through tfransparent and pro-active interaction with our
regulators and policy makers,

Audit Committee

The role of the Committee 1s to assist the Board i “ulfilling its oversight responsibilities oy monitoring ard reviewing the integrity of the
Group's fingncial reporting and the effectiveness of the Inter~al and External Audit functions and risk management framework and
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

systemn of internal control.

During the year the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s principal risks and emerging risks which includes climate charge. The
review of the principal risks considers the likelihood of the risks materialising and the pofential iImpact, In terms of both the inherent risks,
before any mitigating actions, and the residual risks, after considering miuhgating actions and controls. The emerging risks reviewed by
management and the Committee include risks relating to physical ang transitional climare change.

Following the acquisition by ECP, the Audit Committee for Biffa Limited was disbanded and responsibilities were transferred to the Audit
Committee of Biffa Topco Limited.

Strategy

As o leader in UK sustainable waste management, we play a critical role in climafte action; enabling the UK circular economy and
allowing customers and society to reduce thelr emissions by moving waste further up the waste hierarchy. Our business strategy ‘Reduce,
Recycle, Recover and Collect’ guides the services we offer, our operations, our supply chain managemeant and our investment in research
and development.

These four areas of our sustainable business model reflect the outcomes and value creation delivered by our operationdl capabilities and
our capital allocation:

. Reduce: To pioneer and operate the UK's leading waste reduction and redistribution services.

+  Recycle: To develop and operate the UK's leading recycling solutions.

- Recover: To invest in Energy Recovery Facilities infrastructure as a lower carbon alternative to landfill for our customers’ waste that
car't be recycled.

s Collect: To build the UK's largest, most efficient, low carbon waste and recycling collections operation.

To further clign our funding strategy with our sustainability strategy and the climate-related risks and opportunities identified, we have
established a Sustainability-Linked Finance Framework which was published in December 2020

Our sustainability strategy, Resourceful, Responsible, was published in March 2020 and identifies 20 clearly defined rargets which
mitigate agoinst climate-related risks and capitalise on climatre-related opportunities, These targets include Scope 1 and 2 emissions
reduction, alternative fuelled vehicles, increased collection route efficiencies and the purchasing of renewable energy.

Progress against the strategy is reviewed annually and will take on board any changes in regulations, societal demand, technology
availability and the development of climate science. Where required the strategy will be adapted fo reflect these changes.

Scenario analysis

We use scenario analysis 1o ensure our business model and sustainability strategy remain resilient to a range of potential future climare
scenarios to 2030 and beyond. This year we have evaluated against three scenarios. Expanding our scenario selection enables us fo
explore the key transitional and physical risks and opportunities thar Biffa may be exposed ta:

+  The 'sustainable’ scenario - enables us to ossess the opportunities and risks arising from a successful decarbonisation, aligned with
the Paris Agreement and its goal is to limit global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius, compared te pre-industrial levels.

+  The 'middle of the road’ scenario - encbles us to assess the opportunities and risks arising from what could currently be regarded as
the maost likely climarte trajectory with a global temperature increase of between 2 and 3°C.

»  The ‘hot house’ scenario - enabies us 1o 0ssess the risks where the Paris Agreement is not met and for globai average temperatures
rising to above 4°C by the end of the century. Under this scenario we face the acute risk of severe weather events and chronic
impacts of temperature and precipitation changes.

The scenarios used were informed by the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Representative Concentration Pathways! and UK
Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (UK 55Ps)2 Data from the UK Met Office, that aligned with the global average temperature rising to
above 4°C by the end of the century was used in the ‘'het house’ scenario so we could consider the UK- specific physical impacts of
climate change, as this is most applicable to our UK operations.

In 2022 we carried out g materiality assessment, asking our key stakeholders whether they saw the material topics as risks or
oppartunities for Biffa 1o ensure we had ¢ balanced view. The Executive Sustainability Committee consider that the material risks and
opportunities outlined in the 2022 marericlity assessment are still reflective of the current business. See page 4 of cur Sustainability
Report 2022 for more information on outcomes of the assessment. www.biffa.co.uk /sustainability.

Footnotes

1 Tae Intergovernmentat Papel or Climare Change Representative Cancentr ghon Pothways were Lsed in our scenanos as they allow ohysical chmare impocts 1o be considered
such as termperoture, flocding and extreme weather, ocross diffesng Jverage tempe ature rises resulting from vanying radiative forces

2. Socipeconomic Pathways (SSPy) describe g set of glternative plausible trajectorias of societch development, which are based on hypotheses apout which societal elements are
the maost impartant deteramnants of shallenges ro cimaTe change minganon and soaptahon Spat al exphict Projections of TrvirenmEntol Drivers tSPFED) have workad witn
partners 10 develop DK versions of the SSPs through a participarory process mvolving stokeholder workshops, ‘nkary ews and auestionraires ta spatially, remperally and
sectorolly extend glopal and Euaropsar vers ons of the S5Py.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

L Low M Medium

H High

Summary of our most material climate-related risks and opportunities ~ Scenario 1 (‘sustainabie”

Opportunities

Risks

Potential finencial impact

TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Resource More efficient Reduced and avoided Wwe have an ambitious carbon reduchon
efficiency rechnology operahing costs for farget and in order to meet this we have o
facilities and collections strong focus on energy efficiency across
fleet M H L aur operations and fleer and we believe
technology advencement would enable us
to decelerate this under the sustainable
world.
Products,” Increased Increased revenue due We are committed 1o optimising our
services / demand for to the confinued processes and using our expert Knowledge
markers | development andg to deliver low carbon services/products.
ow carbon . H H H
) reduced operating costs. Wwe confinue to monitor customer demands
services and and markets changes so we remain
materials competitive.
Additionol Incregsed revenue from we understand the importance of green
rechnology continued development technology and our ambition is fo unlock
of additional services. H H H £1.25bn of iInvestment in green economy
infrastructure by 2030, which includes but
isn’t limited to investments in plastics
recycling.
Resllience Collaborative Increased market value we engage collaberatively with our key
relationships and revenue due 10 L M L stakeholder groups to help find solutions to
reputational benefits. the most difficult climate challenges.
Mergers and Reduced operating cosfs M&A enables us to continue to gain
acquisitions due to efficiency gains H ™ H operating efficiencies and new capabilities,
and increased revenue. helping us to achieve cur ambitious
sustainability targets.
Potential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium Long
catregory Sub-topic 1-5yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Policy and Ermissions Increased operating We continue to review our progress against
legal legislation costs in order to our emissions fargets and ensure our
maintain emissions L M M targets aligned fo the latest climate
compliance and compily science.
with low emission zones.
Renewable Impact on revenue due The cessation of the renewable obligation
energy fo changes in initiatives schemes for landfill gas which we currently
leqislati available. receive for our landfill gas operations has
gislarion L H L been bullt info our five-year business pl
een bu o our five-year business plans,
Other sources of renewable energy such as
solar would aflow us to utilise the grid
connections across our landfill portfolio,
Wasre Impact on revenue and We engage productively and transparently
legislation operating costs due to with regulators and policy makers 10 ensure
change in service that we have foresight of upcoming
demand L L L legislation, allowing us 1o make the
and materials. necessary adapfations. A higher demand
for recycled materials presents a great
opporfunity for Biffa.
LOW emIssion Costs To transition 1o low Collaborating with our supplier on
technology carbor technology M M L technology advances enables efficiency

gains in the use of resources and
operctional processes.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

Summary of our most material climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 2 (‘middle of the road”)

Opporturities

Risks

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Resource More efficient Reduced and avoided We have a strong focus on energy
efficiency technology operafing costs for efficiency across our operations and fleet,
facilines and L L L Improving our energy efficiency across our
callections fleet. operations and fleet is essential for us fo
meeT our ambitious carbon reduction
commitments.
Products/ Increased Increased revenue Our sustamnability ambitions will be
services / demand for due o the confinued delivered by opfimising our processes and
markets low carbon development cr_\d H H H combining these wtﬂ.‘| our actions to help
" reduced cperating customers move their waste further up the
FROACES an Losl, waste hierarchy, helping 1o reduce the
materials carben footprint of the services we offer.
Additicnal Increased revenue Our ambition s to uniock £1.25bn of
technology from continued H H H investment i_n green econemy mfmsrrucrure
development of By 2030, which includes but isn't limited to
additional services. investments in plastics recycling.
Resilience Collaborative Incregsed market we engage collaboratively with our key
relationships value and revenue stakeholder groups fo help find solutions to
due to reputational L M M the most difficult climate challenges and
benefits. help our customers meeft their own
sustainability targets.
Mergers and Reduced operafing we continue to develop our capabilities
acquisitions costs due 1o efficiency through M&A, which will enable us to
gains and increased M M M continue to gain operating efficiencies and
revenue. new capabilities, helping us to achieve our
ambitious sustainability targets.
Potential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Policy and Emissions Increasect cperating We are making significant progress
legal legislation COSTS in orcler 10 towards our commitment of o 50%
maintain @missions reduction in our emissions by 2030. we
compliance and L L L have also set a targer for Net Zero by no
comply with low later than 2050. Achieving our targets will
emission zones, reduce our expose 1o emission related
cosfts.
Renewable Impact on revenue The cessation of the renewable obligation
energy due fo changes in schernes for landfill gas which we currently
legislation initiatives available. receive for our londfill gas operations has
L H L been built into our five-year business plans,
we are exploring other sources of
renewable energy that will allow us to utilise
our large land holding and grid
infrastructure.
Waste Impact on revenue we engage productively and fransparently
legislation ond operating cosTs with regulators and policy makers o ensure
due fo change in that we have feresight of upcoming
service demand L L L legislation, allowing us to make the
and materals. necessary adaptations. A higher demand
for recycled materals presents a grear
oppertunity for Biffa.
Low emission Costs to transition to Collaborating with our supplier on
rechnology low carbon M M M technology advances enakles efficiency
technology gains in the use of resources and

opergtional processes,
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

Summary of our most material climate-related risks - Scenario 3 (‘hot house”)

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  5-10 yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Acute physical Damage 1o Increased costs due Understanding the exposure of our
impacfs property/site ro physicad damage. cperations to the risk from extreme
(incregse in infrastructure . weather events, including flooding, ailows
severity of from extrame Increqsed Insurance us ta identify business-critical locations
extreme weather ferjumc‘:;"fn::ince ™ H H which can then be gssessed for climate
weather} and events . o change adaption investment. New facilities
chronic OVG,”UD'I'W for *high incorperate climate change and flooding
physical risk’ areas. measures Into their planning phases and
impacrs {Jong- development,
term climaote -
@ shifrs) Increased Increased capital whilst the frequency and extent of extreme
- heaith and costs as a result of weather is hard to praedict, we continue to
= safety risk fire damage to monitor changing weather patterns on a
buildings /vehicles. i ‘
short-term basis and fake action to
Indirect costs due mitigate any negative effecrs.
fo impacts on
health and
wellbeing. L L L
Increase in

cperational costs
for heating, cooling
and change in
operating practices
due to shifting
remperatures.

The Risks and Opportunities Identified

Biffa views potential climare-related risks and opportunities under tfwo main categories:

. Tronsition risk: changes as a resuit of legislation, customer expectations and new techriologies.
. Physical climate: physical climate impacts and how this impacts our facllities and operations.

Under both decarbonisation scenarios used in our analysis, the risks we face are intrinsically linked to changes in policy and legislation,
technological advancements and innovation that support a low carbon, energy efficient economy. Risks that relate to transport and
emissions, impact most sectors, while other risks are waste sector specific. Mitigotion measures incluge support of our sulject-motter
experts and the monitoring of future changes and our current business model shows our consideration of a deeply decarbonised

pathway.

To achieve decarbonisation the circular economy is needed to decouple economic growth from the use of natural resources, This
presents significant opportunities for Biffa including changes in resource efficiency along with increased demand for recycling services
and low carbon materials. These opportunities are enbanced by England’s Resources and Waste Strategy, which supports the circular
economy and green consurmerism. Our business strategy positions us in key role to support our customers during this transformation.

If giobal climarte mitigation is unsuccessful and the ‘hot house’ scenario becomes a reality, we understand that the world will face
changes in market conditions, but the size and nature of these changes are highly uncertain. Therefore, the focus of this scenario is the
physical climate impact on our business and workforce. The physical impacts are primarily reloted to severe weather events. These could
pose a risk to our workforce and facilities in the long ferm and require us to introduce additional safety measures and training. We
believe the best mitigation against the risks from this scenario is to support the goals of the Paris Agreerment and make a posifive
contribution to climate action ourselves and through our value chain.

Under the decarbonisation pathways, due to the ameunt of carben already in the atmosphere and unknown carbon feedback loops,
some increase in extreme weather events and long-term changes in temperature and rainfcll patterns is expected. These will impact our
business, but to a lesser magnitude than if a decarbonisation pathway 1sn't achieved, Our business continuity planning is informed by
both past and simulated events and ensures that we remain resilient to any disruption caused by exfreme weather events. Business
critical operations that are at a higher risk will be assessed for adaptation if required.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

Risk Management
we use our well-established risk mandgement framework to review our climate-related risks and opportunifies.

Risk governance

The Biffa Topco Limited Beard ensures the Group’s internal confrel systems and risk management framework are effective with the Audit
Committee having specific delegated authority o review the effectiveness of the risk management and internai control processes during
the year.

The Group Executive Team is responsible for the day-to-day risk management and confrol. This ensures that management provides
tleadership and direction ro employees so that our overall risk-taking activity is kept within our risk appetite.

Biffa operates the Three Lines of Defence’ model to manage the ongoing effectiveness of risk and control, o define the relatienship
between the various management and oversight functions, and to demonstrate how responsibilities are allocated. The Internal Audit
function assesses our risks and controls independently and objectively

Risk appetite

The Biffa Topco Limited Board sets our overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures risk 1s managed appropriately across the
Group. Health & Safety, legal, requiatory and environmental risks (including climate-related risks) are our major focus. Biffo dedicates
significant resources to managing and monitoring these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside. In each cose,
controls and mitigating actions afigned to the risk appetite are put in place.

Risk assessment

A risk assessment maotrix is used to ensure that risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the kelihood of the risk
materiolising and 115 potential Impaoct, We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. We diso identify any additioncl activities that could be undertaken to further mitigate the
risk.

For more information an our Risk Management Process please see the ‘Principle risks and uncertainties’ section.
Emerging risks

in addition to known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks and the need for mitigation as part of our existing risk management
processes. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team and the Audit Committee, and include risks relating to climate
change such as alternative fuels, flocding, and infectious diseases.

Risk Management Processes

The Group’s risk management process is centrally coordinated. It utilises a nisk management tool and considers the existing business
model and future strategy. Within this tool, climate-related risks hove a separate section, but these risks cre also included within the
operational risk profile for each area of the business where refevant. An established network of ‘Risk Champions’ is in place to facilitate
updates during the year. The Risk Champions are members of the senior management team and take o lead role in engaging local
management to identify and regularly update risk information.

The Group Executive Team are updated regularly on the principal and emerging risks and ownership of each of these risks is assigned fo
individual members of the Team.

The Audit Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal and emerging risks, as identified and assessed by management
through the above process. The Audit Committee also reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit function, which
operates ¢ risk-based annual plon of assurance reviews.

Our risk management systems are intended to mitigate and reduce risk to the lowest extent possible, however, we cannot eliminate all
risks to the Group. The risk management processes can only pravide reasenable ard not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Metrics and Targets

We zssess our effectiveness of inregrating chmate-related risks and opportunimes into our business through the use of a series of business
relevant cimate change indicators.

Our fargets are:

- Reduce our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions by 30% by 2030 from a 2019 boselire (746,925 CO2e) and achieve Net Zero*® by no foter
than 2050. During FY24 we hope to receive validation from the SBTI for our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions targets,

- Introduce 10% non-fossil-fuelled coliection vehicles by 2025,

. Increase collection route efficiency by 10% by 2025.

- Purchase 100% renewable energy by 2025.

“Net zerc rerats "o 3cheving 2 balonce between the amount 3f greenbouse ga, amissens o sduced and the amount remuved from the grmosphers

Metric 2023 2022 2021
Tetal Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Location-based) (I1CQ-e)* 524,367 337,950 533,187
% reduction in Scope 1 and 2 emissions since 2019 29.80 2798 28,62
Scope 3 (1COe)” 566,065 622,170 n/a
% of alternative fuelled collection vehicles 333 L3G <1
Collection route efficiency (lifts per krm) Q.50 049 0.42
% increase in collection route efficiency from 2019 4.17 208 -1250
% renewable energy purchased™ 100 100 51

* Limered assurance prov.ded by Burenu Veritas. The ingependent gssurance stgtement san be siewec 3t nifps */www. bitfa co Uk, sustoingbidimy *reports-and- performarce
“* FY22 amounts have been -ezalzulated 1o clude the impacr of rthe Vi r ocaLisimon Juring the oror period
“*t Amoynts have been restated o reflect the percentage af “enewable energy purchased For sites where 3iffa controls the energy supply agreement

Comments on the data

L During FY23 we adopled a tew methodalogy tor zalculeted emissions associated with Scope 3 Category 1 (purcnasea gonds ono services) and Cotegory 5 wasle generoted
opergtions). This new methodology ineans we are using quanh vy Sala for “hird-party waste ‘reotment /disposal where possible rather har the spend-pased methoaology

2 Juring FY21 we noven our main oor-folio where we are responsible tor the energy supplier onto a repewable rar ff

3 Collect:on route efficiency was sigmficantly mpacted oy Covie-19 FY22 has been another cnallenging veor with Covid-13 impacning rke s*art of the year and ariver shortages,

however sosifive progress Nas been mane tawards our 2025/30 rarget

To lead in UK sustaincble waste management it is critical that we reduce our own carbon emissions and continue to develop our ability 1o
offer low carbon services to our customers. Our emissions reduction target is built into the Group Balanced Business Plan (BBP). This
influences our divisional BBPs which in turn determines senior leaders’ remuneration policy. where relevant, other targets outlined in our
sustainability strategy are incorporated into our divisional BBPs.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

we have seen a reduction in our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions of almest 30% compared to our 2019 baseline!. When taking into account
our purchasing of renewable energy?, this reduction is 31%.

This has been aclueved Ihrough the continued improvement of our landfill gas capture and efficiency gains within our operations, including
the removal of 56 diesel RCVs to dare as o result of our ccquisitions since the launch of our sustainability strategy, equating to a saving of
1,600 tCOZe per year,

In FY20 we transitioned our portfolio to a new energy management system fo aid more granuiar data analysis. Following
recommendations from our annual SECR oudits, carried out by an independent auditor, we have completed a series of actions, including a
Non-Half Hourly (NHH) meter replacement exercise and creatian of an independent site Jist, to allow us to have greater understanding of
our electricity usage and quickly identify problems. During FY23 we have begun work on business area intensity metrics, helping us 1o
normalise electricity usage as the business continues to grow.

During the yenr we have implemented a Computcer Aided Macililies Management System which has allowed for the development of
regicnal networks, reducing the mileage travelled for reactive maintenance, We also operate a rofling upgrade programme of energy
efficiency improvements across our sites. In FY23 we have fited 7 sites with external lighting fimeclocks and installed LEDs across 18 sites.
A Building Management System has been installed at our Head Office to control the Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC)
systemn effectively. It is estimated that these improvements will save c.751C02e per year.

Building on the successful roll our of energy and utility audits in our Municipal business in FY22, during FY23 our Resources and Energy
division have underfoken energy and utility audits to identify potential areas for energy efficiency improvements to be mode. By
identifying our sites individual energy usage, we can take more effective measures to reduce the energy consumption. The plan for FY24 is
to roll out a similar audit across our [&C estate.

As a result of our positive progress to date, we are weil on course to achieve our sustainability strategy targets to reduce corbon emissions
by 50% by 2030.

UK Greenhouse gas ("\GHG') Emissions and Energy Use Data

Emissions from: (in tennes CO2Ze*) 2023 2022 2021
Scope 1** 496,959 507,630 506,228
Scope 2 (Market-based)** 15 641 16,079 20,355
Scope 2 (Location-based): Electricity, hear, steam and cooling** 27,408 30,320 26,959
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Market-based)*” 512,600 523709 526,583
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Locdtion-based)** 524,367 537,950 533,187
Scope 1 and 2 (Market-based) intensity ratio - tCO:e per £m revenue 304 363 505
Scope 1 and 2 (Location-based) intensity ratio - 1CO: per £m revenue 211 373 512
Scope 1 and 2 (Market-based) intensity ratio - tCCxe per empicyee 47.40 5375 6392
Scope 1 and 2 (Location-based) infensity ratio - tCG-e per employee 48.55 55.21 64.72
Tatal Scope 3 666,065 622,170 n/a

* Carbon dioxide =quivalent /C0.2) 15 a standard unit in carban accounting to guantify greennouse gos ermissions, eMissions reductions and zarbon —redits.
Limited assurance proviced by 3ureau Vertas. The independent assurance staterrent zan oe viewed at https'/ Swww biffa co uk /sustainability/~eports-and-performance
“** FY22 amounts have been “ecalculoted fo include the impact of the Virder acguismon ounng the nrisr period

Cemments on the data

1 Biffa callects and -eports environmental data in accordance with the guidelines of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol The CO2e emissions were calculoted using rhe BEIS 2022
pmissinr factors, We hove “ollowed the CHIG Protocaed SLope 2 Suidance requiring dual reporting using Two ermission factors for each sne - Marker-bosed and Location-bosed
Prigr 1o FY21 *ng Lacaron-based method nas been used as o proxy for *he Market-based method.

2 Scope | encompasses direct GHG emussions from energy generated from fossil fuels used writin our oparahions such as a-esel, gas and oif It also includes our lanafil gas
emissiors Scope 2 encompasses ndirect GHG emissions ‘rom the on-site generation and purchase of efectricity using marke*-bosed emissions data Scope 3 encompasses
ndirect GHG emissions 1in Bitfg's value cham (upstreom and downstraam)

3 The data reported 15 based on our aperational zortrol Reported =russions are witun the JK only No direct operations are zarried out of¥shore Qur investments in joint
ventures and assocates are ncluden within Cutegory 15 of our Scope 3 emissions as they fall outside sur aperar-onal control Detalls of these investments can be ‘ound ¢ Note
28 to *he corsoldated financicl statements

4 Scope 3 amiss.ons includes purchased goods and ser /ices, zoo:tal goods, fuel ana energy related activitizs, downstream ransporration of sold products, waste generated 10
operanons, business avel, emrployes commuting, anc-of-l+a freatment tor progucts sold by C8G, leased ossets and nvestrnents Dunag the yeosr we aove ceveloped ar
updared methodology ang S¥22 s cur baseline for Scope 3 2messmits os 1 s not passible to colculate the prior years using the updn®ed methodaology

3 We bove extended *he boundary of our Szope 1, 2 and 3 emuasions to ncluce acquired companies. The erissions associnted with the acgured compares hove 107 exceeded
aur emissions recalculation *hreshold
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

Energy Consumption within the UK

Climate Change/GHG emissions table (kwh) 2023 2022 2021
Methane emissions (utilised) 390,479 389,925 422,215
Diesel fuel used 554,071,615 457,705,737 342,316,629
Red diesel used 3,674,083 77179734 71,590,025
Unleaded petrol used 1,236,825 643,513 194,097
Kerosene used 2,501,887 87499 87542
LPG* 3,215,745 3,073,594 3,080,661
Natural gas 9,626,811 9,389,522 3,229,118
HVO 4,393,127 1,670,603 -
Purchased electricity 108,628,860 108,025,000 81,480,688
Self-supplied electricity 33,101,886 34,769,481 34,155,151
Total 720,841,318 692,934,607 542,558,126

° LPG has been restated 1o include sites russing from disclosures i the prior period. All other disclosures in this rable are unaffected

Comments on the data

. To calcuiate the obove consumption figures, we used methedology based on the Streamlined Energy Carben Reporting {'SECR') complionce scheme

2. The increase in kwh gttributed to Diesel fuel used is due to an increase In fleet size following ocquisition combined with ‘red diesel’ usage being replaced by white diesel. The

growth ot the business through ocquisitions has lead to an overall mcrease in Total kwh used by the Group,

SECR data is audited by Carbon Decoded
ESOS phose 3 audit due by December 2023,

Goh e

Energy Generation

The data reported is energy used wathin the UK anly. Mo energy is used offshore All Biffa’s operations are UK-based.

2023 2022 2021
Genergfion (GwWh} 349 383 396
Carbon benefit (k tonnes COze) &8 81 92
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties

The 8iffa Topco Limited Board has overall responsibility for risk management at Biffa. In support of this, risk management is firmly
embedded within our everyday business activities and our culture

Governance

The Biffa Topco Limited Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that the Group's risk management and infernal control systems are
effective. The Audit Committee supports the Biffa Topco Limited Board in the management of risk and has been delegated with quthority
to review the effectiveness of the risk management and interncl control processes during the year

Day-to-day risk management and control is the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer supported by the Group Executive Team who
ensure that management provides lecdership and direction to our workforce so that our averall risk-taking activity is kept within our risk
appetite.

Risk Management Framework
Biffa operates the ‘Three Lines Model’ to manage the ongeing effectiveness of risk and control, to define the relationship between the
varicus management and oversight funclivns, und o demonsirale how responsibilities are allocated.

The Internal Audit function assesses our risks and controls independently and objectively On a quarterly basis, management self-certify
that the key controls within their area of responsibility have been operating effectively. The Internal Audit function independently validate
these resuits through sample testing.

Risk Appetite

The Board sets cur overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures that we manage risk appropriately across the Group. Health and
safety, investment, legal and regulatory risks are our top priority. Biffa dedicates significant resources and focus to managing and
monitoring these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed clongside this.

Management assess the appetite for risk, which the Board has considerad and agreed. The Group categorises these risks info various
areas, including: interest rate risk; inflation risk; commodity risk; currency risk; disposal risk and energy risk. This assessment includes the
exposures and the associated mitigations. This enables Biffa to have informed decision making in line with its risk appetite, ensures
confidence in the response fo risks, enables transporency over the principal risks faced and how these are managed.

Risk Management Processes

The Group's risk management processes are centrally coordinated via a second line risk management function working with an
established network of ‘Risk Partners’ in ploce fo facilitate updates to risks during the year. The Risk Partners are members of the senior
management feam and fake o lead role in engaging local management to identify, agree and update risk information on a regular basis.

we use a risk assessment matrix fo ensure that all risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
materialising and its potential impact. We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. we also identify any additional activities, such as further actions, that could be undertaken to
further mitigate the risk.

The Group Executive Team engages with the risk management function to review and update principal risks on a cyclical end-to-end
process. Risks are updated individually by Group Executive Team memiksers in conjunction with the risk management function on a regular
basis prior to Group Executive Team meetings. The risks are then assessed and reviewed and then further updated as part of the cycle.
Ownership of ecch of these risks are assigned 1o individual members of the team. They are responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of
the internal control systems and for implementing risk mitigation plkans. The Audit Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal
and emerging risks, and mitigations, as idenfified and evaluated by monagement through the above process. The Audit Commirtee also
reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Interncl Audit function, which operates o risk-based annual plan of assurance reviews.

Our risk management systems are intended to mitigate and reduce risk 1o the lowest extent possible, however we cannot eliminate all risks
to the Group. The risk management processes can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstarement or
loss.

Emerging Risks

In addition to known risks, we have ¢ horizon scanning review process to consider emerging risks. This entails involving key stakeholders,
including members of the Group Executive Team and external third parties, in the identification of emerging risks along ser imelines,
collating the infarmation, reviewing and considering in-depth analysis and then creating a risk radar to illustrate the relative time horizons
and assessments.

This enables us fo engage in a systematic examination of information to identify potential threats, risks, emerging issues and
opportunities. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team, the Biffa Topco Limited Board and the Audit Committee, and
include risks relating to future environmental, social and governance challenges, funding the transition fo a greener environment,
technological changes and the use of alternative fuels,
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk movement

Risk level

0 Increasing @ Stabte

o Decreasing Low

Medium High H

Changes in
Government policy
and legal and
regulatory
compliance

Risk movement and
level

0 High risk level

Risk impact
Reputational
Regulatory
Financial

The Group operates in a highly
reguiated industry and any
changes ¢ Government policy,
requirements with, or failure by our
staff or third parties who we do
business with to comply with lows
ar regulanons ar fo uphold sur high
ethical standards could have an
adverse impact on the Group's
operations and resuits.

The Greup was awarded the
logistics controct for the Deposit
Return Scheme (DRS) in Scotland.
I+ had criginally been planned to
commence In August 2023 buf this
has been cancelled. Management
remdain opfimistic that Biffa can
secura equivalent DRS contracts ar
alater dare.

A key industry area of risk is
landfill tax compliance, in
particular the misclassification of
waste cousing the Incorrect rate of
landfilt tax to be paid. Historically,
the Group has made g number of
material payments to HMRC due
to what HMRC perceive 1o be non-
compliance with landfill fax
guidance.

The current landfill tax enguiry to
arise poses a significant finangial
risk to the business, given the scale
of the protecrive assessments
issued by HMRC.

There remains a high level of
uncertainty around the final
ouftcome of this enquiry.

Experienced and qualified tearns.
supported by externatl advisers
where necessary, that monitor
changes and plan appropriate
mitigations dand set policies and
procedures.

Representation on the
Environmental Services
Association and other externcl
bodies; licison with policy-makers
and Regulatars at naticnal and
local levels; responses to
Government /reguiatory
consultations and sustainability
reporting.

Enviranmental compliance strategy
in place including annudally
reviewed targets and actions ar
lecal, divisional and Group levels.

Established compliance policy and
procedures are in place to manage
other regulatory compliance risks,
such as londfill tax. bricery. data
protection, medern slavery,
competition and vehicle operating
licences.

Ingustry leader in raising
awareness of modern stavery risk
and founding member of the
Slavery Free Allance.

Training for staff on o range of
compliance topics inciuding fandfili
tax procedures, modern slavery,
anti-bribery, dara profection and
compeftition.

The Group has mitigations in place
to recover some of the committed
expenditure incurred on DRS. An
insurarce policy is also in place to
reimburse the Group for some of
the costs not recovered through
the mitigating actions above.

Wwe are working closely with stakehalders
to maointain our presence in the DRS
scheme structure and have refained legat
advisors 1o supporT.

we continue to fully co-cperate with HMRC
in relation to the ongoing landfill tox
enguiry and are receiving advice from
Ernst & Young.

Strategic/
competitive threat
to business model

Risk movement and
level

®

Risk impact
Reputational
Regulatory
Financial

Medium risk level

Market disruption from the
application of pew technology and
the advent of new business models
could change the waste supply
chain and adversely impact Biffa's
established operating asset base
of a traditional collection network
and processing facilities.

Internail business Innovation
Special Interest Group facuses on
market developments and acts as
an incubgtor for ideas and new
business maodels.

Conhnual competiror onalysis 1o
consider threats and changes to
the landscape.

Annual strafegy review o ensure
that Biffa business model remains
current and competifive.

Ongaing investment in and
improvement of the custormer
expernence through digitisation,
improved processes and
managernent information

The business strategy was updated and
approved by the beard aligned with the
S5YP.

The Innovaticn Special Interest Group
continued with good representation from
the business and covering a large number
of disruptive rapics

Adoption of the My Biffa digital customer
platform has continued alongside the
esfablishment of a dedicared digital team.

A number of external events were attended
and projects with key partners
implemented to extend our innovation
netwark.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Strategic
initiatives

Risk movement and
level

@

Risk impact
Financial
Operational

High risk level

Failure to deliver strategic
nitigtives, such as energy ~ecovery
facilities and business
transformation, acquisition
integraticns, commercial projects
and systermn implementations.
Business transformation s focused
on our praducts and services, how
they are sold ond delivered, the
rechnology used and rhe online
services offered to customers.

The key M&A risks are not being
oble to find and secure suitabie
targets and risks and 1ssues that
arise post completion, that impact
on the investment case.

As with any such projects, there
are risks that the project fails 10
dehver the anticipated
improverments and/or benefits for
the budgeted investment,
adversely impaching reputafion
and operating results.

Board and Group Executive Team
sponsorship and leadership

Selected software is a proven 'off the
shelf” product.

Dedicated programme tecm and
change nefwork n place, with
experienced resources

Post-investment reviews of all
projects.

Praven ERF technology, with
substantial UK and warldwide
reference plants,

Limited recourse project strucrure.

Due diligence undertaken for all M&A
fransactions, including use of
externaf advisers depending on
rarget value and complexity. A
standardised approach using an
established valuation modet 15 in
place with all fransaction

reviewed /approved by the
Investment Committee and (where
appropriate) the Board.

Dedicated corporate finance
expertise in place, who together with
experienced Biffa subject matter
experts dct as senior stakeholders
for the acquisition process and help
drive opportunities through the
pipeline.

The HR and payrell soiuticn has been built
and completed functional testing and will
be ready to implement in the coming
financial year following extensive testing.

The Finance and Procurement Anakysis and
Design phase was compieted and signed
off enabling the build of the solution to
commence and the timeline and budget for
the solution 1o be refined.

The Sales and Service workstream was
maobilised and has now entered an initial
discovery phase.

At the year end date Newhurst remained on
target to reach fult operations in line with
plan. The site became fully operaticnal in
May 2023 and is performing in line with
expeciations.

Protos construction has been impacted by
the availability of steel following the
Russion invasion of Ukraine - mitigation
ang confingency measures employed.

JV Steerco meetings held monthly to review
progress and agree actions.

Compieted 3 ocguisitions in the year; Forge
(I&C, share purchase), DJB (I&C, trade and
assets) and Total Recycling Services
(Industricl Services, share purchase}

Long-term
contracts and
tendering

Risk movement and
level

@ Medium risk level

Risk impact
Financiol
Reputationa!
Cperational

The Group is exposed o risks
inherent in long-term fixed-price
confracts, In parncular inits
Municipal business and Rescurces
& Energy division and related
cperations.

Risks include inaccurate long-term
cost estimates due to changes in
the external operating environment
and market dynamics that lead to
material deviagtions from inital
underlying assumptions

Group Delegated Authorities Policy
for the review /approval of bids by
senior management, Investment
Commuttee and the Board.

Material bids are compiled by
dedicated development teams with
significant expertise and expenence.

Pratection from change of law or
force majeure for unforeseen
circumstances is agreed in contracts,
where possible.

A contract risk framewark is in place
to identify key commercial/legal
risks and confirm through the
governance process that these have
been considered and mitigated.

We are moving gradually the risk profile
with customers {particularly oround lobour)
as and when contracts come up for re-bid
or extension. A more fransparent pass-
through concept 1s starting 1o emerge
although this will cbviously take time to
become fully embedded.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Health & safety Biffa’s operotions present inherent Group H&S Director reports to the
H&S risks to aur employees, our CEQ.
customers and the wider public.
Risk movement and Active and regular engagement by
level Violations of H&S laws/regulations senior management including weekly
<could have o material adverse reporting and calls with the Group
@ effect on Biffa’s business and Executive Team.
Medium risk level fepuration Inclusion of H&S targets and
Risk impact objectives within Group Balanced
Reputational Business Plans with one of the five
Regulatory pillars being ‘Safer Together’,

Embedded paolicies, standards and
orocedures in place across Biffa for
the systemartic control of significant
H&S risks

Primary authority relationship with
Hampshire & Isle of wight Fire ond
Rescue Service enables access 10

advice and counsel on fire risk issues.

Maintained management system
certification of ISC 45001:2018.

Investrent in EcoCnline for incident
rmanagement, audit & inspection, and risk
management.

Company-wide adoption of TOPSET
methodology for incident investigations
generating increasingly useful root cause
anclysis.

Full review of all fire risk assessments for
every property in the Biffa portfolic

Resiructured H&S leadership team with
enhanced assurance and project
management focus.

Introduction of Deep Dive gssurance
reviews looking at key risk (Fire, Machinery
and Pedestrian safety in FY23)

Development of suite of ‘learning from
incidents’ materials including new Group
standard and video ‘lessons’ sharing
learning from key incidents.

New processes for collection paint risk
assessments for I&C to minimise risks to
drivers and cusiomers.

Extensive development programme for H&S
team including IIRSM Risk Management
and NEBOSH Process Safety.

Business A significant disruption to Biffa's Crisis management and emergency
. - infrastructure, including IT respoense plans in place for key sites

COnTIl:Iulfy, CybE!’ systems, could potentialty have an and cperations.

security and IT impact on the activity of the

Server infrastructure supporting key
IT services hosted in Microsoft Azure
Cloud providing resilience, failover

resilience Group's cusf::_mer;. such as
increased billing times,
interruptions to collection

Risk movement and cperations and processing and backup services.
level logistics, and additional costs, 1SO 27001 end Cyber Essentials Plus
@ Additionalty, the theft, lass, certification in place.
High risk level destruction, misappropriation, or Intrusion detection in ploce and a
release of sensitive and/or cloud-bused ‘always on’ security
Risk impact contidential information could sefvice provided by Microsoft
Financiat result in business disruption, data protecting against key cyber threats
Reputaticnal protection breach, negative ’ ) .
Cperational publicity or brand damage. Established dara protection policy

and procedures to ensure
compliance.

Regular IT security update provided 1o the
board.

IT security dashbeard developed and in
place.

A number of IT security training and
interventions delivered.

Some additional security meosures and
features implemented for board and
executive members.

Microsoft Secure score improved by 27%

Transition to more comprehansive Multi
Factor Authentication,

Attraction and The inability fo source ana retain Ongoing review of the recruitment
- appropriately priced and skilled and retention of key workers such as
retention of talent la%%urpto mcymaoin competitive drivers. Y
advantage, could have a material . )
Risk movement and adverse effect on Biffa’s business Benefirs appropriate and
level results, operations, financiat comparable fo market.
condition and prospects. Talent and management
@ developrment programmes deployed

Medium risk tevel ar senior levels and progressively ta

. . other levels gong forward
Risk impact gomnd

Financial
Operational

Foundation Living Wage now minimum pay
level in Biffa (excluding C5G).

Driver atfrition has reduced tc pre-
pandemic ievels, recruitment process
improved utihsing internal recruitrment ream
for drivers.

Job families implemented for staff roles
and pay adjustments made to ensure
comparable to market.

Family friendly benefits improved.

Graduote programme introduced

Advanced Leadership Programme {ALP)
CONTINUSS.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Commodities
market and
pricing volatility

Risk movement and
level

&

Medium risk level

Biffa produces significant volumes
of recycled commedities for resale.
Commodities produced include
various paper grades. card,
plastics and ferronis nnd non-
ferrous metais.

In addirion, Biffa genergres power
from renewable sources and
changes to electricity export prices
impact revenues and profirs
achieved.

Cngoing monitaring and
improvernents to product quality
within recycling procasses

Off-raker strategy to lirut
dependency, where able, on non-
OECD markets.

Commaodity price risk sharing within
long term commercial contracts,

Power price hedging policy in place,
which 1s regularty reviewed

OCC sales in particular moved o QECD
markets with Turkey now a major off-taker.

we have continued our progress with 75%
nf | & contracte nove on commedity risl

share.

Power hedging 1s reviewed monthly by the
Energy Working Group.

PPAs In place for power supply up to end of

Risk impact Fvae
Financial Markets for these recyclate Route to market Power Purchase
Operational products have indvidual supply Agreement with fop tier off-taker
and demand dynamics impacting gives offrake certainty and credir
both price and availablity of off- worthiness.
luke.
Finance If the Group were o not maintain Significant ond flexible bank funding The Company's debt was partially
R . adequate cash balances, the facility with substantial headroom to restructured when ECP’s takeover was
GVGI'CIbIlITY/ Group would be unable to pay endble the Group to progress completed. with regards to flexible
investment suppliers, payroll and other strategic priorities and facilines, the existing £350m RCF held by

Risk movement and
level

S

Risk impact
Financial

Low risk level

credifors in a timely manner or on
agreed terms This could result In
delays or ceasing of operations,
both of which could fead to
reputational darmage and a
deterioration in financiat
performance.

If the Group were to fail 1o comply
with any of the financial or non-
financial covenants in its credit
facilities (due, for example, to
Increasing interest rates and a
deterioration in financial
performance), it could rasuit in a
defaulr and the acceleration of the
Group's obligations to repay those
borrowings, increased borrowing
costs or cancellation of certain
credit facilities.

Underperformance, a large one-off
cash curflow or unfavourabile
interest rate movements would all
increase the risk of a covenant
breach.

accommodate any downside
performance risk. As ot the end of
the year, the Group held o cash
balance of £408m

£225m revalving credit faality ('RCF")
expiring 1n March 2026 held by the
Company’s immediate parent. As at
the end of the year, £102m of the
facility was undrawn. Drawdowns can
be requested and processed at short
notice If the need arises.

In addition to the bank funding
facility, the Group has over £50m of
undrawn asset financing facilities,
although these are uncommitted.

Cngoing monitoring of financial and
non-financial covenants with regular
updates ra the Board

Incorporate cash performance and
funding requirement considerations
into budgeting and forecasting
processes.,

Consider the impact on covenants
when making key strategec decisions
on acquisitions, disposals and capital
expenditure.

Ongoing manitoring of the status of
the HMRC landfill tax enguiry with
regular updates to tha 8iffa Topco
Limited Board

The Group has significant headroom
on the lending covenants and intends
to maintain high ievels of headroom
going forward. This, combined with
the flexipility in the business maodel,
enables the Group to mitigate any
financial risks that materialize.

the Company was replaced with a £225m
RCF heid by its immediate parent. On 23
May 2023 the facility was increased again
to £325m. Refer to Note 23 and Note 34 for
more information on the wider debt
restructure.

[ncreased debt levels and rising interest
rates have reduced the headroom on the
Group's lending covenants, particuiarly
interest cover
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Economic
environment

Risk movement and
level

= High risk level

Risk impact
Financial

Econamic conditions in the UK
may hgve an adverse impact on
the Group's operational and
finaincial performance.

The Group exposure includes

= Politicat, social and
MAcroeconcmIC risks relating fo
the UK's exit frem the EU

* Any economic weakness that
leads to reduced voiumes of waste
and recyclate

= A deterioration in
macroeconomic conditions
resulting 1n increased pricing
pressure and customer turnever
* Rising interest rates resulting in
increased cost of borrowing,
reducing the headroom on the
Graup's lending covenants,
particularly interest cover

* Sypply chain disruption, longer
lead times and price inflation.

The Group has ravenues and costs
that are impacted oy the value of
sterling relative 1o key currencies
such as the US Dollar or the Euro.
This provides some degree of offset
and natural hedge.

To improve short-term earnings
visibility and reduce the susceptibility
of financial performonce to price
fluctuations, the Group enfers into
forward contracts for:

* The sale of electricity
- Short-rerm currency exposures
+ The purchase of fuel

Biffa provides services 1o customers
in the public and private sectors right
across the UK economy. The breadth
of customers offers a degree of
protection against economic
pressures that may affect specific
markets and industries.

The Group has access to a Revolving
Credit Facility with a number of
refationship banks which provides
additional sources of funding. Cash
and liquidity levels are regularly
maoritored to ensure the Group can
meet Its obligations and strategic
objectives.

The Group continues to monitor this risk,
specifically the impact of increasing
interest rates, inflaticnary pressures and
supply chain constraints, and remains
confident that exist'ng mitigations enable
the impoct of any weakening conditions 1o

be minimised
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Non-Financial Information Statement

The Non-Financial Reporting Reguirements set out in the Acr are addressed in the statement below.

Main policies and standards which govern our approach

Environmental information

Environment, sustdinability and carbon policy

Protection of the environment and the climate is a cornerstone of
Biffa's business. It is underpinned by our Vision and Purpose to be
the lecder in UK sustainable waste management and to change the
way pecple think about waste, [t 1s delivered by our sustaingbility
and operational environmental compliance strategies Biffa is .
committed to its complarce obligations as well as promaoting high
standards of environmental, sustainability, carbon and energy
management at all our workplaces, and in all our activities,

* Colleagues
«  Whistleblowing policy

The Group has a long-established whistleblowing policy by which all .
employees may, in confidence, report any concerns that the interests
of the Company or others are at risk.

+« Diversity and inclusion policy

Our Diversity Policy is designed to provide equal opporfunities in .
employment and ro avoid unlawful discrimination.

Biffa will not discriminate directly or indirectly in cur recruitment,
employment and post-employment practices because of age, -
disability, sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy, maternity, race

(which includes colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins),

sexudl orientation, religion or belief, or because someone is married

or in a clvil partnership.

Health, safety and wellbeing policy

. Health, safery and wellbeing is the highest prionty within the .
business and Biffa is committed to monitoring and reviewing
performance on a regular and ongeing basis. Our goal 1s to
keep our people, our customers and the public safe through
effective leadership and risk management, promoting high .
standards of heaith, safety & wellbeing in the workplace and in
all our activities.

. Social matters

*»  Sustainable procurement policy

» Biffa is o significant purchaser of goods and services. This .
reguires us 1o ensure our procurement practices are not only
responsible, but also environmentally, economically, and
ethicaliy sound.

How we monitor the effectiveness of the policies

Responsibility for environmental compliance sits with the Board.
Our Environmental, Sustainability and H&S teams work together
across the business ensuring we meet our compliance obligations
by monitaring, evaluating, audinng, coaching and Training.

we report On our progress against our sustainability strategy
fargets anpually in our Sustainability Report.

All whistleblowing reports are entered in the Group Whistleblowing
Register and are thoroughly investigated.

The output of an investigation is typically reviewed by the Group
HR Director, General Counsel and Company Secretary and ather
senior leaders as appropriate, dependent on the natrure of the
complaint.

The Audit Conmmittee monitors the Group's whistleblowing policy
and arrangements.

Every employee is required fo assist us to meet our commitment to
provide equal opportunities in employment and avoid unkawful
discrimination.

we have manager guidelines for diversity, helping them to consider
diversity/equal oppertunity obligotions. Managers are olso advised
to make reasonable adjustments to our standard working practices
to overcome barriers caused by disability and we have a Flexiole
working Policy in place to support requests for variations 10
standard working practices.

Employees are expected to report ond discuss health, safety and
wellseing matters with their managers, and Group Health & Safety
business partners who will offer or obtain further expert advice,
where necessary.

Employees are encouraged to contribute good ideas and
improvements and report any shartfalls so management can make
informed decisions and improve standards across the business.
we monitor performance through cur LTI rate ard have a target in
place to reduce lost time injuries by 50% by 2030 from our 2019
baseline.

Biffa works with key stakeholders both within the business and
externally in order to share best practice, idenfify new
opporfunities and deliver programmes that promote our aims for
sustainable procurement.

Performance is monitored and recorded, and key performance
measures such as carbon emissions reductions are regularly
reported.
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Non-Financial Information Statement

Social marters continued

Suppliers - socicl responsibility ond ethico! standards

Qur suppliers of goods and services must comply with al! relevant
legisiation and mternational standaords including trading policy, child
and forced labour, health and safery of workers, non-discrimination,
employment law, human rights, bribery and corruption. We procure
under the Zode of Ethics of the Chartered Instrtute of Purchasing
and Supely.

»  Corporate responsibility policy

Our corporare responsibility framewaork encompasses our people,
health, safety & wellbeing, communities, the environment,
rmarketplace, relationships with stakehoiders and commitment to
business ethics gnd conduct.

Employee volunteering policy and procedure

Biffa recognises that facilitating the voluntary involvement of our
employees in community-based projects can result in ¢ range of
positive outcomes.

Biffa will grant one day’s paid leave per annum, in line with an
employee's contracted hours, 1o eligible employees to get involved in
team volunteering opportunities within our local communities and
environmental-based projects

+  Human rights

. Madern sidvery and humen trafficking policy

The policy sets out the measures, systems and procedures which
Biffa employs to minimise the opportunity for modern slavery and
human ftrafficking taking place within the Group and within cur
supply chain.

»  Anti-corruption and anti-bribery

=  Anti-bribery and gifts and hospitality policies

Our policies set out the standards that are expected of anyone
warking at Biffa, and third parties working with Biffa. They include
the requirements 2n giving and receiving business gifts and
hospitality.

We have o sccial responsibifity o our suppliers. Wwhen prablerms
arise with o supplier’s performance, we work with the company
concerned to help them to meet requirements

we will be fair and lawtul in our deafings but avoid any conduct
which could be counteractive to our corporate social responsibility
and ethical standards, We reserve the nght 1o discontinue business
with suppliers who do not comphy with our requirements in this
areq.

Qur standard frading ferms with suppliers are 50 days. This has
been the policy since May 2008 ond is applicable 1o all axisting and
new suppliers alike.

We gre commifted to complying with our permits as well as
promofing high standards on all of our sites, premises, and in all of
our activities.

Our Group Executive Team is responsible for the delivery of the
policy at d business level, with gversight and direction from the
Biffa Topca Limited Board. Its success is measured through our
sustainobility KPIs, which track our performance across three key
areas (buillding a circular economy, tackling climate change and
caring for our people, supporting our communities), enabling us to
deliver against our responsible business objectives.

Managers are responsible for assessing locat operational needs
and proposed volunteering activity, taking into account the
benefits to both the employee and fo Biffa.

Managers will also consider perscnal development and where
appropriate, volunteering may be offered as one of the methods of
meefing development needs.

Biffa conducts risk assessments across its activities and supply
chain in order to identify any area of its operations that might
represent higher potential risks for slavery or human ftrafficking o
occun

Biffa works with specific recruitment agencies and labour
resourcing partners who are egually commitred to ensuring the
work enviroament is free of slavery and human trafficking.

All Biffa colleagues and managed service providers hove regular
meetings with onsite account managers where we discuss their
actions regarding the prevention of modern slavery Itis a standing
iterm on monthly business meeting agendas and guarterly business
reviews. Labour providers also give biweekly updates on any
activity of concern.

we produce an annual modern slavery statement, which the Biffa
Topco Limited Board reviews and approves.

Biffa enforces a strict prohibition against the giving, receiving,
offer, acceprance, payment or authorisation of any bribes, and also
against any other form of corruption

we also demand transparency and integrity in all our business
dealings, to avoid any improper advantage, or the appearance of
questionable conduct by our employees or third parties with whom
we do busiress,

Any instances of potential or actual non-compliance with these
policies are fully investigatea and reported to the Audit Commuttee.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the consolidated financial statements for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023.

This Directors’ Report sets out the information required fo be disclosed by the Company in compliance with the Comparies Act 2006 (‘the
Act’).

Directors
The Directors who served during the period and up 1o the date of signing were:

M Topham

S Parsons (appointed on 31 March 2023)
R Pike (resigned on 31 March 2023)

C Chesney (resigned on 26 Jonuary 2023)
K Lever {resigned on 26 January 2023)

C Martin (resigned on 26 January 2023)
C Miles {resigned on 26 January 2023)

L. Morant (resigned on 26 January 2023)

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

The Company’s Articles of Association provide far the Directors and officers of the Company to be appropriately indemnified subject to
the provisions of the Act. In addition, the Group maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers. Neither the Company’s
indemnity nor insurance covers cloims arising from dishonesty or fraud.

Branches
The Company does not have any branches ourside the UK.
Company Registration

Biffa Limited is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated in England and wWales with company number 103356040 and
registered address Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 377,

Engagement with employeas
The Company puts employee engagement at the heart of its people strategy and plans, as detailed in the Strategic Report.
Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes and abilities of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their empioyment with the Company
continues and that appropriate training 15 arranged. It is the policy of the Company that the training. career development and promotion
of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identicai with that of other employees.

Dividend
The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: 6.89p).
External Auditor

So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant information of which the external auditor (Deloitte LLP) is unaware. Each Director has
taken all steps that ought to have been taken as a Director fo make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that Deloitte LLP are aware of that information.

The auditars, Deloitte LLF, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the Act.
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group reports its UK Greenhouse gas (‘\GHG') Emissions dand Energy Use Data, Energy Consumption in the UK and Energy Generation
data within Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting section on pages 19 to 20.

Finrancial Risk Management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial nsks: market risk (including capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markers and seek to minimise potennal adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Financial risk management in
the gbove areas is carried out under g policy approved by the Board of Directors.
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Directors’ Report

Post Balance Sheet Events

In April 2023 the Group acquired the entire 1ssued share capital of Esterpet Limited and 43.9% of the issued share capital of Esterform
Packaging Limited. These businesses will form part of the Polymers business in the Resources & Energy division.

A restructure of the Group’s debt became effective an 23 May 2023, with the following changes:

Term loans increased from £100m on 31 March 2023 to £235m
- Rolling credit facility increased from £225m on 31 March 2023 to £325m
- Private placements decreased from £345m on 31 March 2023 to £260m

On 7 June 2023 the Scoftish government announced that, while they remain commirted to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland, it
would be delayed until Getober 2025 at the earliest. An announcement had been made praviously on 18 April 2023 that the start date of
the scheme wouild be delayed from August 2023 to March 2024. Circularity Scotland Limited ('CSL’), the scheme administrator, entered
administration on 20 June 2023 as its funding was withdrawn and was therefore unable to meet its contractual obligations to Biffa and
other parties. The Joint Administrators' Proposals were released on 28 July 2023, indicating that at best Biffo would receive an
immaterial portion of the total amount due from CSL.

In May and June 2023, £7.8m was paid to EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in
Neote 29. At 31 March 2023, the total liability was £17.8m, The remaining £10.0m is expected to be paid in the year ending 28 March 2025,

Refer to Note 34 to the financiat statements for more information
Looking to the future

we have a well defined and ambitious investment plan that will see us continue to grow the business over the coming years. The
foundations are in place to enable us to do so, whilst retaining the balance between changing the way people think about waste,
sustainability and delivering strong financial performance. The UK Government’s ambition to move fo a circular economy is also expected
to provide further opportunities fo support our growth,

On behalf of the Board.

-

Michael Topham

Direcror

Biffa Limited

Registered in England and wales No. 10336040
11 Seprember 2023
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Greup and Company financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial staterments for each financial year. Under that law, the Directors are required to
prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the reguirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFR3s). The financial statements aiso comply with the IFRSs as
issued by the TASB and as adopted by the UK.

The Directors have also chosen to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, Under company law, the Directors must not apgrove the finanoial starements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of their profit or loss for that penod.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

»  Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.
«  Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

»  State whether the Financial Reporfing Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed cnd explained in the financial statements.

. Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business.

= Inpreparing the Group financial statements, Intfernational Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

. Properly select and apply accounting policies.

. Present information, including accounting policies, in @ manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information,

. Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS Standards are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the enfity’s financial position and financial
performance.

. Make an assessment of the Company’s ability To continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Cempany and enable them to
ensure thar their financicl statements comply with the Act. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of froud and other irreqularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company's
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

. the financial statements of Biffa Limited (the ‘parent company”) and its subsidiarnes (the ‘group”) give a true and fair view of the state

of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as ar 31/03/2023 andg of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

. the group financict statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted internationdl accounting
standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Soard
(IASBY;

. the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Stondard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™: and

. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the reguirements of the Companies Act 2006,

. We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

. the consolidated income statement;

- the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,

. the consolidated and parent company statement of financial position;
. the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity,
. the consclidared statement of cash flows; and

. the related notes 1 tc 34.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the prepaoration of the group financial statements is applicable law, United
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in the preparation of the parent company finoncial statements is applicable law ang United Kingdem Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

we conducted our audit in accordance with Internaticnal Standards on Audifing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our repert

We are independent of the group ard the garent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, incluging the Financial Reporting Council's (the ‘FRC’'s"} Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilied our other
ethical responsibilities in occordance with these reguirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of dccounting in the preparation
of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and parent company’s ability to confinue 1o adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included

. held discussions with management to understand the Group’s process in respect of its going concern gssessment;

. reviewed the reasonableness of assumptions applied by management in preparing its FY24 budget and 5-year plan;

. performed an analysis on the Group’s results against budget t¢ assess historical accuracy,

- assessed the level of headroom availoble fo the Group from its loan facilities and evaluated the risk of breaching covenants;

. challenged management’s reasonable worst-case analysis and whether it is gppropriately plausible but severe, and performed
sensitivity analysis on key variables;

. ossessed the appropriateness of considerations and assumptions regarding the impact of the HMRC landfill tax enquiry and the
Group's ability to seftle a potential lichility in the goirg concern period;

. evalucted the aaditional external funding facilities accessible to the Group:
. obtamec and performed analysis on post year end results and benchmarked this against management’s forecasts:

. assessed the disclosure in Note 1 to the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate to adopt the
going concern Lasis of accounting in preparing the financial statements: and

- assessed the going concearn impact of the debt restructure disclosed in the post balance sheet events Note 34,
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Based or the work we have performed, we have nof identified any material uncertanties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s obility to confinue as o going concern for a peried of at
lecist twelve months from when the financial starements are authorised for issue

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect ta going concern are described in the relevant sections of this

rapnet

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Qur opinion on the financiai
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
ferm of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated, If we
identify such material Inconsistencies or apparent matericl misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a
materiol misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have perfarmed, we conclude that there is o
material misstatement of this other information, we are required 1o report that fact,

We have nothing to report in this regard,

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and far view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparction of financial statements that are frae from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial staternents, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur abjectives are to obtain redgsonable assurance about whether the fingncial statements as a whole are free from material
misstaterment, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditar's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assuronce is a high
level of assurance, but is net g guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will aiways detect o material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the econamic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website af:
www frc.org.uk /auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Extent ta which the audit was considered capaoble of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, mcluding fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. we design procedures in line with our
responsibifities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below,

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation of their policies
and procedures reiating to froud and complionce with lows and regulations. We also enquired of management, internal audit, those
charged with Governance and the directors about their owhn identification aond ossessment of the risks of irregularities, including those that
are specific ta the group’s business sector.

we obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framewark that the group operates in, and identified the key laws and
regulations that:

. had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These inciuded UK
Companies Act, pensions legisiation and tax legislation in all relevont jurisdictions where the Group operates; and

. do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental 1o the group’s ability fo
operate or to ovoid a material penalty. These included the landfill tax regulations and the Environment Act 2021

we discussed among the audit engagement team 1ncluding relevant internal speciaiists such as tax, pensions, IT and valuation specialists
regarding the opportunities and mcentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the
financial statements,
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

As a result of performing the above, we identified the grearest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our procedures perfornied fo
address them are described below:

. [mpairment of Company Shop Group Goodwill: We considered the reasonabieness of the model (drawing on input from specialists n
FY22 as the madel was unchanged), involved valuation specialists in determining reascnakle ranges for discount rate and long renn
growth rafte, evaluated revenue growth and gross margin, as well as assessing the relevant disclosures in Notes 1 & 9;

. Completeness of Municipal Onerous confracts: wWe obtained an understanding of relevant controls in place o idennify confracrs which
may be onerous and determine whether the potential liability 1s appropriotely accounted for and disclosed in the financial starements,
we also assessed the contract terms for confracts with lower margins, assessed forecast assumptions around inflation & wages, und
analysed forecast future pertormance against historical contract results, and where appropriate, bridged any expecred mproveament
in performance to specific one-off evenrs In the year and considered whether they would reoccur. Finally, we assessed the disclosures
in Note 18 to evaluate whether it is in accordance with the requirerments of IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingant Liabilities, ang Contingent
Assets”;

N Landfill Accounfing: We pinpointed the fraud nsk to certain gross cost estimates on higher risk sites, therefore our response focused
on assessing and challenging the underlying dota and key Judgements used in defermining the provision. Specific considerations were
paid 1o long-term energy prices, included as part of our assessment of gross cost estimates for higher risk sites. Furthermaore, we
performed an assessment of the reascnabteness of the gross cost estimates used by management, by performing a retrospective
review of the costs incurred in comparison to rhose onginglly estimared.

- HMRC landfill tax inquiry: we obtained an understanding of the assumptions and the estimation process for tax provisioning. Wwe
engaged internal forensic specialists 1o evaluate the scope and findings of the Group's internal analysis which was itself supported by
tegal and forensic advisers. we also involved internal 1ax specialists in understanding the requirements of LT, the application by the
Group, analogous legal precedent and potential exposure, We assessed the competence, capabilifies and objectivity of the legal cnd
forensic advisers used in the Group's investigation;

For completeness, we reviewed correspondence between the Group, HMRC and the Group's externai legal odvisers and obtained direcr
correspondence from and made direct inquiries of the Group's externai legal adviser with regard to the status of claims To date and then
views. When making direct inquiries of HMRC, we sought to understand rhe status of their investigation and to corroborate areas of inquiry
as the investigation progresses. Additionally, we brought odditional resource onto the team, including at partner and director level, who
supported in challenging the findings ansing from the Group's investigation, in particular in relation 10 the complefeness and accurocy of
provisions and contingent liabitities arising from the Group's internat analysis. We evaluated the completeness of the provisions and
confingent liabilities through review of board minutes and board correspandence, internal audit reports and other supporting and
contradictory evidence. Lastly, we olso challenged the appropriateness of the disclosures included in the financial statements relaring to
the investigation ang challenged managemens and the directors on the impact on the completenass of Their going concern assessment
and disclosure relating to this matter,

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management
override, In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of contrels, we tested the appropriateness ot journa! enfries und
orher adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; anc
evaluated the business rationaie of any significont fransachons that are unusuat or outside the normal course of business

In addition te the above, our procedures to respond to The risks idennfied included the following:
. reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing fo supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant

laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial starements,

. performing analytical procedures to identify any unusuat or unexpected relationships that moy indicate risks of material
misstatement due to fraud;

. enguiring of management, internal audit and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential lingation and claims, and
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

- reading minutes of meefings of those charged with governance, reviewing internat audit reports and reviewing cornrespondence with
HMRC.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+  the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial year for which the fingncial statements are
prepared is consistent with the fingnoal statements; and

. the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

. adequate dccounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

*  the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing To report in respect of these matters,

Use of our report

This report is made solely To the company’'s members, as a body, in cccordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our
oudit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those maotters we are required to state to them in on
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by low, we do not accept or assume responsibility fo anyone
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by:

P7AFADLE393B4 /A

Peter Gallimore, FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Birmingham, United Kingdom

11 September 2023
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Income Statement

Notes

53 weeks ended

52 weeks ended

31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £rm
Continuing operations
Revenue 2 16804 L4452
Cost of saies (1,574.6) {1,551.5%
Gross profit - 105.8 917
Operating cosis 4 (%0.0) (75.0)
Impairments 1l 9.1) (25 0)
Operating profit / (loss) 6.7 (8.3)
Finance mcome 3 &7 Y
Finance costs 3 (29.5) (224,
Share of resulrs 1n joint venfures and associates 28 1.0 1.1
Loss before taxation (15.1) (28.6)
Taxation 7 ) T o
Loss for the period (16.7) (1/6)
{16.7) 176)
Attributabie to shareholders of the Parent Company
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks endeq
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Loss for the period (16.7) (176
Other comprehensive income -
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: | |
Actucnal (loss) / gain on defined benefit pension scheme 25 (82.5) 48.7
Tax relating ro rems that will not be reclassified subsequently 1o profit or loss 7 20.6 {15.0)
(61.9) 35.7
Items that may be reclussified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gain on fair value of cash flow hedges:
Fair value (loss) / gain ansing on hedging instruments 16 (10.9) 150
Tax Vrelormg To trems that may be reclossified subsequenily fo profit or loss 7 za ] T .__._.._.‘_:5?5.
7@5%_&51"1 on casn flow hedges in joint ventures ond associates (net of tax) 28 19.8 T 35
11.3 6.3
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the peried, net of income tax o (50.6) 500
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the period (67.3) ila
{67.5) 524
Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company I
Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 36




Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes As at As at
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill Q 2918 2643
Investments in joint ventures and associates 28 61,9 294
Other intangible assets 10 206.6 2229
Property, plant and eguipment 11 654.6 617.2
Long-term receivables 13 2.5 2.3
Loans 1o joint ventures 16 20.2 14.3
Derivative financial instruments 16 0.9 77
Retirement benefit surplus 25 95.1 166.1
1,333.6 1,324.2
Current assets
Inventories 12 43.5 35.2
Contract assets 14 62.5 718
Trade and other receivables 13 217.9 207.6
Financial assets 16 14.4 16.3
Derivative financial insfruments 16 - 4.0
Cash and cash equivalents 15 41.3 40.8
379.6 3577
Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 24 (55.1) (53.8)
Borrowings 16 (351.3) -
Trade and other payables 17 {349.2) {340.7)
Deferred and contingent consideration 16 (3.1) (4.2)
Contract ligbilities 14 {27.9) (27.1)
Derivative financial instruments 16 {&.4) (0.2)
Provisions 18 (20.0) (20.3)
{B80Q7.0) (446.3)
Net current ligbilities (427.4) {70.6)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 (81.5) (368.3)
Lease liabilities 24 (228.4) (222.5)
Trade and other payables 17 (5.6) (6.6}
Deferred consideration 16 (2.8) (3.0}
Provisions 18 (164.5) (1374}
Deferred tax liability 19 (124> {(32.5)
(495.2} (770.3)
Net assets 411.C 4833
21
Equity
Called up share capital 3.1 3.1
Share premium 252.2 2476
Hedging reserve 212 29
Merger reserve 170.3 170.3
Retained earnings 22 {35.8) 52.4
Total equity attributable to sharehoiders 411.0 4833

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 September 2023. They were signed on its

behalf by:
Michael Topham

Directcr

Comrrary T
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Calted up T Share Hedging Merger Retained Total

share premium reserve reserve earnings equity

capital | (Note21) | (Note21} | (Note2l) | (Note 22} £m

(Note 21) £m £m £m £m
£m

As at 26 March 2021 3.1 247.0 (6.4) 1703 439 4579
Loss for the period - - - - (17.6) (lgj

Other comprehensive income - - 16.3 - 33.7 50.0

Total comprehensive income for the period - ':_ - 16.3 - 16.1 32.4

Exercise of share options - 0.6 - - - [oX)

Shares purchased by employee benefits trust - -y - - (3.6) (3.6)

Value of employee service in respect of share option - 2.7 27

schemes (exciuding NICs) . - -

Dividends paid (Note 33} - - - - (6.7 (6.7

As at 25 March 2022 3.1 247.6 9.9 1703 52.4 483.3
Loss for the period - - - - (16.7) (Ié.Tﬂ

Other comprehensive income / (loss) - - 11.3 - {61.9) (50.6)

Total comprehensive inceme / (loss) for the period - - 11.3 - (78.6) (67.3)

Exercise of share options - " 4.6 - - - 4.5
Shares purchased by empicyee benefits trust - - - - (L.5) @]

Value of employee service in respect of share option - 6.2 6.2

schemes (exciuding NICs) - _ _
Dividends paid {(Note 33) - - - - (14.3) (14.5
As at 31 March 2023 3.1 252.2 21.2 170.3 (35.8) 411.0
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m

Cuash flows from operating activities
Operating profit / (less) 6.7 (8.3)
Share-based payments 20 4.7 37
Amortisation of intangicles 10 293 30.7
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 108.0 34.9
Impairment cf assers 3,11 9.1 25.0
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 4 (233 62
EVP related items - 208
Petision deflicit paymenrs (8.6} (4.2)
Increase in inventories (8.3) (12.2)
Decregse / (incredse) in receivables 8.8 (72.7)
(Decrease) / Increase in payobles (4.7) 62.8
Decrease / {increase) in financiol assets 0.9 (G4
(Decrease) / incregse in provisions 23.1 137
Net cash from operating activities 166.7 144.6
Income tax received / (paid) .4 (0.3)
Net cash flows from operating activities 167.1 144.3

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (79 3) (67.2)
Purchases of infangible assets (.7 (2.1)
Funds an leng-Term deposir (0.2) -
Business combinations 8 (375) (135.8)
Cash ocguired from business combmnations 8 4.3 142
Deferred consideration (3.6} (1.2)
Investment in joint ventyres and associates (11.7) (17.5)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 5.2 5.9
Logn fo joint venture (4.6) (7.5)
Interest received 0.5 -
Net cash flows from investing activities (128.6) {210.2)

Cash flows from fihancing activities
Interest paid {24.1) (19.3)
Employse share scheme purchase £1.5) (3.6)
Exercise of share options 4.6 0.6
New loans raised 23 72.5 345.0
Repayment of barrowings 23 (13.4) (191.1)
Cash flow on settlement of derivatives - 4.1
Lease liobilines principal payments 23 (61.8) (53.1)
Bividends paid 23 (14.3) {6.7)
Net cash flows from financing octivities {38.0) 75.9
0.5 10.0

Net (decrease} / increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents ar the beginning of the period 40.8 308
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 15 41.3 408
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies

Generadl Information

Biffa Limited (the ‘Company’) is a private zompany limited by shares mcorporated and registered in the UK and 15 the parent company of the
Bitfa Group (the 'Group’). The address of the Company’s registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12
3TZ The principal activity of the Group 1s the provision of waste management services In the United Kingdom

Basis of accounting

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with [nfternational Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Act and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The financial statements also comply with the IFRSs as issued
by the [ASB and as adopted by the UK. The comparative financial informmation has also been prepared on this basis.

The consolidated financial staterments have been prepared on a historical ost basis, except for the recording of pension assets and liabilities,
share-based payments and the revaluation of certain derivative financial instruments that are measured ar revalued amounts or fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the occounting policies below. Histoncal cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services. Fair value 1s the price that would be received 1o sell an asser or paid to transfer a liobility in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

These financial statements are presented in Pound Sterling (GBP™) and are rounded to the nearest £0.1m The financial statements for 2023 have
been prepared for the 53-week period ended 31 March 2023, The prior year was g 52-week period, to 25 March 2022. The upcoming year will be a
52-week pericd, 10 29 March 2024,

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain ¢ntical accounting estmates, It dlso reguires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgerment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are sigruficant to the consclidated financial statements are disclosed ar the
end of rhis Nore.

Going concern

In gssessing whether it 1s appropriare for the Group to adopt the going concern basis of accounting, managament have considered the Group’s ability to
continue for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the consolidared financigl statements. In doing so, management have challenged
future cash and debt levels and lending covenant headroom using a number of downside scenarios to assess the resilience of the Group’s finanaal position.

During the year, the Group was delisted from the Londoen Stock Exchange having been acguired by Energy Capital Partners (ECP"), a US-based private equity
firm I 1s not expected that the ECP *akecver will drastically change the Greup's business medel and management have maintained a focus on sustainoble
growth, demoenstrated by the completion of three acguisitions since the fakeover, The Beard recognise the medium and long-term sustainability risks arising
from climate change, including cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificates held by the landfill gas business in 2027 Short term impacts in relation to
climate change are not consicdered o have a sigmficont impact on the Group’s business mode! within the going concern period.

The Group has perfoermed strongly again throughout FY23, growing Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA despite continued headwinds in 11e form of inflationary
pressures, supply chain disruphion and a challenging economic outlook. At the year end the Group had unutilised committed bank facilities availgble of
£1G2.0m and cash and cash equivalents of £40.8m. The closing leveroge ratic (Net Debt:Adjusted EBITDA) of 3.4x on o covenant basis cormpares against the
covenant limit of 4 5x corresponding to the new debt facilities effective from 23 May 2023 The heodroom on the 4,0x interest cover covenant limit was
significantly grearer than the headroom on the leverage covenant at this date due to the lower interest rates in the FY23 year.

Since the year end, the Group has restructured 115 debt by increasing its rolling credit facility by £150m, increasing its term loans by £135m and replacing i1s
existing £345m of private placements with £260m of new private placements. The net impact of these changes 15 an increase in total figuidity of £200m but
under the new facilities the Group is required 1o comply with revised leverage and interest cover covenants. In modelling its forecast cash flows and
covenants, the Group has considered the impact of a possible setflement of the HMRC Landfili Tax Enguiry in line with the provision recognised in the financial
statements 1in the first half of FY25. Cash flow forecasts indicate that the Group will maintain net gvailable lquidity levels above £200m thraughout the nex=- 12
maonths, so the Group would have sufficient liguidity 1o fund a lorge one-off cash payment

Management hove also appliad reverse stress tests to determine the extent 1o which key financial meosures could worsen over the next 12 months before
cavenant limits gre breached Interest cover headroom is expected to be noticeably lower than previous periods due to increased flooting rate exposure and
sharp rise innterest rates, so cerfamn downside scenaros could cause o breach of interest cover However sufficient neadroom 15 expected over the next 12
months so tnat g breach of either covenant would still require a worsening in EBITDA and cash flow alongside o rise in interest rares

Lnterest cover headroom 1s expected to reduce further ot September 2024, making a potential preach due to a worsening of perfarmance or @ rise in interest
rate expectations more likely than af September 2023 or March 2024 It 1s management’s expectation that an amendment o the zovenant will be reguesred
from lenders but if required we consider we Could meet our existing ¢ovenants by carrying out g number of cash improvement initiatives such as delaying
capital expenditure, cancelling nan-essentiol costs, utilising additional funding from owners and working capital management. It may alsa be possible to enter
INTO aninterast rate swap 1o reduce the exposure 1o any further adverse mterest rgte movements, On *his bosis we consider the likelihood of a future covenant
breach at Seprember 2024 to be remaore.

Bosed an the above, management have conciuded the Group 1s well placed to manage its financing and other business nsks satisfactorily and have o
recsondble expectation that the Group will have adequate resources to continue in operation for at lecst 12 months from the signing date of these
consolidated iinancial statements. It 1s therefore considered appropriate to adopT the going concern basis of accounting In preparing the consolicated
financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Basis of consolidation
The canseolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its
subsidiaries) made up to 31 March 2023. Control is achieved when the Company:

. Has power over the investee;
- Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the invesree; and
e Has the ability to use its power 1o affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed abave. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights ¢f an investee, it considers
that 1t has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevont activities of the
investee unilaterally.

The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

. The size of the Company's halding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders,

. Potenticl voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of ¢ subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Income Statement
from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to conirol the subsidiary.

where necessary, adjustments are made 1o the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used info fine with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-Group transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process.
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the below Standards and amendments are effective for reporting periods
beginning ofter 1 January 2022, but have not impacted on the Group's reporting:

. Annual Improvements to IFRS Standard 2018-2020 Cycle: Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adopfion of International Financial
Reporting Standards, [FRS 9 Financial Instruments, [FRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture

. Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: References to the Conceptual Framework

- Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use

*  Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts: Cost of Fulfilling o Contract

The adoption of the Standards listed above did not have o material impact on the financial statements of the Group.

New standards and interpretations not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Standards that
have been issued but are not yet effective and hod not yet been adopted:

. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

. Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

. Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

. Amendments to IAS 1: Noncurrent Liabilities with Covenants

. Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates
e Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

. Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

. Amendments to IFRS 17: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 - Comparative Information

The Directors do not expect that the adogtion of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the
Group in any future period
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration fransferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculoted as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liakilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for contral of the
acquiree, Acquisition-related costs are recagnised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets cocquired and the liabilities assumead are recognised at their fair value, except than

- Deferred tax assets or lichilities, and assets or liabilities reloted to emplaoyee benefit arrangements, are recognised and measured in
cccordance with TAS 12 Income Taxes and TAS 19 Employee Benefifs respectively:

. Lichilities or equity measurements related to share-based payment arrangements of the acgquired, and share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the ccquired, are measured in accordonce
with IFRS 2 Share-based Payments at the acquisition date;

. Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration rransferred, the amount of any non-controliing interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition date
amourts of the idertifiabie assets acquired and the ligbilities assurmed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess amount of any
non-controlling inferests in the acquiree and the fair vaiue of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

when the consideration transferred by the Group in ¢ business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in @ business combination.

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively,
with corresponding adjustrments against goodwill. Measurement peried odjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtamed during the measurement period {which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

If the initicl accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reperts provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period {see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information abtained about facts and circumstances that existed af the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised of that date.

Goodwill
Gaoodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out in the ‘Business combinations’ section above.

Goodwil is tested annually for impairment or if there js an indication of impairment. Gains and losses on the disposal of a cash-generating
unit include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to that cash-generaring unit.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated 1o each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating
units) thot is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. Cash-generating units fo which goodwill has been
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recovercble amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) of the cash-generating unit is iess than the carrying
ameount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unitand then to
the other gssets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwiltis not reversed in a subseguent periad.

The key assumptions when calcutating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs. Management’s calculation of value in use has been
developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance, expectation of future performance
including climate change related matters such as the potential cessation of Renewaoble Obligation Certificate (ROC") schemes in 2027,
implications from possible carbon fax reguletion and the Deposit Return Scheme coming into effect, The value in use I1s also determined
after considering market information and a consistent growth rate thereafrer, based on the underlying assets of each division.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determinatior of the profit or foss on disposal
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting pelicies continued

Investments in joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights fo the net assets of the
arrangement. Joint control 1s the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangernent, which exists ony when decisions abaut the
ralevant activities require unanimeus consent of the parties sharing control. An associate is an entity over which an investor has
significant influence, but not cortrol or joint control.

An investment in on associate or 0 joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate or a jeint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joinft venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the investment Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the igentifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

Under the equity method, on investment in an associate or a joint venture is recognised initiclly in the Censolidated Statement of
Financial Position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associcte or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that
asseciate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional logses are recognised only 10 the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obiigations or made payments on behelf of the associate or joint venture.

The requirements of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect fo the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
{including goodwil?) is tested for impairment in accordance with 1AS 36 as o single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment 1oss recognised is allocated to the investment
as a whole and not to the underlying assets of the investee that make up the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increcses.

when a Group enftity transacts with a jeint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint venture
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not related to
the Group.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker. The
Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Group Executive Team. The Group's operating segments are split into four divisions:

»  Collections which encompasses Municipal ond Industrial & Commercial ('I&C")

s Resources & Energy (‘R&E") which cansists of Inerts, Organics, Recycling and Landfill Gas

+  Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group ('CSG", Hazardous Waste, Integrated Resource Management ('IRM?), and
Biffpack

*  Group Business Function ('GBF")

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of goods and services delivered fo customers in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts
and VAT. The requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Cusromers are applied to determine when services are deemed to
have been delivered and when The Group has met its obligations under its service contracts. Payments received in advance of
performance are held as contract liabilities and recognised as revenue when the related service is delivered.

Collections division

Wuste collection revenue

The Collections division collects waste from customer sites. Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the waste is delivered to transfer
stations or to a third party. The fransaction price s bosed on contractually pre-agreed prices for collecting and processing the waste, Due
to the short time between start and completion of the performance obligations (usuclly on the same day). the revenue recognition and the
allocation of the transaction price over performance obligations is usually straightforward and dependent on the daily collection and
processing of waste.

The Collections division also provides collections services to households on behalf of local authorities under Municipal contracts, for which
revenue is recognised ‘aver time’. The nature of the contracts and performance obligations includes management fees to operate local
authority recycling centres, waste collections and gate fees. The annual revenue for the service is agreed at the outser of the contract and
invoiced in equal amounts, monthly in arrears. The Group recognises the revenue based on the working days within the accounting period,
which is considered an appropriate approximation to when the process occurs. This 1s adjusted for any discounts given and penaities for
non-delivery of services. However, gate fee revenue is recognised as customer waste is deposited and based on fennage received.
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1. Accounting policies continued
Revenue recoghition continued

Resources & Energy (‘R&E") division

Landfill revenue

The Company generates revenue from landfill activities by accepting customer waste onto site for disposal into void space. This revenue
stream consists of gate fee revenue derived from the Company’s operational assets and 1s based on measured tonnages received from
customers, Performance obligations are satisfied as the customer waste is deposited onto the landfill site and revenue s recognised at 'c
point in time’,

Revenue from sale of recyclate materials

The Group collects various waste materials, some of which are general waste and some of which are recyclable materials. The recyclable
marterials are generally commingled and as such then have to be separated info individual recyclate streams ready for resale, Recyclate
revenues are medsured at the agreed fransaction price per ronne of recyclate under the contract with the customer. Revenue recognition
occurs when confrol over the recyclate assets has been transferred and therefore the performance obligation is satisfied. This is at the
point of collection by the customer.

Energy revenue

The Group receives revenue from the sale of electricity from generating assets. These assets include anaerobic digestion and gas from
landfill sites. Revenue from the sale of electricity is measured based upon metered output delivered at rates specified under agreed
contract terms with Biffa’s broker, EDF, under Power Purchase Agreements (‘PPA") or prevailing market rares. Energy generation revenues
are recognised ot ‘a point in time’, being the point at which the power s supplied through the sale to the customer, via EDF, based on the
quantity of units supplied.

Specialist Services division

Revenue from redistribution of surplus food and household products

CSG is a redistributor of surpius food and household product in the UK. The business redistributes surpfus stock that it purchases from
the Fast Moving Consumer Goods (‘(FMCGT) supply chain to members who work in key sectors including FMCG businesses, emergency
services and social care. Sales are recognised when the risks and rewards attached 1o the products (including product obsolescence)

have been transferred to the customer. This ocours when the customers fake possession of the stock that has been purchased.

Trade discounts

Trade discounts are agreed as part of the terms of certain customer contracts. The discounts are usually in the form of a price reduction
based an volume collected on @ monthly basis. The calculations and terms of the discounts are set out in the agreed custormer contracts.
They are calculated in accordance with the contract, accrued automatically by the gocounting system on a monthly basis, ond reported as
a reduction in revenue. At the end of the colendar month, the amount of the discount for that period is disclosed 1o and agreed with the
relevant customers. This discount is then recognised either by raising a credit note or by the customer raising a separate invoice. These
mechanisms are agreed at the outset of the contract. As the monetary trade discount per unit is known and the volume is known, there is
no element of estimation within the calculation.

The Material Recycling Facilities (‘MRFs™) have centracts with local quthorities which contain a ‘risk-sharing mechanism'’. Local authorities
are charged a gate fee per tonne of waste delivered, at the point the waste enters the site. In addition, once the commingled waste
recyclate streams have been sorted and seld, The local quthorities are then entitled to o rebate based upon a pre-ugreed percenfage of the
recyclate value achieved. The calculations and terms of the rebates are set our in the respective confracts with local autheorities. The
rebates are accrued by netting this amount off revenue every repcrting penod. The calculation is shared with the customer and a credit
note raised (or the customer raises an invoice). There is no element of estimation within the calculation.

Leases

The Group assesses whether g contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asser and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, unless the Group decides 1o exercise the
exemptions available under [FRS 16: Leases for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low-value assets (defined by rmanagement 1o not exceed £5,000). The applicability of these exemptions is considered on a lease-by-lease
basis. If the Group exercises these exemptions on certain leases, the payments corresponding to these leases are recognised as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless anofher systematic basis is more representative of the tme
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is inifiafly measured ot the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease, If this rate cannot pe readily determined, the Group uses its incremental barrowing rate,

The Group's incremental borrowing rate 15 defined as the rate of interest that the Group would have To pay to borraw, over a similar term
and with g similar security, the funds necessary to obtain ar asset of a similar value in o similar economic environment.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Leases continued

Lease payments included in the measurement of the liability comprise:

. Fixed lease paytnenls, less any ledse ncentives,;

. Varicble fease oayments that depend on an index or rare, initially measured using the index or rate ar the commencement date;
. The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residucl value guarantees;

+ The exercise grice of purchase options, if the lessee 1s reasonably certain To exercise the options; and

= Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as o separate tine item in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever,

=  The lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using d revised discount rate;

. The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residuat value,
in which case the lease ligbility is remeasured by discounting the revised lease poyments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payment change is due to a change in floating rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

»  Alease contract is maodified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of modification.

Right-of-use assets
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the comresponding lease liability, lecse payment at or before the commencement day
and any initial direct costs, They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation ond impairment losses.

whenaver the Group incurs an obligation for costs o dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
undertying asset to the condition required by the terms cnd conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under [AS 37 The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use csset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset 1s
depreciated over the useful life of the undertying csset. The depreciation starts af the commencement date of the lease.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in the
‘Property, plant and equipment” policy.

Foreign currencies

In preporing the financial informaticon of each individual Group entity, fransactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing af the dates of the fransactions. A the end of each reporfing
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are refransiated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denomingted in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

. Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future produchive use, which are
included in the cost of those assets when they are recognised as an adjustment to inferest costs on those foreign currency
borrowings;

. Exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks {see below under financial instruments
hedge accounting); and

- Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to o foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned
nor likely to cccur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised inifigily in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslarted.

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated fingnaial statements, the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
are franslated into Sterling using the exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, uniess exchange rares fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
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Foreign currencies continued
Exchange differences arising on the difference between franslating net assets af closing rate and translating P&L items ot the average
rate, f any, are recognised i other comprehensive income and accumuiated in equity

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable 1o the acguisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assers that necessarily
take a substantial pericd of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added fo the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready far their interded use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period In
which they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance thot the Group will comply with the conditions attaching ro
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on o systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
costs for which the grants are infended to compensate Specafically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchase, construct or otherwise acguire non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systemartic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Employee benefits
Payments to defined confribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service enfitling
them to the contributions,

For defined benefit retirement pians, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses and the
return on pian assefs (excluding interest), is reflected immediarely in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognisad
in other comprehensive Income in the period in which they occur.

Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or loss. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of d plan amendment. Net interest is caiculoted by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liobility or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

. Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settlements)
- Nert interest expense or income
- Remeasurement

The Group presents service costs in operaring costs and net inferest expense or income is included in finance income. Curtailment gains
and losses dre accounted for s past service costs.

The retirement benefif obligation recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surpius in
the Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited fo the present value of gny econcmic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future confributions to the plans.

The Group makes confributions under Admitted Body status to a number of Local Government Pension Schemes ('LGPS) for the period to
the end of the relevant customer contracts. The Group will only participate in LGPS for a finite period to the end of the customer contracts,

The Group determines whether an LGPS scheme is accounted for under a defined benefit or defined contribution scheme based on
whether the deficit/ surplus can be passed through to the next contractor or Local Authority at the end of the confract. If, at the end of
the contract, the Group is not liable to settle any liability or equaily entitled to any benefit, the scheme is recognised as defined
contribution and contributions are recognised as an expense. For confracts that do not allow for pass through of pension costs, the Group
recognises the defined benefit obligation less the fair value of scheme assets, and an adjustment to only recognise the amount of defined
oenefit for which it is responsible under the contract. Moverments in this adjustment are recognised in the same way as movements in plan
assets.

A liabitity for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the enrity can no fonger withdraw the offer of the rermination
benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

A liability 's recognrised for benefits accruing 1o employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the periad the
related service is rerdered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid \n exchange for ~he related service.

The accounting policy for the Group 15 To recognise the net surplus/deficit for defined serefit pians upon acginsition through Cther
Compiehensive Income, as opposed to an adjustment to goodwill, pursuant 1o TFRS 3 Business Combinations and [AS 19 Employee
Benefits
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Share-based payment plans

The Group’s management awards employee share options, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject fo vesting
conditions. The economic cost of awarcing the share options 1o its employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the
neorme stetement equivalent to the tair value ot the benent awarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stochastic pricing
model. The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award.

Cash flow
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash held at bank with immediate access, other short-ferm investments and bank
deposits with maturities of three months or less from the date of inception.

Taxation
Tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred rax. This facilitates comparison wirh prior periods to assess frends in
financial performance more readily.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable prefit differs from 'profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated income statement because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and ifems that are
never taxoble or deductible. The Group's current tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reportfing period.

Deferred fax is the rax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of the taxable profit and is accounted for using the liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that raxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in o
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recegnised If the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced fo the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available 1o aliow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

The Group has considered impacts of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient taxable profits (loss of revenue from
cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificares (ROCS") in 2027, porential legislation of Deposit Return Scheme ('DRS" in England and
operating costs due to increased carbon taxes in subsequent reporting periods for the recoverability of the tax asset. The overall impact
from the cessation of ROCs has been considered in the future forecasts, however given the low financial impact of the DRS legislation and
increased carbon taxes, the Group does not consider it to have a material impact on the recoverakility of the deferred tax asset.

Deferred tax fiabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates thar dare expected to apply in the period in which the ligbility is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred rax liabilities and assets refiects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or seftle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting of a business combination, the tax effect is included in
accounting for the business combination,

Property, plant and equipment

Landfill sites are recorded at cost less accumulgted depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of landfill sites includes the

cost of acquiring, developing and engineering sites. There are no directly attributable borrowing costs, Property, plant and equipment is
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effact of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

The following useful lives have been applied to property, plant and equipment during the period:

. Buildings - length of lease straight-line method
. Plant, vehicles and equipment - 4 to 15 years straight-line methed
e Landfill sites - on a void-consumed basis, ranging from 2 to 51 years

Land and Assets under Construction {'AUC") are not depreciated. AUC is depreciated when the asset 15 deemed to be complete, and in line
with the above classifications.
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Property, plant and equipment continued

where the obligdtion to restore a lancfill site 's an integral part of its future economic benefits, a non-current asset within property, plont
and equipment is recognised. Changes to the obligation are recorded as adjustments to the carrying volue of the asset. The asset
recognised is depreciated based on energy production and void used.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis ds owned assets. However, when there 1s no
reasonable certainty that cwnership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and eguipment 15 derecognised upon dispesal or when no furure economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property. plant and equipment 1s
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying armount of the asset and is recognised in profit or koss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired seporately are carrnied at cost less accumulared amartisation and accumulared
impairment losses, Intangible assets acquired in business combinations and recognised separately from goodwill are recognised initiclly
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Amortisation is recoghised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amertisation methed are reviewed ot the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on o prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are ccquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

The following useful lives hove been applied 1o the intangible assets during the period:

. Brand - indefinite life

- Customer contracts - 3 to 20 years

- IT development -~ 3 1o 5 years

- Service cancession arrapgements - over the life of the contract

. Landfill gas rights - length of projected profitable gas extraction based on the life of the site’s associated ROCs

An infernally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if,
and cnly if, all of the following have been demonstrared:

D The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use of sale;

. The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or seil it;

+  The ability 1o use or sell the intongible gsset:

. How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

- The availability of adeguate technical, financial and other resources fo compiete the development and fo use or sell the intangible
asset; and

»  The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the criteria listed above. When no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the penod in which its incurred. Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the pericd in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumuloted impairment losses on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separotely.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or 1osses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the ner disposal proceeds and fthe carrying amoun:
of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset 1s derecognised.

The Group has a number of contracts for Software as a Service ('SaaS?) arrangements. These contracts permit the Group 'O QCcess
vendor-hosted software and platform services over the term of the grrangement. The Group does nof control the underlying assets in
*hese arrangements and costs are therefore expensed as incurred.

The Group also incurs implementarion costs in respect of these confracts Implementation costs are capitalised as intangible assets where
they meet the definitior and recognition criteric of an intargible asset under IAS 38 Intangible Assefs. Such costs typically relate fo
software coding which can provide 3 benefit 1o the Group on g standalone basis.

Other implementction costs, primarily relating fo the configuration and customizarion of the 3aa$ solution, are assessed fo determine
whether the implementaticn activity relating 1o these costs is distinct from rhe Soas solution, ir which case costs are expensed as the
actvity occurs. If the configuration ard customisation costs relate 1o activity which 1s integral to the Saas solution such that the activity is
received over the term of *he solution, cosTs are recognised das o prepayment and expensed over that term.
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Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
Assefs that have an indefinite useful life are not subject fo amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying cmount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped into cash-generating units ((CGUs"), the lowest levels for which there are separarely identifiable cash flows

In assessing value in use ('VIU'), the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the fime value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU)
is reduced 1o Its recoverable amount. An impairment loss 15 recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried ar
a revalucd amount, i which cuse the impairment loss s treated as a revaluation decrease and to the extent that the impairment loss is
greater than the reloted revaluction surplus, the excess impairment ioss is recognised in profit or loss.

where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would hove been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the
extent that it eliminares the impairment loss which has been recognised for the assef in prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount
is treqted as @ revaluation increase.

The Group carries different classes of intangible assets including, gas reserves, brands and custfomer contracts. The Group also has classes
of tangible assets in property. landfill gas and plant, vehicles, and machinery. The carrying value of these is dependent on future cash flows
and if these cash flows do not meet the Group's expectations there is risk that the assets will be impaired. The impairment reviews
performed by the Group contain a number of significant estimates:

. Forecast energy prices including the impact of climote change to these prices

*»  The ROCs recycle benefit rights (which is dependent on the ROC scheme being in place}
. Forecast gate fees, tonnage prices and gas yield projections;

. Long term growth rates; and

. Discount rates.

The above have been considered in determining the VIU of other intangible assets.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Full provision is made for obsclete or defective stock.

Provisions

Provisions cre recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate con be made of the obligation. The amount recognised as o
provision is the best estimate of the consideration reguired to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settie the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time volue of money is material).
The effects of inflation and unwinding of the discount element on existing provisions are reflected in the financial statements as d finance
charge.

when some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from o third party, a receivable is
recognised as an asset if virfually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable caon be measured reliably

Provisions for the cost of restoring landfill sites and after-care costs are made as the obligation to restore the sife arises. Costs are
charged to the profit or loss over the operational life on the basis of the usage of void space for each landfill site. The restoration
obligation is typically fulfiled within two years of the landfill site being closed fo waste.

Provisions for after-care costs are made as the void usage increases, which results in the recognition of an asset representing the future
economic benefits expected to arise from future gas generation from the landfill site. Costs are charged to the profit or loss over the
operational life of each landfill site on the basis of usage of void space. when the obligation recognised as a provision gives access 1o
future economic benefits, an asset in property, plant and equipment is recognised. Changes in the provision arising from revised estirmates
that relate to the asset are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset.
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Provisions continued

The asset is depreciated over the period of gas generation which commences during the active phase of landfill and extends beyond the
closure date. producing commercial volumes of gas for up Te 16 years. After-care costs are provided for based on the Directors’
expectation that the obligation will have been fulfilled 60 years post closure of the site.

Onerous confracts

Present obligations arising under onerous confracts dre recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous confract is considered 1o exis?
where the Group has a contract under which the unovoidable costs of meeting the obligotions under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Service concession arrangements

Service concession arrangements typically involve a private sector entity constructing infrastructure and using that infrastructure to
provide @ public service on benhclf of a government or lecal authority for a limited period of time before handing ownership of the
infrastructure back to the government or local authority,

The Group applies the financial asset model when the concession grantor contractually guarantees the poyment of amounts specified in
the contract or the shortfall, if any, between amounts received from users of the public service and amounts specified. This financial asser
accrues finance income and i3 reduced as the financial payments are received. This aprroach has been adopted an the Leicester City
Council contract,

The Group applies the intangible osset madel when it has a right or a licence to charge users or the local authority based on usage of the
public service. This epproach has been adopted on the West Sussex Recycling confract that was acquired as part of the Viridor acauisition
in the year ended 25 March 2022.

Financial assets and intangible assefs resufting from the application of IFRIC 12: Service Cancession Arrangements are recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Refer 1o Note 30 for further information.

Financiol instruments ‘
Finoncial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a Group entity becornes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments, Financial instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the cantractual terms expire. The financial

instruments recognised by the Group are set out below.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initiclly at fair value and subseguently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
expected credit losses,

Expected credit losses are updated af each reperting date to reflect changes in credit risk since immal recognition. Expected credit losses
are estimated bosed on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for foctors that are specific to the debtors, generol
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast future conditions ot the reporting date. For financial
assets, the expected credit lass is estimated as the difference between all contractual cosh flows thot are due o the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to recejve, discounted ot the original effective interest rote.

The Group presumes that the credit nsk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognifion when confractual payments !
are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group hos reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Ali customers are subject to credit scoring on a quarterly basis, The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the
external credit rating of the counterparty exceeds the Group’s minimum required score, and when the counterparty has a strong financial
position and payments are being made within the cantractual terms.

The Group derecognises a financial asser when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there 1s
no realistic prospect of recovery.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subseguently at amortised cost using the effective inferest method

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financiat liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements.

Borrowings ore recognised initially at fair value, net of tfransaction costs. Any difference between the amount initially recognised and rthe
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective inferest methad,

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Group has ar uncondifional right to defer settlement of the liotuiiity for ar
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
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Financial instruments continued

Financial assets arising from service concession arrangements

As detailed above, the Group applies the financial asset model to service concession arrangements where there is a quaranteed right to
recelve payments. |he tinancial asset accrues finance income and is reduced as the financial payments are received. This opproach has
been adopted on the Leicester City Councit contract.

Derivative financidl instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and
are subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each bealance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designated s o hedging instrument and the nafure of the item being hedged.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either o) fair value hedge thedges of the fair vaiue of recognised assets or liabilities); or b)
cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or licbility or @ highty prokable forecast rransaction); or ©)
net investment hodge (hedges of net investrients in flureign operalions).

The Group documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception.

At inception and ot each reporting date the Group assesses whether the derivatives used have been effective in offsetting changes in the
fair value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 16. Movernents in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity. At the reporting date the Group has ne fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Hedge accounting

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,
along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions. At the inception of the hedge and on
an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
the hedged itemn, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

»  There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

. The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and

« The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the guantity of the hedged item that the Group actually
hedges and the guantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relgtionship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e.
rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Cash flow hedge
The effective porticn of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The
Group's cash flow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts result in recognition in either the income statement or in the

hedging reserve,

when o hedging instrument expires or is sold, any cumulative gain or loss in equity at that fime remains in equity and is recegnised when
the forecast transaction occurs. When o forecast tfransaction is ne longer expected 1o occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported
in equity will be Transferred To the income statement.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relaticnship so that
it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instfruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognrised immediately in the income
statement.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified o profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged iterm. However, when the hedged forecast
fransaction results in the recognition of a nen-financial asset or a non-financical liakdity, the gains and losses previously recognised i other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-
financial asset or non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore, If the Group expects that
some or all of the loss accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Cash flow hedge continued

The Group discontinues hedge accounting orly when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceasas o meet the qualifying criterta
{aftar rebalancing, if applicable). This includes nstances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The
discontinuation is accounted for prospectively, Ay gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and aceumulated in cash flow
hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclossified ro profit or loss when the forecast transaction occurs.

Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity and recorded at par volue of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium gccount net of direct issue costs

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution to the Company's sharsholders is recognised as & liability in the financiai statements in the peried in which
the dividends are approved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of IFRS compliant financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions and also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying Group accounting policies. The Group continuaily evaluates irs
estimates, assumptions and judgements based on available information and experience. As the use of estimares is inherent in financial
reporting, actual resuits could differ from these estimates.

Critical Judgements
The Group applies judgement in identifying the sigmnificant, exceptional and non-recurring tems of income and expense. We have
summarised the policy in more derail in the Appendix.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

The Group operates a number of landfill sites in the UK. Operators of landfill sites are responsibie for coliecting landfill tax and paying it to
HMRC. Excise Notice LFTL. a general guide fo landfill rax (LFT1) sets out guidance published by HMRC on the application of landfill tax
legisiation to the activities of landfill site operators such as Biffa.

The Groun is the subject of an HMRC enguiry (‘the Enquiry’) regarding landfill tax compliance as part of HMRC concerns regarding possible
misciassification of waste across the industry To date approximately £377m (2022 - £168m) of protective assessments have been issued
by HMRC to Biffa. The growth in the level of protective assessments reflects both an exrension of the time period covered by the
assessments and increase in the scope of matters being investigated by HMRC.

In February 2020, Biffa wWaste Services Limited {('BWSL) was notified by HMRC that it had cencerns regarding certain aspects of landfilt
tax compliance that may have led to an underpayment of landfill tax and was conducting an enquiry primarily relating to the
interpretation of the qualifying fines regime set out in LFTL. HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSLU's data, over the
potential conduct of BWSL and specific customers which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfilt Tax being paid.

Fines are particles produced by a waste treatment process that invelves an element of mechanical treatment. For a landfill site operator to
treat fines as qualifying fines (meaning that landfill fax on such material is payable at a lower rate), it must be satisfied that the conditions
set out in LFT1 have been met. These include pre-acceptance checks on customers, visual inspections of materials deposited ar the landfill
site ard compliant loss o ignition ('LOIY tests conducted at the specified frequency (which is dependent on whether a customer is
classified as low or high risk). LOI tests are lnboratory tests on samples of waste 1o establish the amount of organic content in the waste,

In response to the concerns raised by HMRC, Biffa appointed Ernst & Young (‘EY") To conduct an extensive review. In May 2020, an interim
report was submitted by EY and BWSL to BMRC oddressing a number of the concerns raised by HMRC gnd outlining some immediate
changes to processes at landfill sites operated by Biffa, which were made on o without prejudice basis, to mitigate the risk of any ongoeing
potential licbility

In March 2021, a disclosure report and supporting data (the 'Disclosure Report’), preparad by EY and BwSL, was submitted to HMRC. This
challenged HMRC’s findings and assumptiors used.

In February 2022, BWSL received a further letter from HMRC which responded to a number of specific findings in the Disclosure Reporr,
asserted specific amounts that they considerad were due and indicated that HMRC weuld be carrying out further work on other aspects of
the Disclosure Report. Following receipt of this letter, further detailed work wos carried out by Biffa and its odvisors.

In the period since the release of the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts, the Enguiry has continued with Biffa and ts advisors carrying out
further detailed work and communications with HMRC.

Manogement has applied judgement in concluding on the different potential outcomes and their respective probahbilities in occordance
with 1AS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabifities and Confmgent Assots. A provision of £64m has been recagnised ot March 2023 {March 2022:
£20.0m) as this represents management’s best estimate of the amount required to settle the present obligation at that date
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1 Accounting policies continued
Critical Judgements continued

Legal and tax cases
The Group has provisions for ongoing litigation. Management exercises judgement in determining the amount of provision reguired. This
provision is calculated using information provided by external professionals where applicable or management’s best estimate.

The Group is engaged in o dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill fax treatment of sub-soils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. The Group has received a protective assessment of £8.5m, which has been paid. As the Group is currently disputing this
assessment, and management believe it likely that they will win the dispute, the £8.5m payment is included in prepayments in the current
year (2022: £8.5m).

Going concern

This is considered an area of ¢ritical judgement due to the Group's recent debt restructure and inferest rate rises. Refer to the going
concern section earlier in this Note

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Group has the following key sources of estimation uncertfainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period:

Environmental and The Group operates a number of landfill sites in the UK. A significant cost of owming and operating o landfill site in the
afrer-care UK arises after the land-filling operation ceases due fo the constructive and legel obligation fo restore sites and then to
commirments of care for them until it can be demonstrated that they present no ongoing risk to the environment.

£53.6m

A provision is made for the costs associated with restoring and maintaining its landfill sites and controlling leachate and
mathane emissions from the sites. A number of factors create estimation uncertainty, including the impact of regulation,
fransportation costs, inflation and changes in the real discount rate. Due o recent volatility, the impact in the change of
energy and chemical prices on after-care costs are a parficularly source of estimation uncertainty. The provisions
incorporate our best estimates of the financial effects of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of these
estimates could materially impact the caiculation of the provision. An increase of 5% in assumed energy and chemical
costs, which impact energy consumed and leachate frearment costs, would result in an increase in the environmentral
provision of £1.2m.

(see Note 18)

The asscciated outflows are estimated to arise over a period of up to 60 years depending on the date of each site
closure. In determining the provision, the estimates for future expenditure required to settle the obligation are inflated
using longer-term inflation rates of 3,1%, and discounted using the nominai risk free discount rate of 4.4%. The rates
reflect the period of the obligation on a site-by-site basis which varies between 10 and 60 years. Future energy prices are
estimated using reliable external sources.

An increase of 1% in the nominal discount rate (at current ¢ost) would result in a decrease of environmental provisions of
approximately £8.0m (2022: £16.0m). A 10% increase in forecast cash outflows would result in an increased
environmental provision of £5.2m (2022: £7.8m). Long-term affer-care provisions included in landfill restoration and
after-care provisions have been inflated at a rate of 3.1% (2022: 3.3%). An increase of 1% in the rate of inflation would
result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £11.2m (2022: £23.1m).

Retirement Benefit The Group cperctes several defined benefit pension schemes which are accounted for under TAS 19 Emplayment
Accounting relating Benefits. Pension accounting is a speciclist area requiring the exercise of significant managerment judgement and the
to surplus of 95.1m use of rechnical expertise to determine the surplus or deficir of the scheme in accordance with generally accepted
(see Nate 25) actuarial practices. The assumptions used in voluing the defined benefit pension liabilities including the discount rate,

mortality assumption and inflation level are complex and changes 1o the assumptions can have a materiat impact on the
vobue of pension liabilities. As at the end of the financial year the Group recegnised a retirement benefit surplus of
£95.1m (2022 £166.1m).

If the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit gsset would decrease by £52.4m (2022: £104.6m}. If the inflation
assumption increases by 1% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022: 100.0m). If the life expectancy
increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit asset would decrecse by £2.6m (2022: £14.9m).

All pension valuations are performed as at the year end reporting date.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Onerous Contract
Provision of £20.3m
(see Note 18)

Certain contracts held by the Group are considered onercus and long-term in nature. These contracts can be complex
and contain key performance indicater clauses where penalties may be incurred in the event of non-compliance. The
Group is therefere required to moke operational and financial assumptions to estimate future losses over periods thot
can extend beyond seven years.

Variability of contract penatties, undertying delivery costs, Inflation rates, commodity prices applied and customer claims
or disputes can put additional pressure on marging and on future contract profitability, giving rise fc cnerous confract
provisions. The Group mitigates against the risk of price movements by entering into fuel hedging arrangements,
Management continue to monitor potential cost impacts on services and seek to discuss those with custemers as
appropriate, on a case-by-case basis.

The prediction of future events pver extended periods contains inherent rnisk and the outcome of customer and
subcontractor claims is uncertain and involves a high degree of monagement esfimation. Management recognise the
risk of future onercus contract provisions being recognised due to significant cost increases as detailed above.

The Group hoids three onerous contract provisions relating to contracts on Epping Forest, South Oxfordshire & Vale and
Leicester. The future cash inflow from the remaining onerous contracts are highly predicrable as they are fixed, based on
the terms of the contract. However, the costs associated with delivering the contract can vary and assumptions on future
cash outflows is considerad a significant estimate when modelling the future net cash outflows on onerous contract
provisions. On the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale provision, a 5% increase in furure cash outflows would
increase the provision by £1.5m, On the Leicester provision a 5% increase in future cash outflows would increase the
provision by £2.3m.

In arriving at the cnerous contract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale contracts, the Group
has disceunted the future cash fiows using a risk-free rate of 4.6%. If this rate increased by 500 basis poinfs the
provision charge would decrease by £0.2m. In arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Leicester contract, the
Group has discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.5%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the
provisian charge would decrease by £1.5m.

Goodwill
Impairment in
Company Shop
Group (‘'C5G") (see
Note 9)

The Group recognised goodwill on completion of the acquisition of CSG in February 2021. The carrying value of the
goodwill 1s dependent on future cashflows and, if these cashflows do not meet the Group's expectations, there is a risk
thatr the assets will be impaired. The Impairment review performed by the Group contains @ number of significant
estimates:

- Revenue in both the shart and long term
. Gross margin in both the short and lang term
. Discount rate

Changes in these assumpticns can have a sighificant impact on the estimated value in use. An impairment assessment
was performed by the Group in the prior year, with the outcome being the recognition of a £25.0m impairment 1o
goodwill due ro rrading under performance, in accordance with TAS 34: Impairment of Assets. The annual impairment
assessment was performed again in the current year, with the value in use exceeding the goodwill carrying amount and
the outcome being no further impairment. This is due to improved trading in the year. The value in use excludes any
additional value which may be generated by future store roll-ours.

The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are detailed above. Management's calculation of value in use has
been developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance and
expectations of future performance which considers climarte change, market information and a censistent growth rate

The valuation of the goodwill allocated to CSG has headroom of £29.4m at the end of the financial year. The pre-tax
discount rate used in the value in use calcuiation was 10.75%. An increase in the pre-tax discount rate of 390 basis peints
would reduce headroom to nil. The average short term annual growth rate used was 3.00%. A reduction of 167 basis
points in the average short term annual growth rate would reduce headroom to nil. The long term compounded annual
growth rate used was 3.25%. A reduction of 587 basis points in the long term compounded annual growth rate would
reduce headroom to nil. The average gross profit margin used was 56.2%. A reduction of 210 basis points in gross profir
margin would reduce headroom fe nil.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

HMRC Landfill Tax Protective assessments

Enquiry :
4 HMRC has issued protective assessments totalling approximately £377m to BWSL in regpect of the period from March

20146 to September 2021 Cansistent with their usual practice when conducting on enquiry that may result in additional
hability 1o tax, the protective assessments have been issued by HMRC pefore the conclusion of the Enguiry to ensure
that any claim for payment of landfill tax that may be made by HMRC as a result of the findings of the Enguiry is not
time -barred,

These protective assessments are not necessarily an indication of what liability may ultimatety arise and may be
amended or withdrawn by HMRC at the conclusion of the Enquiry. BWSL is not currently required fo make payment to
HMRC or reserve or ningfence funds for a possible payment as a result of these protective assessments, however it has
made payments on account of £2.2m to date.

Potential outcomes and liabilities

In Biffa’'s view, based on advice received to date, there are o range of possible outcomes to the Enguiry, including an
agreed settiement To date Biffa has received opproximately £377m of protective assessments from HMRC. HMRC hos
also shared further estimates of liability in the context of without prejudice settlement discussions. In addition, BwSL will
incur further costs in conducting and responding to the Enguiry.

At the end of the Enquiry, HMRC will be required to confirm the amount of the protective assessments, If no settlement
is agreed ond BWSL does not accept HMRC's decision, BwSL will be entitled to request a formal statutory review by
HMRC. Assuming HMRC upholds its decision in respect of all or part of the assessments, BWSL will have 30 days from
the date of HMRC's review decision to submit an appeal to the First-tier Tax Tribunai ('FTT") to challenge HMRC and
formally protect BWSL's position. Te bring the appeal, BWSL wauld be required to pay the assessed landfill tax to HMRC
at that stage, although BWSL could make a hardship application to HMRC to secure their agreement to the deferral of
the payment of the assessed tax, failing which BWS5L could apply to the FTT directly on grounds of hardship. If the
Enguiry resulted in BWSL being liable to pay additional landfill tax, such amounts should be tax deductible.

Provision (see Note 18)

A provision of £20.0m was recognised at 25 March 2022, based on Biffa's best estimate of the ligbilities at that point in
time, recognising the fact that the Enquiry was at an early stage. This reflected the information that had been shared
with Biffa af that time and the Directors’ expectations of how the matter would be resolved.

Foliowing the receipt of further correspondence and protective assessments from HMRC since then, the provision at 31
March 2023 has been incredsed to £64m.

This reflects Biffa’s best estimate of the specific amounts asserted by HMRC in ther estimates of liability that have
been notified to Biffa in the context of without prejudice settlement discussions and addresses the range of matters
arising from the protective assessments and the further estimates of liability excluding the element we consider ta be a
contingent liability.

The estimate assumes that any possible penalty that could be levied would be suspended subject to certain conditions
and accordingly has not been recognised. A suspended penalty will not need to be pard providing we meet the relevant
conditions during the suspension period and do not incur ¢ further penalty within the suspension period

Further liahilities could arse In relation to general issues raised by HMRC about Biffa’s complionce with the qualifying
fines regime set our in LFTL. These been disclosed as a contingent liability.

The ultimate manner of settlement of the liability remains uncertain but we do not believe payment will be due before 31
March 2024 and accordingly we have disclosed the liability as non-current.

Contingent Liability (see Note 27)

A provision has been recognised in respect of specific amounts asserfed by HMRC to date. However, general issues have
alsc been raised by HMRC about how certain requirements within the qualifying fines regime set out in LFT1 wete
intended 1o be applied In practice, and the extent to which Biffa has complied with these requirements.

Based on advice received to date for these areas, a present ooligation does not exist and a liability is not probable
BWSL's potential additional lickility for landfill tax for the relevant period could be up to approximately £114m bosed on
information provided by HMRC, plus interest and further costs in responding to the Enguiry,

Based on advice received, the Directors do not consider @ liabllity is likely to arise in respect of such general issues, nor
can o cost be reliably estimated, and therefore this item is treated os a contingent liability and no provision arises for
these general issues.

In order to illustrate the impact that changes in assumptions could have on the Group's resuits and financial position, further sensitivity
anabysis has been included within the Notes
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2. Segmental information

The Group 1s managed by fype of busingss and 15 organised into three operating divisions,

B Collections which encormpasses Municipal and Industrial & Commercial
- Resources & Energy which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recycling and Landfill Gas
. Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group and Industnial Services.

These operating divisions represent the business segments i which the Group reperts 1ts primary segment information and are consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief cperating decision maker. Head office costs are recorded within the Group Business
Function {'GBF") division, however for cperating and business decisions only three divisions are considered. Group Busingss Funcrion vosts
represent shared services and corparate costs {including, mter olia, Board and corporate costs, finance, HR, 1T, legat and insurance,
external affairs and Safety, Heaith, Environment and Quality Maonagement ("SHEQ")). The chief operating decision maker, who s
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating divisions, has been identified as the Group Executive

Team.

The Group's segmental results are as follows;

2023 2022
Revenue e . L. NS LU
Collections 1,006} 8739
Resources & Energy 4394 3952
Specialist Services 234,/ 1741
_ Total 16804

Revenue within divisions s eliminated upon consolidation. Sales between operating divisions are carried cut at arm'’s {fength. There hove
been no material amounts of revenue recognised in the year that relate ro performance opligations satistied or parftially satisfied in

previous years. Revenue received where the performance obligation will be fulfilled in the future 15 classified as deferred income or

contract liabilities and disclosed in Note 14.

All trading activiry and operations are In the United Kingdom and there is therefore no secondary reparting formar by geographical

segment There is no singie customer that accounts for more that 10% of the Group's revenue (2022: none)

2023 2022

Operdting profit / (doss) o o £m o Em
Collections B4 65.6
Resources & Energy 353 175
Specialist Services 12.7 (19 )

_Group Business Function o o Qirzy o B (71.5)

LYotal e BT ERCE
2023 . EOZ2
Depreciation Amortisation Total Depreciation Amortisation Totat

Depreciation and Amortisation £m £m £m £m £m__ Em
Collections 63.6 52 68.8 558 45 60.3
Resources & Energy 323 227 55.0 29.7 251 54.8
Specialist Services 8.0 0.4 8.4 62 - 6.2
Group Business Function 4.1 1.0 5.1 3.2 11 4.3
Total o 108.0 293 137.3 9ay 307 1256
2023 2022

Property, plant and equipment - net book value £m £m
Collections 360.3 4.5
Resources & Energy 208.9 2266
Speciglist Services 504 505
.Group Business Function — S BB Bus
_Taztal 654.6 617.2
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2, Segmental information continued

2023 2022
Other intangible assets - net book value £m £m
Collections 452 213
Resources & Energy £2.6 1218
Specialist Services - 54
Group Business Function 98.8 74.4
Total 206.6 222.9

2023 2022
Capital expenditure £m £m
Collecticns 123.4 104.1
Resources & Energy 275 96.2
Speciglist Services 1.8 16.4
Group Business Function 217 7.1
Total 174.4 223.8

Capital expenditure comprises additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment including leased assets and acquisitions.

3. Finance income and charges
2023 2022
£ £m
Interest an bank overdrafts, bonds and joans (15.8) [CH)
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 24) (10.3) {9.8)
Interest unwind on discounted provisions (Note 18) (3.3) (2.8)
Interest on forward contracts {0.1) (0.1)
Total finance charges (29.5) (22.4)
Interest income 1.9 0.9
Net interest on the net defined benefit surplus (Note 25) 4.8 2.3
Total finance income &.7 3.2
Net finance charges (22.8) {19.2)
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4, Profit before taxation
The following costs / (income) have been included in arriving at the profit before taxation:
2023 2022

Nates £m £m
Employee costs 5 430.9 361.0
Cost of inventories recognised in expense 12 876 68.3
EVP tax dispute 12 208
Provisiart far HMRC landfill tax enquiry 50.7 17.0
Net defined benefit surplus (income} / expense 25 (1.3) 0s
Deprecigtion of property, plant and equipment: 11
. Owned asseats 52.2 428
- Right-of-use assefs 558 521
. Amortisation of intangible assers: 10
. Acquisition intangibles 25.2 29.6
- Other intangibles 4.1 1.1
. Expense / (income) relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets:
- Plant and machinery 23.8 210
. Other (2.2} 4.5
Impairments 89 Q.1 250
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets (3.3 (3.3)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets (2.3} (6.2)
[ncome from grants (0.2) 0.4
Expected credit loss recognised Q.5 1.2

During the current financial period an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation to the Poplars anaerobic digestion plant, in addition
to a £0.4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth site. In the pricr period an impairment of £25.0m was recognised in relation to
the goodwill arising from the CSG acquisition.

Operating costs have been split into administration and distribution costs as detailed pelow:

2023 2022

£m £m

Distribution costs 29.2 26.1
Administragtive expenses &0.8 489
Operating costs 90.0 75.0

5.

Employees and Directors

The average monthly number of persens (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group, by reporting division during the period,

was:

2023 2022

Number Number

Collections 7.391 6,749

Resources & Energy 1,246 1,105

Speciclist Services 1,709 1,454

Group Business Function 490 436

Total 10,836 9,744
Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

2023 2022

£m £m

wages and salaries 3795 314.7

Social security costs 373 304

Other pension cosfs 122 132

Redundancy and fermination payments 1.9 2.7

Total 430.9 361.0
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5. Employees and Directors continued

Directors’ remuneration
During the year, the emoluments of the 7 (2022: 9) Directors of the Group were as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Aggregate emoluments 19 23
Company contributions 1o money purchase pension schemes Q2 02
Compensation for loss of office 0.1 -
Total 2.2 2.5
2023 2022

The number of Directors who: Number Number
Arc members of a money purchuse pensiun scheine 2 2
Exercised options over shares in the Company 2 -
Had awards receivable in the form of shares under g long-term incentive scheme 2 2z
2023 2022

Highest paid Director £m £m
Aggregate emoluments 11 11
Company contributtons to money purchase pension schemes ol a1
Total 1.2 1.2

In addition to the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options in the yeor and had shares receivable under long-term incentive

schemes.

6. Auditor’s remuneration

The analysis of the Compdny and Group’s auditor’s remunergtion is as follows:

2023 2022
£m £m

Fees payable to the Company’s quditor for the audit of the Company’s consolidated
annual financial statements 1.0 1.0
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 0.5 05
Increase in fees paid fo the Company's audiror refared o the audt in the prior pericd Q.7 -
Total cudit fees 2.2 1.5
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 0.1
Total audit and non-audit feeg 2.3 1.6

Subsequent to the release of the Annual Report and Accounts 2022, o remuneration increase of £0.7m was agreed with the auditors for the

audit work performed on the accounts for the year ended 25 March 2022.

The other assurance services provided by the auditor related to agreed upen procedures and other assurcnce services outside of statutory

requirements.
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7. Taxation recognised in profit or loss
2023 2022
£m £m
Current tax
Current period 0.1 0.2
Adjustments in respect of prior years (1.0) -
(0.9) 0.2
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (29 (9.5)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 0.6 03
_Adjustment attributable to changes in tax rates and laws 4.8 20
2.5 (11.2)
Total tax charge / {credit) 1.6 (11.0)
Corporation tax is calculated at 19% (2022: 19%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period. The charge for the period can be
reconciled to the profit per the consolidated income statement as follows:
2023 2022
- £m £m
Loss before toxotion (15.1) (28.5)
Loss multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022: 19%) 29 (54)
Effects of:
Adjustments in respect of prior years 38 03
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4.4 0.2)
Super deduction 4.1 (3.6)
Change in rate 0.6 (2.0)
Non-taxable income (0.2} (0.1}
Total tax charge / {credit) i.é (11.0)
In addition to the amount charged to the consolidated income statement, the following amounts have been (credited) / charged directly
to equity:
2023 2022
Deferred tax (credit) / charge arising on: £m £m
Actuarial gains / losses (20.6) 15.0
Hedging (2.4) 22
Share-based payments (1.5) -
Total deferred tax (credited) / charged directly to equity (24.5) 17.2

The Fingnce Act 2021, which provides for an increase in the main rate of corporation tax from 19% to 25% effective from 1 April 2023, was
enacted on 24 May 2021, As deferred tax assets and licbilities are measured at the rates that are expected o apply in the periods of
reversal, deferred tax balances at the balance sheet date have been calculated at the rate at which the relevant balance is expected o be

recovered or setfled.

8. Acquisitions
53-week period ended 31 March 2023
DJIB Recycling Limited

©n 1 July 2022, the Group acqulired the frade and assets of DJB Recycling Limited, o waste collection and recycling business for

consideration of £1.7m. The business generated revenue of c.£4.7m in the 12 months prior to acquisition, empioyed 31 people, had a fleet of

13 vehicles and operated from 2 sites in Sheffield. Goedwill arising on the acquisition was £0.6m.

Since acquisition to the end of the financial year, DJB Recycling has generated revenues of £2.9m and a profit before tax of £0.4m. If the

acduisition had been completed on the first day of the financal year, Group revenues for the year would have been £1,684.3m and

operating profit for the year would have been £29.2m.
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8. Acquisitions continued
53-week period ended 31 March 2023 continued

Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited

Cn 2 November 2022, the Group acquired L00% of the share capital of Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries. Forge
Recyding is o Leeds-based [&C collections business with 100 emiployees and 3,800 customers. Upfront net cash consideration was £14.7m,
with a further contingent sum due post year-end, calculated by reference to the performance of the acquired business through to the end
of March 2023. The final contingent sum payable was £2.3m. Gocedwill arising on the acguisition was £12.1m.

Since acquisition fo the end of the financial year Forge has generated revenues of £5.9m and a profit before tax of £0.7m. If the
acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for the yaar would have been £1,694.5m and
operating profit for the yeor would have been £30.4m.

As at 31 March 2023, the opening balance sheet for the Forge acquisition remains within the 12 month measurement period post-
acquisition and should therefore be considered provisional.

Total Recycling Services Limited

On 21 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the share capited of Total Recycling Services Limited. Total Recycling is an industrial waste
managerment business with 3 sites across the North East of England, approximately 100 employees and 200 customers. Upfront net cash
consideration was £171m and Goodwill arising on the acquisition was £12.0m.

In addition o ner cash consideration paid above, acquired borrowings of £4.0m included within net assets were repaid by the Group.

Given the timing of the acquisition the business' contribution to the revenue and profit before tax was immaterial. The business generated
revenue of c.£15m in the 12 months prior to dcquisition. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group
revenues for the year would have been £1,695.2m ond operating profit for the year would have been £29.8m.

As at 31 March 2023, the opening balance sheet for the Total Recycling Services acquisition remains within the 12 menith meosurement
period post-acquisition and shauld therefore be considered provisicnal.

The amounts recognised in respect of the identificbie assets acquired and ligbilities assumed are set out in the table below:

Total
DJB Forge Recycling
Recycling Recycling Services Total
e £m £m . £m £m
Intangible ossets 0.8 6.4 53 125
Property, plant and equipment 08 2.6 8.4 118
Trade and cther recevables - 19 22 4.3
Inventory - - 01 01
Cash and cash eguivalents - 34 Q.9 43
Deferred tax liability (0.2 (2.2) 3.2) (5.6)
Trade and other poyables - (2.0) (3.9 (5.9
Lease liabilities (0.3 [QED)] (0.5 (2.2)
Borrowings - (0.4) (4.0) (4.4
Total net assets 1.1 8.3 60 154
Goodwill 0.6 12,1 120 247
Total consideration 1.7 20.4 18.0 40.1
Satisfied by:
Cosh 14 18.1 18.0 375
Deferred and contingent consideration 03 2.3 - 2.6
Total consideration transferred 1.7 20.4 18.0 40.1
Cash consideration 14 18.1 18.0 375
Deferred and contingent consideration paid 03 - - 0.3
Less. cash and cash equivalents acquired - (3.4) 9 (4.3)
_Net cash flow arising on acquisition L 1.7 14.7 171 335

Acguisition-reiated costs included in adjusting items amount to £2 Om (2022: £2.4m). See the Appendix for further details.
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8. Acquisitions confinued

52-week period ended 25 March 2022

©n 31 August 2421, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Syracuse Waste Limited and 115 subsidianias from the Viridor Group
Syracuse Waste Limited is a spectally created entity inta which Viridor hived down s collections business and certain recyching assets i
order 1o enable the sale. The deal involved the transter of approximately 21,000 existing Viridor business waste customers alongside o
netwaork of 15 depots across the UK. The acguisition is in line with the Group’s growth strategy and complemeants the current operalions
across rhe Collections and Resources & Energy divisions. The agccounting on the Viridor acquisition, in accordance with [IFRS 3. Business
Combingrons, invalves a number of key judgements. The majerity of these judgements were made during the year endiirg 25 March 2022,
but some additional adjustments have been made in The current period, as seT out below.

The adjustments are grouped as follows:

- £2.1m of assets within Property, plant and equipment have been impaired to £nif

: Expected future capital expenditure abligations on the wWest Sussex Recycling contract have increased, increasing the IFRIC 12
provision by £3.8m and reducing the IFRIC 12 infangible asset by £1.2m

" Recewvables and Payables have been updated, with a net £0.6m increase fo working capital

v Deferred tax calculations have been updated, resulting in o £3.7i rectuction in the net deferred tax liability

These adjustments have caused an increase of £2.8m to the goodwill arising on acguisition

Cn 25 june 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Green Circle (Polymers) Limited in exchange for cash consideration of £5éri
ang deferred cash consideration of £5.7m payable over o period of 13 years. The deferred consideration had an acquisition dare fair value
of £3.3m. Goodwili of £6.0m was recognised on acquisition. During the current period, eutstanding deferred consideration of £9.3m was
seftled.

9. Goodwill
2022
= o _ £m
Cost
As ar 25 March 2022 2898
Addinons (Note 8) 247
_ Adjustments fo prior period acquisifions (Note 8) _ . 28
_As at 31 March 2023 1A

Accumulated impairment losses
As ar 25 March 2022 . L2535
__As ot 31 March 2023 (25.5)

Net book value
__As ar 25 March 2022 043

_Asat3iMarch2028 __ _ _ . . _ 2018
2023 2022
i - ——— e EML L EM
Collections ’ 1712 1585
Resources & Energy 59.5 56./
__Specialist Services 61.1 A
_Total L2918 Y
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9. Goodwill continued

Cperating divisions

At each reporting period the Group reviews whether there dre any indicators of impairment in accordance with [AS 36: Impairment of
Assets. An annual impairment review is completed by comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill for each operating division fo its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amaunt is e higher of its fair value less costs ot disposal and its value in use. If the recoverable

amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is allocated first fo reduce the carrying amount of the goodwill and then o

the assets of the operating division.

The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs. Management's calculation of value in use has been
developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared based on past performance and expectations of future performance. The
value in use 15 also determined after considering market information and a consistent growth rate thereafter.

The pre-tax discount rates used in the value in use calculations ot year end are as follows:

+«  Collectians 11.00%
¢ Resources & Eneryy 10.00%

. Specialist Services 10.00% (excluding Company Shop Group, for which see below)

The annual growth rate assumption for the Group's pperating divisions beyond the five-year plan period, based on market trends, affer
adjustment for assurmed inflation, is 3,.25% (2022: 2.0%). This is considered appropriate due fo the long-rerm nature of the business. No
reasonably foreseeabie change in the assumptions used in The value in use calculations would cause an impairment fo any of the

operating divisions,

Company Shep Group

Specialist Services goodwill includes £40.6m (2022: £40.6m) attributable to CSG. The valudtion of the goodwill allacated 1o CSG has
headroom of £29.4m at the end of the financial year. The pre-tax discount rate used in the value in use calculation was 10.75%. An increase
In the pre-tax discount rate of 330 basis points would reduce headroom to nil. The long ferm compounded annual growth rate used was
3.25%. A reduction of 587 basis points in the long term compounded annual growth rate would reduce headroom to nil. The averoge gross
profit margin used was 56.2%. A reduction of 210 basis points in gross profit margin would reduce headroom to nil.

10.  Other intangible assets

Service
Landfill Ir Customer  concession
gas rights  development Brands controcts agreements Total
£m fm £m £m £m £m

Cost
As dt 26 Marech 2021 190.2 8.3 452 azs - 326.1
Acquired through business combination - - 0.3 312 375 69.0
Additions - 2.1 - - - 21
Disposals - (1.8) - - - (1.6}
As at 25 March 2022 190.2 8.8 45.5 113.6 375 395.6
Acguired through business combination - - - 12.5 - 12,5
Adjustments to prior period acguisitions (Note 8) - - - - 12 (L2)
Additions - 1.7 - - - L7
Disposals - 4.0) 1.3 (45.7) - (51.0)
As at 31 March 2023 190.2 6.5 44.2 80.4 363 357.6
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
As at 26 March 2021 (89.8) (&%) (1.2) (48.9) - (143.6)
Amortisation charge for the period (20.1) (L (0.3 (€} (2.0) (30.7)
Disposals - 1.6 - - - 1.6
As at 25 March 2022 (109.9) (3.2) (1.5) {56.1) (2.0) (172.7)
Amortisation charge for the period (18.8) 1.0y - (6.4} (3.1 (29.3)
Disposals - 40 1.3 457 - 510
As at 31 March 2023 (128.7) 0.2) (0.2) (16.8) (5.1) (151.0)
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 61.5 6.3 44.0 63.6 3i.2 206.%
As gt 25 March 2022 803 5.6 440 575 355 2229
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10.  Other intangible assets continued

During the year, the Group undertock a review of our fixed asset register fo determine assets that are no longer in use by the business.
Disposals of intangible assets in the current year with a gross cost and accumulated amortisation and impairment of £51.0m relate to this
review.

The Group holds intangible assets relating to the Landfill Gas {'LFG") business. The LFG business generates some of its income via the
production of Renewable Obligation Certificates (ROCs"). These are “green energy certificates” which are issued to operators of
accredited renewable generating stations for the eligible renewable electricity that they generate. ROCs are then sold on to energy
providers for which the Group recognises revenue on sales. The ROCs scheme losts for 20 years and the majority of landfill gas sites will
see their ROCs scheme terminate in financial year 2027. At this point, the revenue and profit profile of the LFG division will change
significantly. The Group recognised amortisation of £18.8m on LFG sites during the financial year (2022: £20.1m).

All amortisation charges are recognised in profit or loss. Included within IT development costs are internolly generoted ossets with o net
baok value of £3.2m (2022: £3.4m). The amortisation charge in relation 10 these ossets was £0.6m (2022: £0.6rm),

Given the significant investment in technology and IT development, the Group undertakes o review of the remaining useful lives of assets
each year and impairs where necessary those that are superseded by new technology. The key estimate underpinning the value in use for
IT projects is forecast costs.

IFRS 3 requires that on acquisition, intangiole assets are recorded at fair value. The Biffa brand was first created in the early 20th century
ond has been used throughout the Group since then. It remains a highly recognisable brand. Given the longevity of the brand, the Directors
consider the asset to have an indefinite life. The Directors reconsider the valuation of the brand at each reporting date. The recognition of
brond and landfill gas rights as intangible assets initially arose during the fair value exercise undertaken following the acquisition of the
Biffa Group by Wasteholdeo 1in 2008. The values were subsequently remeasured following the restructuring of the Group in 2013,

11.  Property, plant and equipment

Plant, Assets

Land and Landfill vehicles and under
buildings Sites* equipment construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
As af 26 March 2021 2677 3.4 418.3 26.2 8305.6
Acquired through business combination 198 - 292 - 490
Adjustment to prior period acquisitions 14 - - - 14
Additions 125 51 76.4 83 102.3
Disposals (2.5) G.1 (36.4) - (46.0)
Transfers? - 11 28.3 (28.3) 11
As at 25 March 2022 2919 99.5 515.8 5.2 913.4
Acguired through business combination 349 - 79 - 11.8
Adjustments to prior period acquisitions (Note 8) - - (2.1 - (2.1)
Additions 175 29 611 70.2 1517
Disposals (475) - (244.3) - (291.8)
Transfers (0.6) 2.2) 371 (36.5) (2.2)
As at 31 March 2023 265.2 100.2 375.5 39.9 780.8
1 Landfdl sites nofudes £59m (2022 €8 8rm) in rejohion to future economic benefit 1o be derived as a result of acrively fuifiling afrer-care obiiganons rhot results in gas

generation. Landfill site transfers include £2 2m (2022 £1 L) in relation to *he future economic benefit 1o be derived os a result of actively fulfilirg af-er-care obligations thar
results in gas generation. When the obligation recognised as a provision gives dccess "o furure economic benefits an asset in property, plant ard equipment 1g recognisad.
Chariges In the provision arising from revised estimatas that relare ro the asset are recordea us Jc.ustmen's “0 the carrying value of 'he asse” When fhe carryirg valle of *he
as5eT Is negative, “hese are clossifiec o provisions
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11. Property, plant and equipment contfinued

Plant, Assets
Land and Landfill vehicles and under
buildings Sites! equipment construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As at 26 March 2021 (53.3) (56.3) (132.8) (1.0) (243.4)
Depreciation charge for the period {20.4) (4.7) {67.8) - (34.9)
Disposals 6.0 - 36.1 - 421
As at 25 March 2022 (67.7) (61.0) {1665 1.0 £296.2)
LDepreciation charge tor the period RS (4.5) (835} - (108.0)
Impairment charge for the period - - .1 - [SaY)
Cisposals 452 - 2419 - 2B7.1
As at 31 March 2023 (42.4) (65.8) (172.2) (1.0) (126.2)
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 222.8 4.6 358.3 38.9 654.6
As at 25 March 2022 2242 85 3493 5.2 617.2

L Landfill sites includes £5 9m {2022, £8 8m) in relation to future economic benefit to be derived as a result of actively fulfilling afrer-care obligations that results in gas.

generation Landfill site fronsfers include £2 2m (2022: £1 1m) ir relation To the future economic benefit to be derived as o result of actively fulfilling after-core obligatons thar
rasults in gas generation. when the obligation recognised a5 d provision gives access to future economic benefits, an asset in praperty, plont and squipment 1s recognised
Changes in the pravision arising from revised estirmates that relate to the osset are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of “he asser when rhe carrying value of the

asse’ 1s neganve, These Gre classified to provisions.

Assets corresponding to the Poplars Anaerchic Digestion Plant with a total net book value of £9.1m were impaired to £nil during the year

due 1o its performance being weaker than expected.

During the year, the Group undertook a review of our fixed asset register to determine assets that are no longer in use by the business.
Disposals of property, plant and equipment in the current year with a gross cost and accumulated depreciation and impairment of

£281.8m relate 1o this review.

In addition, further ossets were disposed of in return for consideration. These consisted of Land and Buildings with o net book value of
£2.3m and vehicles and eguipment with a net book value of £2.4m. Total proceeds of £7.0m were received (2022; £6.9m), of which £5.2m
was cash, leading fo the recognition of a goin on disposal of fixed assets of £2.3m {2022: £6.2m).

Ltand and buildings and tandfill sites at net book value comprise:

2023 2022

Land and Landfill Land and Landfill

buildings sites buildings sites

£m £m £m £m

Freehold 42.0 125 428 135
Long leasehold 652 143 587 16.0
Short leasehold 115.6 78 122.7 90
222.8 34.6 2242 385

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of plant, property and equipment

amounting to £49.6m (2022: £12.5m).
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11. Property, plant and equipment continued

Right-of-use assets

The Group records its right-of-Use assets within property, plant and equipment. The Group leases assets including buildings and plant and

equipment.

The avergge lease term is 14.8 years (2022: 12.8 years). The Group has options to purchase certain plant and eguipment for a nominal

amount at the end of the lecse term. The Group’s obligarions are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such ieases.

The carrying amount of the Group's total right-of-use assets included within Property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant,
Land and vehicles and
buildings equipment Total
Carrying amount £m £m £m
As ot 26 March 2021 1726 1234 2960
Acquired through business combination 137 36 173
Additions 82 203 285
Deprecidgtion charge for the period (17.9) (34.0) (519
Disposals 18 0.2 2.0
Lease medifications 07 - 0.7
As at 25 March 2022 179.1 115.5 292.6
Acguired through business combination a.1 21 22
Additions 110 521 631
Depreciation charge for the period (17.6) (38.2) (55.8)
Disposals (0.9) (0.6) (1.5)
Lease medifications 5.6 - 5.6
Transferred 1o owned assets (227 36 (17.1)
As at 31 March 2023 156.6 132.5 289.1
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 156.6 1325 289.1
As af 25 March 2022 179.1 1135 2926
12. Inventories
2023 2022
£m £m
Raw rnaterials and consumables 32 23
Finished goods 403 32.9
43.5 35.2

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisabie value. Inventories consumed in the period ended 31 March 2023 were £87.6m
(2022: £68.3m). Inventory written down in the period totalled £nil (2022: £nil). Reversals of inventory previously written down in the period

were €nil (2022: £nil).

At the end of the financial year £3.8m (2022: £4.2m) of inventory held by the Group related to C5G.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023

66



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. Trade and other receivables

2023 2022
Amounts falling due within one year £&m £m
Trade receivables 1835 178.0
Less expected credit loss allowance {6.3) (5.8)
Trade receivables - net 177.2 172.2
Other debtors 113 53
Prepayments 259 300
Prepaid landfill provision expenditure 3.3 01

217.9 207.6

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of frode receivables epproximates their fair value.

All amounts included within other debtors and prepayments dre due within one year. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Due to their short
maturities, the fair volue of trade and other receivables approximates to their book value. The average credit period taken on invoices was 38 days
{2022: 35 days).

Included within Other debtors is £6.1m reloted to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland. Refer 1o Note 34 for further information.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debts with a carrying amount of £32.5m (2022: £16.2m) which are past due at the reporfing
date, representing 18% of the total balance (2022: 9%).

Credit imits for new customers are assigned based on the customer’s credit quality. An external credit scoring system is used before assigning any
credit limir over £500. Management monitors the utilisation of credit limits regularty. The trade receivables balance consists of a large number of
customer balances, in excess of 87,000, reprasented largely by local account customers, and there is no significant concentfration of credit risk,

The Group writes off o trode receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financiol difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example when a customer enters liquidation. The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables. As the Group's
historical credif loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance
based on past due status is not distinguished between type of customer.

2023 2022

Expected Lifetime Expected Lifetime

cradit loss expected credit loss expected

rate credit loss rate credit loss

Trade receivables - days past due % £fm % £m
1 to 30 days 1.0% 34 1.0% 2.7
31 to 60 days 1.0% 0.3 1.0% 05
61 to 90 days 1.0% 0.3 1.90% 0.3
Over 90 days 50 0% 2.3 50.0% 2.3
6.3 5.8

The allowance for expected credit loss {'ECL) includes individually impaired trade receivobles which are in excess of 120 days overdue, in liguidation
or are the subject of legal action. The ECL recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these frade receivables and the
present value of any expected recoveries, Expacted credit losses are recognised in accerdance with the simplified approach ser outin IFRS 9.

2023 2022

Movement in expected credit loss £m £m
Balance ar the beginning of the period 5.8 4.6
Impairment losses recognised in the period 54 1.4
Amounts recovered during the period (3.9) 1.0
Amounts written off as uncollectcble 1.0 (12
Balance at the end of the period 6.3 5.8

Long-term receivables

2023 2022

Amounts falling due after more than one year £m £m
Funds on long-ferm deposit 25 23
2.5 2.3

No expected credit loss has been recognised for long-term receivables on the basis that the counterparties are A-rated financial institutions.
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14, Assets and Liabilities related to Contracts with Customers

Contract assets

2023 2022

£m £m

Current contract assets 652.5 718
42.5 718

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration for work completed but not invoiced at the balance sheet date.
Contract assets are fransferred to frade receivables when the amounts are agreed by the customer. On most confracts, certificates and
agreement s by The customer on a monthly basis, All contract gssefs held at 31 March 2023 is expected to be invoiced and transferred to
Trade receivables within the next 12 months.

None of the contract assets at the end of the repaorting period is past due, and, taking into account the historical default experience and
the future prospects in the industry, the Directars consider that no contract assers are impaired.

Contract liabilities

2023 2022

£m £m

Current contract ligbilities {279) (27.1)
(27.9) {27.1)

The timing of payments received from customers, relative to the recording of revenue, can have a significant impact on the liabilities
recorded on the Group's Statement of Financial Position.

Certain contracts have payment terms based on contractual milestonas, which are not necessarify aligned to when revenue is recognised,
particuiarly for those contracts with revenue recognised over fime by reference fo the stage of completion. wWhere cash is received in
advonce of work corried out, and therefore the revenue recognised, a contract liability arises.

The contract liabilities primarily relate fo the advance consideration received from customers in respect of performance obligations which
have not yet been fully satisfied and for which revenue has not been recognised. All contract llabllities held at 31 March 2023 are expectad
to satisfy performance obligations in the next 12 months.

15. Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 41.2 402
Short-term deposits 0.1 o)
41.3 40.8

Deposits comprise of an insurance deposit of £0.1m (2022: £0.6m) which represents cash held as security for self-insurance obligations.

16. Financial instruments

2023 2022

Assets held ot amortised cost £m £m
Liguidity fund! 3.5 10.7
2.5 10.7

1 Current investments held by Bray Insurance Compaony Limited, the Groun's captive insurance company
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16. Financial instruments continued

Derivative financial instruments
The derivatives that the Group has entered into gualify for hedge designation as cash flow hedges under IFRS 9. Alf cash flow hedges were
deemed to be fully effective and therefore movements in fair value were all recognised within the hedge reserve.

The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange rate contracts which all mature within one year, these forwards will be used by the
Group fo hedge Euro currency payments for the export of Refuse Derived Fuel ('RDF’). The forward foreign exchange contracts have
resulted in the recognition of a derivative liability of £nil (2022: £6.2m).

The Group enters intfo commodity swaps to hedge against future movements in fuel prices. At the end of the financial year these hedges
were in an asset position of £0.5m (2022: £11.7m).

The fair value measurements of derivatives are clossified as Level 2 in the foir value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13 Fair Vaiue
Measurement, as they are derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices).

2023 2022

Fair value Notional Fair value Notional

£m £m £m £m

Forward foreign exchange contracts - 53 02y 6.3
Commodity hedges 05 348 117 23.9
0.5 40.1 11.5 30.2

The table below represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on the Group's derivative financial instfruments.

Fareign exchange risk Infergst rgte risk Commodity risk Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at the beginning of the period 0.2 03 - 2.7 {11.7) [6X.) (11.5) 36
Gain / (loss) arising on changes in fair (0.2) (0.1) - 14 (0.2) (16.1 (0.4) {14.8)
value of hedging instruments during the
period
(Gain) / loss reclassified o profit or loss - - - - (4.1) - - - (4.1
forecast transaction no longer expected to
occur
Cumulative (gain) / loss transferred fo - - - - 114 38 114 38
initial carrying amount of hedged items
Balance at the end of the period - 0.2 - - (0.5) {11.7) {0.5) (11.5)
Borrowings
2023 2022
£m £m
Private plocements and bank loans 4185 6303
EVP preference fiability 14.3 14.3
432.8 644.6
2023 2022
Book Average Book Average
value interest rate value interest rate
£m Y £m %
Current
Private placements and bank loans 3450 2.6% - -
EVP preference instrument 63 - - -
3513 -
Non-current
Private placements and bank loans - - 354.0 2.8%
Parent company loan 735 8.3% - -
EVP preference instrument 8.0 - 14.3 -
81.5 368.3
Totdl borrowings 4328 368.3
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16, Financial instruments continued

Borrowings confinued

Refer to Note 23 for the cashflow movement on borrowings during the current and prior financial perieds.

The Group repaid its Revolving Credit Facility (‘RCF’) duning the year, using funds loaned from its parent company, Biffa Bidco Limited.

The private placements have been classified as current because they were terminated on 23 May 2023.

In the year ended 24 March 2017 certain pre-IPO lenders were issued with preference share capital in wasteholdco 1 Limited in exchange
for settlement of amounts due to them. The associated liability is £14.3m.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost and the EVP preference liabflity is measured at fair value. Ali financiol assets and financial
liabilities have been classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.

Interest rates on borrowings

2023 2022
Principal Average Principal Average
amount interest rate amount  interest rate
£m % £m %
Term facility - - Q.0 32%
Parent company loan 73.5 8.3% - -
Private placerment - £150.0m 150.0 2.7% 150.0 2.7%
Private placement - £195.0m 195.0 2.5% 195.0 2.5%
418.5 354.0
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
2023 2022
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
. Notes £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables? 13 177.2 1772 172.2 172.2
Financial asset arising on liquidity fund 9.5 95 107 10.7
Financial asset arising from IFRIC 12 29 43 43 40 4.0
Financial asset arising from capitalisotion of borrowing fees? - - 1.0 1.0
Financial asset arising from investment in Lovejunk Limited 0.6 oX 3 [oX-} G.b
Funds on long-term deposit 13 25 25 23 23
Loans to joint ventures and associates 202 20.2 143 143
Derivative financial instrument 09 09 11.7 117
Cash and cash equivalents 15 413 413 408 40.8
256.5 256.5 257.6 257.6
Financial liabilities
Private placements and bank loans? (345.0) (306.0) (354.0) (35374
Parent company loan (73.5) (73.5) - -
Lease lichilities 24 (2835) {283.5) (276.3) (276.3)
EVP preference liability 29 (14.3) (14.3) (14.3) (14.3)
Trade and other payobles® 17 (305.6) (305.6) (286.7) (286.7)
Deferred and contingent consideration (5.9 (5.9 7.2) {7.2)
_Derivative financial instrument Q.4 (Q.4) (0.2) (0.2
{1,028.2) (989.2) (938.7) (922.1)
Net financial liabilities (77L.7) (732.7) (681.1) (664.5)
1 Trade gnd cother receivables excludes prepayments ard other debtors
2 Trage and other pavables excluges con*ingent liabilthies, deferred income, faxghion and socal secunty and other non-financiol lobilites
E2 Privare placernents and bark loans includes £195 Om green loan following the launch of .ts Sustanobility-Linked Fingnce Sromework i the year ended 25 March 2022, The tund

s hnked to two Key performance targets' reducing scope | and 2 GHG emissions by 50% oy 2030; and tmpling Biffg Polyrrers plastics recychng capacity by 2025

4 Lnamortised transaction costs of €1 Om 'ncurred in the ornigination of the private plocemants have been wrirten off during the year

The fair vaiues of non-gerivative financial assets and liabilities are determined based on discounted cash flow analysis using current

marker rates for similar instruments.
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16. Financial instruments continued

Financial risk management

Ihe Group's activities expose 1t to a var ety of Tinancial risks: market risk (inciuding capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall nsk manaogement programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets ond seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk managgement in
the above areas is carried cut under a policy approved by the Board of Directors.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital structure using a number of measures and taking into account its future strategic plans. Such measures
include its net interest cover, liquidity and leverage ratios. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated staterment of
financial position plus Net Debt. Net Debt is calculated as total borrowings {including current and non-current berrowings as shown in the
consalidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. The Directors are satisfied that the current risk manogement
sfrategy is appropriate and ettective.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest-bearing assets include cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at floating rates. The Group's income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market inferest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-term
borrowings. Berrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Group policy is To maintain an
appropriate propartion of its borrowings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps te achieve this when necessary.

The interest rate risk profile of the Group's financial assets and liabilities was as follows:

2023 2022
Financial ligbilities (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating rate - .0
Fixed rate 7020 6213
Non-interest bearing
EVP preference instrument 14.3 143
Other financial liabifities 3115 2939
1,027.8 938.5

Fixed rate financial liabilities relate to lease liabiiities. Non-interest bearing financial liabilities comprise trade payables.

2023 2022
Financial assets (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating rate - cash and cash equivalents 413 40.8
Floating rate - other 25 2.3
Fixed rate 20.2 -
Non-interest bearing
Liquidity fund 9.5 6.9
Other financial assets 1821 1921
255.6 245.9

The interest on fixed rate financial instruments is fixed until the maturity of the investment. The interest on floating rate financial
instruments is reset at infervals of less than one year. The ofher financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not included in the
chove tables are non-interest bearing and therefore not subject to interest rate risk.

Fixed rate and non-interest bearing financial assets and licbilities are exposed to fair value interest rate risk and floating rate financial
assets and liobilities to cash flow interest rate risk.

Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from currency expesures primarity related fo the disposal of RDF vida export 1o Europe. The
Group enfers into forward confracts fo purchase Euros bdsed upon expected costs. These derivatives are classified as cash flow hedges.

Price risk

The Group is not materially exposed to any equity securities price risk, but is exposed tfo commaodity price risks on ifs outputs. The
commodities that the Group is exposed to are fuel, electricity, paper, glkiss, cardboard, steel, aluminium and plastics (including HGPE and
PET). The price risk associated with commodities is considered to be in the ordinary course of business for the Group.
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16. Financial instruments continued

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on o Group basis as appropriate. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments
and deposits with panks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures fo customers, including outstanding receivables. For banks
and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of A are accepted.

Management does not expect any significant losses of receivables that have not been provided for as shown in Note 13,

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial information, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk. These amounts include receivable balances from local authority clients, hence are not exposed to
significant credit risk. Given the above factors, the Boord does not consider it necessary to present a detailed analysis of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The Group ensures that there are sufficient committed loon facilities to meet short-ferm business requirements, after raking into account

the cash flows from operations and its holding of cash and cash equivalents. The expected undiscounted cash flow of the Group’s
financiaf assets and liabilities (including derivatives), by remaining contractual mafurity, at the balance sheet date is shown below:

2023
Due between  Due befween Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
one year years years beyond Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings® (345.0) - - (73.5) (418.5)
Ledse liabilities (55.1) (41.6) 74.9) (1119 (283.5)
Trade and other payables {300.0) 4.1 (1.2) (0.3) (305.6)
Deferred and contingent consideration 3.0 {0.3) (0.9) (1.6} (5.9)
EVP ligbility 6.3) (8.0 - - (14.3)
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 413 - - - 41.3
Liguidity fund 95 - - - 9.5
Trade and other receivables 177.2 - - - 177.2
(481.5) {54.0) {77.0) {187.3) (799.8)
1 A restructure of the Group's debt became effective in May 2023, as part of which the private placements were refinancea See Note 34 for further cetails
2022
Due between Due between Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
onhe yedr years years beyond Totat
£m £m £m £fm £im
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings - - 9.0 (345.0) (354.0)
Lease liabilities (538) (43.1) (69.4) (110.0) (276.3)
Trade and other payables (286.7) - - - (2867
Deferred and conringent consideration (4.2} (0.3) 0.8) (19 (7.2)
EVP liability - - (14.3) - (143
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 40.8 - ~ - 40.8
Liquidity fund 10.7 - ~ - 0.7
Trade gnd other receivables 172.2 - ~ - 172.2
{121.0) (43.4) (93.5) (456.9) (714.8)
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17. Trade and other payables

2023 2022
£m £m
Current

Trade poyables 2249 2087
Taxation and social security 492 540
Interest payable 1.5 1.8
Accruals 718 756
Other payables . n 18 N [0}
R 349.2 340.7

Non-current
Trade and other payobles A6 6.6
— 5.6 6.6
354.B 547.3

Included within trade and other payatles is £2.0m (2022: £2.3m} in relation to government grants,

The taxation cand social security figure of £49.2m (2022 £54.0m) includes £0.1m (2022: £0.3m) in relation to the corporation tax creditor.

18. Provisions

Landfill
rastoration HMRC
and after- Onetrous IFRIC Landfill Tax
care Insurance contracts Dilapidations 12 enquiry Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

As at 26 March 2021 71.0 16.1 20.5 8.8 - - 1.0 117.4
Utilised during the period (4.7 (5.8) (6.3 (0.2} - - (3.5) (20.5)
Acquired through business
combination - - 20 34 127 - 50 231
Charged to the income
statement during the period 44 2.7 4.2 1.5 - 17.0 1.3 313
Impact of real discount rate
changes to profit or loss (0.3) - - - - - - {0.3)
Unwind of discount 2.4 - - - 0.4 - - 28
Transfers from fixed assets
(Note 113 0.9 - - - - - - 09
Transfers from trade and other
payables . - - - - - 3.0 - 30
As at 25 March 2022 739 15.0 204 13.5 131 20.0 38 157.7
utilised during the period (4.4) (D.4) (6.2) 0.2) (1.4) (3.7) (2.2) (18.5)
Adjustments to prior period
acquisitians (Note 8) - - - - 38 - - 38
Charged to the income
statement during the period 4.9 1.9 61 0.1 - 50.7 09 646
Impact of real discount rate
changes to profit or loss (24.8) - - - - - - (24 8)
Unwind of discount 29 - - - 0.4 - - 33
Transfers to fixed assets
(Note 11) {2.2) - - - - - - (2.2)
Transfers from trode and other
receivabies 33 - - - - - - 33
Transfers from /(t0) frade and
other payables - 0.3 - - - 3.0 - (2.7
As ot 31 March 2023 536 14.8 203 13.4 15.9 64.0 25 1845
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18, Provisions continued

Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows:

2023 2022
U el EM__ gm
Current 20.0 203
Non-currenr 164.5 1374
184.5 157.7

Landfill restoration and affer-care

As part of its normaol acrivities, the Group undertakes to restore 1ts landfill sifes and to maintain the sites and control leachate ana
methane emissions from the sites. A provision is made for these anticipated costs. A number of estimate uncertainties atfect the
calcuigtion, including the impact of regulation, climate change, accuracy of site surveys, fransportation costs, and changes in the reat
discount rate. The provision incorporutes our best estimates of the financial effects of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of
these estirates could materially impact the calculation of the provision. Restoration costs are incurred as each site is filled and in the
period immediately afier its closure. Muintenance and leachate and methane control costs are incurred as each site is filled and for a
number of yedars post closure. After-care costs are incurred for o number of years post closure. This period can vary significantly from site
o site, depending upon the types of waste landfilled, the speed ar which It decomposes, the way the site s engineered and the regulatury
requirements specific to the site.

Changes 0 the provision arising from revised estimates or discount rates or changes in the expected timing of expenditures that reiate 1o
property, plant and equipment are recognised within the income statement, The associated cutflows are estimoted to arise over a period
of up to &0 years depending on the date of each site closure In defermining the provision, the estimates for future expenditure reguired to
settle the obligation are inflated using longer-term inflation rates, and discounted using the nominal discount rate as explained in rhe
‘discounting of provisions’ section below.

Insurance
The associated cutflows are estimated to anse over a period of up To six years from the balance sheetr dare. The Insurdance provision mcludes selt
insurance by the Group on both low and tigh value items,

Onerous contracts

The Group recognisas anerous contract provisions for any unavoidable ner losses ansing from contracts. The Group reviews i1 onerous confract
provisions at each reporting date and whenever there 13 a material change i management’s expectations of the contract. At the end of the
financial year the Group held onerous contract provisiens 1n relation to the following contracts:

. Epping Forest District Council (<2 yedrs remaining)

- South Oxfordshire & vale (<2 years remadining)

. Leicester City Council (<6 years remaining)

The future cash inflows from these onerous confracts are relanively predictable as they are fixed and based on the terms of the cantract. However,
the costs associated with delivering the contract can vary and assumprions on future cash outtlows is considered a signiticant esnimare when
maodelling the future net cash outflows on onerous contract pravisiens.

Dilapidations
Lilapidations arise on leased ifems whare the Group has an obligation ta return these items to thair arigingt condition as ar The lease inceprion,

IFRIC 12

The IFRIC 12 provision represents the future capital expenditure on reverting assers on the wWest Sussex Recycling contract This coniract was
acguired as part of the Vindor acquisinion and a provision of £12.7m was nitially recognised on the acquisition opering bolanca sheet in the oriar
pedod. A subsequent remedgsurement exercise resulted in fhe provision en the opening balance sheet being increased by £3.8m in the cunent year
The provision is discounted vver the duranon of the contract rerm

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

As sef out In Note 1, Biffg wWoste Services Limited ('BwWSL) 1s currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of its Lanatill
Tax comphance (‘the Enquiry’), as part of cancerns HMRC has primaorily relating to the interprefation of the gqualifying fines regime set out in LFTT.
HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the porential conduct of BWSL and specific custamers, which may have lec
1o the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid

In Biffa's view, and based on advice received to date, there are o range of possible outcomes to the Enquiry and it 1s difficult to accurarely
ascerrain the guantum or fiming of any potential iability with certainty or precision. whilst Bifta believes it has a strong case, There remains
significant uncertainty in the ultimate cutcome and a provision has been recognised for £64m, including associated costs and Nferest, wnicn
addresses the range of matters arising from the £377m of protective assessments received o date and the turther astimates of ligbility shared by
HMRC i fhe context of without prejudice sefflement discussions disclosed in Note 1 excluding the element we consider to be a contingent liability
disclosed in Nore 27

The estimate assumes that apy possible penakty that could be levied would be suspended and accordingly has not bean recogmsed Paymeant woula
not be required at the end ot the suspension period providing the relevant conditions are met,
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18. Provisions continued

Other
Other provisions relate to legal fees and life assurance.

Discounting of provisions

Long-term provisions included in landfill restoration and after-care have been inflated and discounted using the below nominal rates. The

rates reflect the period of the obligation on a site-by-site basis which varies between 10 and 60 years,

Long-term provisions included in onerous contracts have been discounted using the below nominal rates.

Inflation rate

Discount rate

Period of abligation 2023 2022 2023 2022
5 years 2.4% 3.6% 4.9% 2.7%
10 years 2.9% 3.6% 4.8% 2.8%
20 yeors 3.3% 3.6% 4.9% 2.9%
50 years 3.2% 3.4% 4.6% 2.9%
&0 years 3.1% 3.3% 4.4% 27%

An increase of 1% in the recal discount rate {at current cost) would result in a decrease of environmental provisions of approximately £8.0m
(2022 £16.0m). A 10% increase in cash outflows would result in an increased environmental provision of £5.2m (2022: £7.8m). Long-term
afrer-care provisions included in landfill restoration and after-care provisions have been inflated at a rate of 3.1% (2022: 3.3%). An increase

of 1% in the rate of inflation would result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £11.2m (2022: £23.1m).

In arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale contracts, the Group has discounted the
future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.6%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the provision charge would decrease by £0.2m. In
arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Leicester contract, the Group has discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate

of 4.5%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the provision charge would decrease by £1.5m.
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19. Deferred taxation

The following are the major tax assets and Habilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current penod:

Temporary
difference
arising on Recognised
property, Share- Retirement Qther tax losses
plant and based benefit intangible carried
equipment payments Provisions Hedging surplus Goodwil! assers forward Toral
£m £m £m £m £m £m im £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 25.6 23 0.8 - 215 6.8 (33.7) 84 (111
Acquired through business
combinanon (5.5) - - - 9.5 - 96) - (15.4)
Credit / (charge) 1o the
ncome statement durng
the per od 6.6 a4 05 o] (43) a8 (3.3} 110 1.2
Charge to other
comprenens.ve Income
dur ng the period - - - 2.2 350 - - - 7.2)
As at 25 March 2022 26.7 27 1.3 2.1) (41.5) 7.6 (46.6) 19.4 (32.5)
Acquired through business
combination (2.5) - - - - - G.1y - (5.6)
Adjustments o prior period
acguisitions (Note 8) 3.4 - - - - - 03 - 37
{Charge) / credif to the
‘ncome staternent during
the period 12.9) (4.2 16.2 - 29 (1.3) {0.5) 31 (2.5
Credit to other
comprenensive INnCome
dur:ng the period - 15 - 2.4 206 - ~ - 24.5
As ar 31 March 2023 14.7 = 17.5 0.3 (23.8) 6.3 (49.9) 22.5 (12.4)

A deferred tax liability of £24.5m (2022: £32.5m) has been recognised in the current year using the tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%). Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceaile right to ser off current tax assets against current tax liabifities.

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had unused tox losses of £106.9m (2022; £34.6m) available for offset against future profivs. A deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of £89.7m (2022: £77.4m) of these losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining £17.2m (2022: £17.2m) as it is not considered probable that there will be future faxable profits available in the siatutory entity in
which these losses are being carried forward.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting pericd and reduced to the extent that it is no longer

probakble that sufficient taxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered,

The Group has considered the impact of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient taxable profits (incduding loss of revenue
from cessation of ROCs in 2027, the potential Deposit Return Scheme ('DRS’) in England and increased carbon taxes) in subsequent
reporting periods for the recoverability of the tax asset. The overall impact from the cessation of ROCs has been considered in forecasts,
however given the low financial impact of the DRS legislation and increased corbon taxes, the Group does not consider it 1o have a
marterial impact on the recoverability of the deferred tax asset.
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20. Share-based payments

Share-based payments charges of £7.7m (2022: £3.7m) have been charged to administrative expenses. The increased charge during the
vear is due to the acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP. On acguisition, dll schemes either vested early or were cancelled, resulting in an

nreelernted charge

During the year the Group had one conditional share-based payment arrangement granted to Directors and employees. The arrangement
lopsed in full on completion of the ECP acquisition. The likelihood of lapse was reflected in the reduced fair value on grant, as detailed in

the following table.

Performance Share Plan

Number of Share price

aptions ~ Contractual at date of Number of Expected Fair value

originally lite grant  employees Expected life Risk-free  per option

Date of grant granted (years) {pence) at grant volatility (years) rate {pence)
2 July 2018 1,014,880 29 251.0 36 24% 2.93 0.71% 173.2
1 October 2018 218,359 29 2530 2 24% 2.93 0.89% 1738
11 December 2018 18,819 29 1922 1 24% 2.93 0380% 1141
1 July 2019 1,773,988 3.0 21L0 37 25% 3.0 0.54% 1128
1 July 2020 2,354,948 3.0 201.0 77 27% 2,93 (0.07)% 1077
1 June 2021 29,792 30 2005 1 30% 209 0.09% 1744
14 Jure 2021 1855274 3.0 2935 41 29% 301 0.14% 187.6
4 Qcrober 2022 1,051,065 3.0 409.2 26 39% 3.0 4.05% 345

The Group uses the following fair value models to value its share awards namely stochastic, black-scholes and chaffe model.

The expected valatility is a measure of the amount by which a share price is expected to fluctuate during the period. It is calculated based
on statistical angalysis of daily share prices over the length of the award period. A reconciliation of movements in the number of share

awards can be summarized as follows:

Number of options

Outstanding as at

Date of grant originally granted Vested Lapsed / forfeited 31 March 2023
2 July 2018 1,014,880 (820,31%) (194,561) -
1 October 2018 218,359 (218,359) - -
11 December 2018 18,819 (18,819 - -
1 July 2019 1,773,988 (800,561) (973,427) -
1 Juby 2020 2,354,948 (2,058,878) (296,070) -
1 June 2021 29,792 (29,792) - -
14 June 2021 1.855,274 (1,066,675) (788,559) -
4 Qcrober 2022 1,051,065 - (1,051,065) -

The Performance Share Plan (‘PSP provides for the grant of awards in the form of conditional free shares or nil-cost options. The July
2019, July 2020 and June 2021 awards vested during the year ended 31 March 2023, with the latter two vesting early due to the sale to ECP.
The 14 June 2021 award was reduced by one third for time pro-ration to reflect the early vest. The October 2022 award lapsed in full on
completion of the sale to ECP. Given the acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP and subsequent delisting, there are expected fo be no future

PSP awards.

Sharesave Plan

In the financial year 2017 the Biffa Group launched the Biffa Sharesave Plan fto all employees with six months or more continuous
employment at the date of the scheme launch. The scheme is subject to HMRC rules which limit the monthly contributions to £500. The
scheme term is for three years and options may be exercised during the six months after completion of the Save As You Earn contract.

Since the launch of the scheme new Sharesave Plans have been launched in subsequent financial years under the same terms.

There were no new options granted during the year. All Sharesove Plans ended on acguisition of the Biffa Group by ECP.
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21. Reserves

Share capital

Number £
As af 25 March 2022 305,508,483 3,059,085
Share issues 3,389,261 33,892
As at 31 March 2023 309,297,744 3,092977

Share premium
The share premium represents amounts received in excess of the nominal value of sharas issued since IPQO, net of the direct costs
associated with issuing those shares.

£m
As at 25 March 2022 2475
Share issues 4.6
As at 31 March 2023 252.2

Merger reserve
The opening merger reserve of £170.3m arose on both the acquisition of Wasteholdco 1 Limited in 2008 and o Jersey registered ‘cash box’
company that facilitated an equity raise in 2020,

£m
As ot 25 March 2022 170.3
As at 31 March 2023 1703
Hedging reserve
2023 2022
£m £m
Balance at the beginning of the period 9 (5.4)
Fair value (Jloss) / goin arising on hedging instruments during the period (10.9) 15.0
Tax relating to items that may be reclassified subsequently 1o profit or loss 24 (2.2)
Net gain on cash flow hedges in joint ventures and associates (net of tax) 19.8 35
Baiance at the end of the period 212 9.9
22. Retained earnings
2023 2022
£m £m
Balance at the beginning of the period 524 439
Loss for the period (16.7) (17.6)
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the period (519 337
Value of employee service in respect of share option schemes {excluding NICs) 4.7 27
Purchase of shares in EBT (1.5) (3.6)
Deferred tax movement in share option schemes 1.5 -
Dividends paid (14.3) (6.7)
Balance at the end of the period {35.8) 52.4
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23. Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in

net debt

2023 2022

£m £m

Nel incredse in cash and cash equivalents 05 10.0
Net increase in private placements and bank loans (64.5) (156.4)
Net (increase) / decrease in lease liabilities (7.2) 7.4
Movement in Group Net Debt in the period (71.2) (139.0)
Group MNet Debt at the beginning of the period (595.8) (456.8)
Group Net Debt at the end of the period (667.0) (595.8)

Analysis of Group Net Debt

2023 2022

£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 413 40.8
Lease ligbilities (283.5) (276.3)
Private placernents ard loans (418.5) (354.0)
EVF preference liability (6.3 (6.3)
Group Net Debt {667.0) (595.8)
EVP preferance liability 63 6.3
Other finance instruments 9.5 10.7
Covenant basis Net Debt (651.2) ¢{578.8)

The £6.3m EVP preference licbility has been Included within Group Net Debt as it is paycble to EVP preference shareholders. The remaining
£8.0m liability payable to EVP preference shareholders will be funded by reduced tax payments on future eamings.

The Group’s leverage is calculated on Group Net Debt as follows:

2023 2022
Group leverage ratio (Net Debt: Adjusted EBITDA) 3.0x 3.1x
Adjusted EBITDA is defined and reconciled to Operating Profit in the Appendix to the financial statements.
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities ore those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.
As at As at
25 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 31 March
2022 cash flows loans subsidiary leuses Changes! 2023
£fm £&m £m £m £m £m £m
Lease liabilities (276.3) 72.2 - (2.2) {68.7) (8.5) (283.5)
Private placements and loans (354.0) 13.4 {72.5) (4.4} - (1.0) (418.5)
EVP preference liability (14.3) - - - - - (14.3)
(644.6) 85.6 (72.5) (6.6) (68.7) (9.5) (716.3)

1 Other changes Includes interast expense recognised on lease liabilities. disposals of lease liobilities; and inferest accrued on loans and privare placements.
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23. Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in net debt continued

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities continued

As at As at

26 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 25 March

2021 cash flows loans subsidiary leases Changas? 2022

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Lease liabilities (283.7) 62.8 - (173) (319) (6.2) (276.3)
Private placements and loans (197.6) 1911 (345.0) - - 2.5 (354.0)
EVP preference liability (47.6) - - - - 33.3 (14.3)
(528.9) 253.9 {345.0) {17.3) {31.9) 24.6 (644.6)

1 Other changes inchizes interest axpense recogrised o lease liabilities; disposals of fease liabdities; ond interest accrued on leans and private olacements,

24. Lease liabilities

Lease obligations are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and after mere than 12

months from the reporting date, as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Current 55.1 538
Non-current 228.4 2225
2835 276.3

Undiscounted payments Present value

2023 2022 2023 2022

Lease liability maturity analysis £m £m £m £m
within one year 653 62.2 55.1 53.8
More than one year but less than fwo years 55.0 490 416 431
More than two years but less than five years 100.0 79.5 749 69.4
After five years 178.6 2571 1119 110.0
3989 4478 2835 2763

Less future finance charges {115.4) (171.5) - -
283.5 276.3 2835 276.5

The average lease term is 14.8 years (2022: 12.8 years). For the period ended 31 March 2023, the effective borrowing rate was 4.0% (2022:

2.1%).

Costs / (income) recognised in the income starement relating to leases and right-of-use assets are s follows:

2023 2022

Notes £m £m

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 11 55.8 519
Interest expense on lease liobilities 3 10.3 9.8
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets 4 (3.3) (3.3)
Expense relating to short-ferm and low-value assets 4 216 255

Cash repayments of £72.2rm (2022; £62.8m) on leases have been made in the year.
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits

Defined contribution schemes
During the period the Group incurred a £13.3m charge (2022: £11.5m) ‘n relation to defined contributions schemes.

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operaftes a number of defined benefit schemes: Biffa Pension Scheme [BPS"), an Unfunded Unapproved Retirement Benefits
Scheme ('UURBS"), the Federated Pension Plan {'FPP’), Prudenticl Platinum (‘Platirum’), tThe Kent County Council Pension Fund (the “Kent
Fung”), The Citrus Pension Plan- Biffa Waste Services Limited Section (previously named the Viridor Somerset Section)y ('Ciirus?), the Devon
County Council Pensicn Fund ('Devon’), the Staffordshire Pension Fund (the ‘Sraffordshire Fund’) and the Greater Manchester Pension Fund
('GMPF") {collectively, the ‘Schemes’),

The Group is also admitted in the Cormwall Pension Fund ‘the ‘Cornweall Fund®) and Norfolk Pension Fund (the ‘Norfolk Fund™). The
contractual terms of the commercial agreements that admit the Group To these schemes limit the actuarial risk that the Group is exposed
10, consequently the schemes have been accounted for as defined contribution schemes.

The Schemes offer both pensions 1 relirerent and death benefirs 1o members. all the schemes ore closed to new members. The BPS,
Platinum, Cornwall Fund, Kent Fund and Staffordshire Fund are open to accrual althcugh the BPS is closed for the majority of members
and only o few employees with statutory protections remain in active service. The BPS makes up around 95% of the total licbility across
the Schemes.

The Schemes expose the Group to actuarial risks such as market {investment) risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk, currency risk and
longevity risk.

The Schemes are administered by Trustees and the assets are held separately to the legal entity that 1s the Greup. The Trustee board of the
Schemes is composed of an independent Trustee, and other employer and member nominated Trustees (where the legal minimum
propertion of member nominoted Trustees has been upheld). The Trustees are required by low to act in the best interests of the members
of the Scheme Investment palicy with regard to the assets of the Schemes.

The Group considers two meagsures of the Scheme” surplus or deficit. The accounting position is shown on the Group's Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position. The funding position, calculated at the triennial actuariol assessment, is used ro agree contributions to the
Schemes. The fwo measures will vary because they are for different purposes, and are calculated of different rates and in different ways.
The key calculation difference is that the funding position considers the expected returns of Scheme assets when calculating the Scherme™
liability, whereas the accounting position under TIAS 19 discounts licbilities based on corporate bond yields.

The Schemes have an decounting surplus that is fully recognised on the basis that future economic benefits are unconditionally available
in the form of ¢ reduction in the future cash contributions or as o cash refund. Where o surplus of a defined benefir Scheme arises or there
is potential for o surplus to anise from committed future contriputions, the right of the Trustees to prevent the Group obtaining a refund of
that surplus is considered in determining whether it is necessary to restrict the amount of the surplus that is recognised.

A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2021 which revealed a funding surplus of £12.3m on the technical
provisions basis, a defigit of £106.9m against the solvency estimate, and a deficit of £86.2m against the low dependency estimate.

The Group will contribute as follows until the eartier of: i 30 June 2025, and ii. the dare on which Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited ({BCHL?)
and the parriciparing employers are notified by the Trustees that the Scheme has achieved its long-term target of reaching full funding on
the Low Dependency Basis for three consecutive guarter ends;

. the first payment was made during the year ended 31 March 2022 equal o £4.3my,

. the second payment was made during the year ended 31 March 2023 equal fo £4.3m;

+ the third payment will be made on or before 31 March 2024 equal to £4.3m; and

. rhereafter, poyments will be made in monthly instalments of £358,333 payable on or before the lust day of the month inwhich they
are due.

The Cornwall Fund, Norfolk Fund, Kent Fund, Staffordshire Fund agnd GMPF are ali Local Government Pension Schemes. When determining

the appropriate accounting tregtment for these schemes, the Group considers the extent to which it is exposed to actuaria! risk

throughout the term of the commercial contract and also obligated to fund any deficit on exit of the contract.

Investment risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculdted using o discount rate determined by reference to yields available on high-
quatity AA-rated corporate bonds, in other words, from the position of being fully funded then if the refurn on the Schemes’ assets were
below this rate, it would create a deficit in the Schemes,

In addition fo the naturgl interest rate hedging provided by 1ts investment in bonds, the Trustees also purchase derivatives to ensure that
the funding position of the Schemes are, overali, hecged ogainst 85% of movernents in long-term risk-free interest rates and 85% of
movements in inflation expectations. No annuities or specific mortality hedging products have been purchased by the Schemes.
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Interest risk

A decrease in the corporate bond yield will increase the Schemes' liabilities; however, this will be parhiaily offset by an increase in the value of the

Schemes’ corporate bond assets.

Longevity risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabiiities are calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of the Schemes’ members both during

and after their employment. An incredse in the life expectancy of the Schemes’ members will increase the Schemes’ liabiiities.

Infiation risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculoted by reference to the future expected pension indexation (both indexation in deferment
and pension increases in payment), which will depend on future inflation expectations, As such, an incredse in the expectation of future inflation will

increase the Schemes’ liabilities.

The lump sum death benefits paid to dependents of the Schemes’ members are insured with an external insurance cormpany. The present value of
the okligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial valuation

A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out gs at 31 March 2021 and has been updated to 31 March 2023 by a qualified independent

actuary. The major assumptions used by the actuory were (in nominal ferms) as follows:

2023 2022
Biscount rate 4.9% 29%
Rate of salary increase 3.2% 39%
rate of inflation - RPI 3.1% 4.2%
Rate of inflation - CPI 27% 3.4%
Rate of pension increases' - RPI with floor of 0% cap of 2.5% p.a. {pensioners / non pensioners) 2.0% 2.2% / 1.9%
Rare of pension increases' - RPI with floor of 0% cap of 5.0% p.c. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 2.9% 3.3% / 28%
Rate of pension increases' - RPT with floor of 0% cap of 6.0% p.o. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 3.0% 3.5% / 3.0%
Rate of pension increases® - CPI with floor of 0% cap of 3.0% p.a. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 27% 2.3% / 21%
Rafe of pension incregses! - CPI uncapped (pensicners / non-pensioners) 2.8% 3.3% / 3.0%
Longevity (years)
Expected future lifetime of a male pensioner currently oged 65 208 212
Expected future lifetime of a female pensioner currently aged 65 229 233
Expected future lifetime from age 65 of @ male member currently aged 45 221 225
Expected future lifetime from age 65 of a female member currently aged 45 245 249
L In excess of ony Gudranteed Minimum Pension (‘GMP')
The assets in the Schemes were:

2023 2022
£m %% £m %
Equity 824 18.5% 107.4 17.1%
Bonds 8.0 1.8% 108 1.7%
Properties and infrastructure 18.0 4.1% 225 3.6%
Hedge funds 721 16.2% 72.0 11.5%
LDI investments - BPS 164.2 37.0% 301.4 47.9%
QOrther 9.6 22.4% 114.2 18.2%

4443 628.3

Actual return on plan gssets (176.3) 9.4

The fair value of the above asset classes are determined based on quated (bid') market prices. Virtually all eguity and debt instruments have
quoted prices in active markets. Derivatives are classified as Level 2 instruments and hedge funds and property as Level 3 instruments under IFRS
13 Fair Value Measurament. It is the policy of the Schemes to use hedge funds and liability driven investments to hedge some of their exposure to

interest rate and inflation risks. This policy has been implemented during the current and prior years.

The key source of estmation uncertainty relates to the valuation of the property portfolio, where a valuation is cbtained annually from

professionailly qualified external vdluers, The evidence to support these property valuations is based prirarily on recent, comparable market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. However the assumptions applied are inherently subjective and so are subject to a degree of uncerranty

An incregse in the praperty valuation of 10% would increase pension assets by £1.8m. An increase in the valuation of fraded assets of 10% would

increase pension assets by £16.2m.
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits continued
Actuarial valuation continued

Reconciliation of movements in the present vaiue of the defined benefit obligation

2023 2022

£m £m

Benefit obligation ot the beginning of the period 470.6 525.8
Service cost 2.4 25
Interest cost 135 104
Contributions by scheme participants 0.4 0.3
Net remeasurement gains - financial (142.2) 56.2)
Net remeasurement gaing - demographic 4.2) (4.3)
Net remeasurement l0sses - experience 17.6 10
Newly recognised schemes - 7.8
Benefits paid (18.2) (16.8)
Past service costs - Q.1
Benefit obligation at the end of the period 3399 470.6

Reconciliation of movements in the fair value of Schemes’ assets

2023 2022

£m £m

Fair value of Scheme’s agsets at the beginning of the period 628.3 621.6
Interest income on Scheme’s gssets 18.1 12.4
Return on assets, excluding interest income (194.3) (3.0)
Other experience 1.7 -
Contributions by employers 10.2 57
Contributions by Scheme’s participants 0.4 0.3
Newly recognised schemes - 9.3
Benefits paid (18.2) (16.8)
Scheme administrative cos? (2.0) (1.2)
Fair value of Scheme’s assets at the end of the period 444.2 628.3

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in the period

2023 2022

£m £m

Current service cost 24 26
Past service cost - 0.1
Adminigtrative cost 19 1.2
Service cost adjustment in respect of Greater Manchester Pension Fund {0.8) iy
Net interest on the defined benefit surplus {4.8) (2.3
Components of defined benefit {gain) / cost recognised in the income statement (1.3) 05
Refurn on Scheme’s assets (exciuding amounts in net inferest expense) 194.2 3.0
Actudrial gain loss from changes in financial assumptions {142.2) {56.2)
Actuarial gain from changes in demographic assumptions (42 (43
Actuarial loss from rhanges in experience assumptions 15.9 10
Movement in asset ceiling (0.4) 31
Newly recognised schemes - (1.3)
GMPF Admission gagreement 19.2 .0
Companents of defined benefit cost / (gain) recognised in other comprehensive income 82.5 (48.7
Total defined benefit cost / (gain) recognised in total camprehensive income 81.2 (48.2}

The current service cost is included in operating costs in the income statement. The net interest expense is included within finance charges

in the income statement, The remeasurement of the net defined benefit ligbility is included in other comprehensive income.
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Actugarial valuation continued
The amount included in the consolidated starement of financial position arising from the Group's obligation in regpect of its defined
benefit Schemes is as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Present value of funded defined benefit coligation (339.9 (470.6
Fair value of funded Scheme’s assets 4442 6283
Adjustment for the restriction in asset benefit 4.0 (4.3
Adjustment in respect of GMPF agrsement (52) 127
Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation 95.1 166.1

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are the discount rate, expected future inflation
and mortdlity. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes in the assumptions occurring
at the end of the reporting period, while holding ail other assumpTions constant.

If the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit asset would decrease by £52.4m (2022: £104.6m).
If the inflation assumption increoses by 1% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022: 100.0m).
If the life expectancy increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefir asset would decrease by £9.6m (2022: £14.9m).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as if is unlikely
that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

Furthermaore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the
prejected unit credit method ar the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit
obligation liability recognised in the statement of financial position.

The Schemes’ participaring employers are Biffa Waste Services Limited, Biffa Municipal Limited, Biffa Environmental Municipal Services
Limited, Biffa Leicester Limited and Biffa West Sussex Limited. These subsidiaries fund the cost of any protected members’ future accrual
(to the extent that any protected members remain working for each of these companies) earmed on a yearly basis.

Protected members pay a range of fixed contributions of pensionable salary depending on what section of the Schemes they are in. These
contributions range from 3% to &% of pensionable salary. The residual contribution (including post service augmentotions) is paid by the
above entities of the Group. These contributions are agreed between BCHL (the Principal Employer) and the Trustees of the Schemes
following each triennial valuation of the Schemes.

In accordance with the Pensions Act 2004, the Schemes’ lichilities are measured using ¢ prudent discount rate at the triennial valuation,
but some asset out performance is allowed for when calculating the deficit recovery contributions paid for by the porticipating employers.
Additional liabilities stemming fram past service due to augmentation of benefits are added to the Schemes’ deficit.

The average duration of the benefit obligation ot 31 March 2023 is approximately 18 years (2022: 19 years).

The Group expects to make a contribution of £6.0m to the Schemes during the financial year fo 29 March 2024,

26. Related party tfransactions
There have been no material related party fransactions with any Directors in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil} except for key
managemeant compensation as set out in Note 5,

During the year to 31 March 2023, the Group invested £11.7m (2022 £174m) in Protos ERF Ltd and Newhurst ERF Limited. The Group issued
further loan notes of £4.7m (2022: £7.5m) during the period and accrued unpaid interest income of £1.2m (20232: £0.8m). As at 31 March
2023 the Group recognised outstanding loan receivable balances due from Protos ERF Ltd and Newhurst ERF Ltd of £20.2m (2022:
£14.3m). Both parties can redeem the notes at any time. The annuai rate of inferest on the notes is 8%. This whole balance remained
ourstanding at year end. None of the amount is deemed o be uncollectable and no expenses have been recognised during the period in
respect of bad or doubtfui debts in this regard.

Na Directors held any material interest in any cantract with the Company of the Group in the year to 31 March 2023 or subsequent period.
The Group has made £10.2m (2022: £5.7m) of contributions to the defined benefit pension schemes,

During the year to 31 March 2023, the Group received loans of £73.5m from its parent company, Biffa 8idco Limited. The foan proceeds
were used to repay the Group RCF. Interest accrues on the outstanding loan balance at 8.3%.

There are no additional related party tfransactions to disclose.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 84



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stotements

27. Contingent liabilities

Bonds

The Group must satisfy environmental agency financial security requirements in order to ensure thdt it is able to discharge the obligations
in landfill site licences and permits. The Group meets these financial security requirements by providing financial security bonds. The
amount of financial security whillt is reguited is delermined in conjunction with the regulatory agencies, as is the method by which
assurance is previded. The Group has gutstanding bond arrangements in England and Wales of appreximately £96.3m (2022: £86.7m) for
permitted waste activities where rthe Group has obligations under the Environment Agency's fit and proper persen test to make adequate
financial provision. Additionally, the Group has bonds to a value of £18.5m {2022: £16.1m) for performance of local authority and other
confracts. Ne liability is expected 1o grise in respect of these bands. The Group also has three letters of credit in relation to the deferred
equity contributions on Newhurst Efw and Protos Efw amounting to £17.2m (2022: £32.2m).

Hazardous soils

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill tax freatment of sub-soils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. At the date of signing of the accounts the outcome is not certain, however the Group has received a protective assessment of
£8.5m, which has been paid and 15 included i prepuyinents as he Group is dispuring this assessment.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enguiry

As set out in Note 1, Biffa Waoste Services Limited (“BwWSL”) is currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of
its Landtill Tax compliance (‘the Enquiny™, as part of concerns HMRC has primarily relating to the inferpretation of the qualifying fines
regime set cuf in LFTL. HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the potential conduct of BWSL and
specific customers, which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid.

A provision has been recognised for £64.0m (2022: £20.0m) including ossociated costs and interest based on specific amounts asserted
by HMRC to date. In addition, HMRC has raised general issues about Biffa's compliance with the qualifying fines regime set out in LFTL
The Directors do net consider that a liability is likely to arise for those general matters, and therefore this is treated as a contingent
liability.

BwSL's potential additicnal liability for Landfill Tax for the relevant period could be up o approximately £114m, based on information
provided by HMRC, plus interest and further costs in responding to the Enguiry,

For further information, please refer to the key source of estimation uncertainty disclosure refating to this matter in Note 1 and the
related provision disclosure in Note 18,

28, Investments in joint ventures and associates
Details of each of the Group’s joint ventures and associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of joint venture or Place of incorperation and Proportion of ownership
associgte Principal activity principal place of business interest and voting rights held
Protas Holding Limited Energy from waste Englond and wales 25%
Protos ERF Limited Energy from waste England and wales 25%
Newhurst ERF Holding Limited Energy from waste England cnd Wales 50%
Newhurst ERF Limited Emergy from wgste England and Wales 50%

Summarised financial information for each of the Group’s joint ventures and associates is set out below. Amounts presented are prepared
in accordance with IFRS Standards.

2023 2022
Newhurst Protes Newhurst Protos
Staternent of Financial Position £m £m £m £m
Current assets 198 102.1 70 529
Non-current assets 338.1 2633 25583 185.8
Current liabilities (CX)] (8.4) 4 (221
Mon-current Jigbilities (254.3) {297.1) (197.7) (213.1)
Net assets 939 59.9 57.2 35
Net assefs includes:
Cash and cash equivalents 92 3.0 51 50.0
Current financial liabilities! (2.9) 79 (5.7) (14.8)
Non-current financial ficbilities’ (254.3) (297.1) {197.7) (213.1)

1 Financial labhities excludes frade and other payables and provisiens
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28. Investments in joint ventures and associates continued

2023 2022

Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos

Statement of Comprehensive Income £m Em £m £m
Revenue 6.6 - - -
Profit / (loss) for the period 2.6 Ly .8 (1.
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the period 252 289 14.1 {14.4)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) 34.4 27.8 12,3 (15.6)

Reconciligtion of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in the jaint venture or
associare:

2023 2022

Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos

£m £m £m £m

Net assefs 93.9 55.9 572 35
Group percentage ownership interest 50% 25% 50% 25%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 47.0 15.0 28.% 0.8
Interest in joint venfure or associate ar the start of the period 28.6 oa 1.5 (1.%)
Additions 4.4 73 108 5.6
Share of post-tax results 13 (0.3) (0.8) (0.3)
Share of net gain / (Joss) on cash flow hedge 12.6 722 71 X))
Interest in joint venture or associate at the end of the period 46.9 15.¢ 28.6 0.8

29. EVP-related items

The Group has been engaged in a dispute with HMRC concerning historical Landfill Tax.

HMRC claimed rhat the Group was liable for £61.9m of Landfill Tax in respect of certain waste materials deposited in Biffa's landfill sites
from 2009 to 2012 ('EVP’). Biffa contested that the material was used in the sites for an engineering purpose and was not thergfore subject
to Landfill Tax, Notwithstanding the Group's opinien on the tax freatment of this material, since 2012 all materiais of this nature have been
subjected to Landfifl Tax.

The matter was heard by the First Tier Tax Tribunal which found in HMRC’s favour, before Biffa won the Upper Tax Tribunal for the EVP
case. HMRC however requested a further hearing from the Court of Appeal which took place in March 2021. Biffa was unsuccessful in the
hearing with the Court of Appedl and the Directors sought leave to appeal the decision to the Supreme Court. In May 2022 the Group’s
request of leave to oppeal was refused by the Supreme Court.

The contested amount was paid to HMRC following the refinancing of the Group upen its IPO in October 2016. In oddition to the payment
of £61.9m, the Group paid £1.7m in interest in the period ended 24 March 2017 The Directars, having taken appropriate advice, did not
believe that o liabdity to tax exists and accordingly treated the poyment of the tax and associcted interest as a prepayment.

As part of the TPO of the Group, arrangements were put in piace to make certain payments to the shareholders ond certain members of
employee incentive schemes of the Group mmediately prior to its Listing, subject fo and in respect of the outcome of the dispute. A
financial liobility of £47.6m was recognised in borrowings and an accrual of £13.0m was recognised in non-current liapilities.

With the negative outcome confirmed, in the year ended 25 March 2022; the £63.6m prepayment was impaired to £nil and a corresponding
deferred tax asset of £15.5m was recognised; the £47.6m financial liability was reduced to £14.3m; and the accrual was reduced to £3.5m.
These outstanding balances reflect the amounts payable to the shareholders and certain members of employee incentive schemes of the
Group respectively, immediately prior to its Listing. The net impact of these transacticons is a loss after tax of £5.4m in the prior period.

No gayments were made in the year ended 31 March 2023, Subsequent ta the year end dare, £7.8m was paid to EVP preference
shareholders and ex-management as explained in Note 34,

Of the outstanaing liability ot the yeor end gate of £17.8m, £6.3m has been included within Group Net Debt, as explained in Note 23,
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30. Service concession arrangements

The Group has twe infegrated waste management contracts that are considered to fall within the scope of IFRIC 12: Service Concession
Arrangements. These are the wWest Sussex County Council recycling contract (length of 29 years - awarded in 2004 and acquired by the

Group as part of the Viridor acquisition in the year ended 25 March 2022) and the Leicester City Council contract (25 years - awarded in
2003).

The concessions vary as to the extent of their obiigations, but typically require the construction and operation of an asset during the
concession period including scheduled maintenance and capitat expenditure. The operation of the assets includes the provision of waste
management services such as collection, recycling and disposal. Typically at the end of concession periods the assets are refurned to the
concession owner. There have not been any significant changes to these arrangements in the period.

The West Sussex County Council recycling contract invelves the construction and maintenance of recycling assets that will be returned fo
the council at the end of the contract. This arrangement is therefore considered to be within the scope of IFRIC12. An intangible asset of
£31.2m is held at the year end dafte (2022: £35.5m) and is being amortised over the remaining life of the confract. A provision for future

capitul expendilure un reverling assets of £15.9m (2022 £15.1m) has been recognised in relation to this contract as described in Note 18,

The Leicester City Council contract also folls within the scope of IFRIC 12, and a financial asset of £4.3m (2022: £4.0m) has been
recognised. The contract is loss making and o return to profitability is not expected, and as such an onerous contract provision has been
recognised os described in Note 18,

These contracts generated revenue of £56.7m in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £21.9m).

31 Subsidiary undertakings

The following entifties are 100% owned subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2023. All subsidiary undertckings have a financial year
end coterminous with Biffa Limited unless otherwise noted.

Place of Principal Place of Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity Name of subsidiary incorporation activity
Amber Engineering Limited' England and wales Wwaste i Biffa Group Holglings (UK) Limited'  Englond and wales Holding company
management !
Barge Waste Management England and wales waste Biffa Group Holdings Limited’ Jersey Holding company
Limited! management
Biffa (Corby) Limited' England and wales Dormant Biffa Group Limited' England and wales Holding company
Biffa (Earls Barton) Limited! England and Wales Dormant Biffa GS (FC) Limited' England and wales Waste
management
Biffa (Jersey) Limited* Jersey Halding company | Biffa GS (LPP) Limited’ England and wales waste
management
Biffa (Land) Limited® Guernsey weiste Biffa GS (M&B) Limited' England and wales waoste
management management
Biffa (Roxby) Limited’ England and wWales Dormant Biffa GS Environmental Limitted’ England and Wales waste
management
Biffa (UK} Haldings Limited’ England and wales Dormant Biffa GS Environmental Recycling England and wales waste
Limited' management
Biffa (WES) Lirnited’ England and wWales Dormant Biffa GS Holdings Limited' England and Wales Holding corrparry
Biffa (West Sussex) Recycling England and wales waste Biffa GS UK Heldings Limired! England and Wales Holding company
Limired' management
Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited! England and wales Holding company | Biffa Holdings (Jersey) Limited? Jersey Dormant
Biffa Corporate Services Limited' England and wales Dormant Biffa Holdings Limited! England and wales Holding company
|
Biffa Environmental Mumicipal England and wales waste i Biffa Leicester Limited’ England and wales waste
Services Limited! management i management
1 Registered ot Coronatron Roaa, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire HP12 312
Z Registerea ot 44 Zsplanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 SWG
3 Registerea at PO Box 119, Martells Court, Admiral Park, St Peter Port, Suernsey, GY1 3H
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31. Subsidiary undertakings continued
Piace of Principal Place of Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity Name of subsidiary incorporation activity
Biffa Municipal Limited' England and Wwales waste Marerial Recovery Nominees England and Wales Dormaont
management Limited'
Biffa Netherlands Bv* Netherlands Holding company | New Star Environmental Limited! England and Waies waste
management
Biffa Pension Scheme Trustees England and Wales Dormant Norwaste Limited! England and Wales Dormagnt
Limited"
Biffa UK Group Limited' Englond and wWales Darmnant O’Brien Waste Recycling Solutions England and Wates Dormant
Holdings Limited*
Biffa UK Limited' England and Wales Dormant O'Brien Waste Recyeling Solutions England and wailes Dorrmant
Limited!
Biffa waste Limited' England and wales Dormant Poplars Resource Management England and Wales waste
Company Limited*! manggement
Biffo Waste Management Limited! England and Wales waste Reclamation & Disposal Limited' England and Wales Dormant
management
Biffa Waste Services Limited' England and wales ‘Wwaste Richard Biffa {Reclomation) England and Wales Dormant
management Limired'
Biffa West Sussex Holdco Limited® England and wales Dormant RUR3Z Environmental Limirted' England and Wales waste
management
Biffo West Sussex Limited’ Englond and Woles Wwaoaste | Simply Waste Salutions Limited! Englond ond Wales Dormaont
management
Bray Insurance Company Limited®  Gibraltar [nsurcnce Specialist Waste Recycling Scotland waste
services Limired® management
CAMO Lirmited! England and Woles Dormant SWR Smash & Grab Limited’ Engiand and Wales Waste
management
Community Shop C1.C* England and wales Other retail non- SWRNewstar Limited' England and Wales Dormant
specialist
Cormpany Shop Holdeo Limited! England ond wales waste | Syracuse Waste Limited! Engiand and Wales Waste
management management
Company Shop Limited*” England and wales Other retatl non- The withnell Brick and Terra Cotta England and Wales Dormant
specialist Company (1912) Ltd"
Cressex Insurance Services England and wales Dormant Total Recycling Services Englond and Wales Waste
Limited’ Limiteg™™ management
Forge Recycling (Holdings) England and wales Holding company | UK Waste Management Holdings England ard Wales Darmant
Limited=*' Limited
Forge Recycling (UK) Limited*! England and Wales waste UK Wasre Management Limited! England and wales Wwaste
management management
Farge Waste Limited® England and Wates Dormant wastedrive (Manchester} Limied’® England ang wiales waste
managemeant
GS$ Acquisitions Limied’ England and Wales Holding company | Wastedrive Limited' England and Wales Darmant

GS Equity Co’
Island woste Services Limited!

Lavelle & Sons Limited*
Loristan Services Limited'

M Joseph & Son (Birminghanm
Limited’

Cayman Islands
Englond and Wales

England and wales
Englond and wales
England and wales

Hoiding company

Waste
management

Dormant
Dorrnant
Dormant

wasteholdco 1 {imitedt?
wasteholdco 2 Limited?

Wweir Recyeling Services Limited!
Wweir waste Services Limited!
white Cross Limited:

Jersey
Jersey

England and wales
Engiand and wales
England and wWales

Hokding company
Holding company

Dormant
Dormant
Dormant

" Financigl year anded 2z Aprl 2023

t Direcly held oy Biffa Limitea

W W A

Registered af Coranation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckmghamsnire RP12 3TZ
Registered at 44 Esolonade, 5t Hetlier, Jersay, JE4 GWG.
Registered af PO Box 119, Martello Court. Admiral Park, St Peter Port, Guernsey. GY1 3k

Registered at Jupster Building, 2nd Floor, Herlkerpergweg 88, 1101 €M Amsterdarn, The Netterlonds
Registerad at Fiduciory Management Limited, Surre 23 Portland House, Glocis Read, Gibraltor, GX11 1AA
Registered af wentwarth Way, Tankerslay, Barnsiey. South Yarkshire, 575 3DH
Reqistered at Intertrust Corporare Services (Caymen) L.owted, 190 Elgin Avenue, George Tawr, Grana Cavman KY19005.
Registared 21 Annan Suite, 13 Yaork Place, Edinourgn, Scotland EHI 3E#

Fimanaial year endea 27 March 2022

~* Financial yeor ended 31 October 2022

Subsequent 1o the reporting date, Loristan Services Limited was dissolved on 18 April 2023 and Esterpet Limited was acquired on 25 April as disclosed in hote

34
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32 Controlling party

Biffa Limited is o 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears Bideo Limited), a Company incorporated in the United Kingdom, whose
registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Bucks, HP12 3TZ. Biffa Limited is the parent company of the smallest and largest group in which
the Company’s results ore consolidated.

On 10 July 2023, Bears Bidco Limited changed its name fo Biffa Bidco Limited

The ulfimate controlling party is ECP ControlCo, LLC, registered in Delaware, United States.

33, Dividends

The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £.89p). A final dividend of 4.69 pence per share for the year
ended 25 March 2022 was paid during the year.

34, Post balance sheet events

Acquisitions

On 25 April 2023 the Group ocquired the entire issued share capital of Esterpet Limited (‘Esterpet’), a recycler of Polyethylene Terephthalate (‘PET') plastic, for
consideration of £0.7m. From ifs state-of-the-art recycling facility in North Yorkshire, Esterpet converts 25,000 tonnes of plastic flakes each year, generated
from recycled bottles, into high-purity plastic peilets. These pellets are made into now plastic battles for bevarages, cosmetics and household goods, with the
company’s customers including some of the largest brands in the UK and Europe.

Alongside the acquisition of Esterpet, the Group acquired 49.9% of the issued share capital of its sister company Esterform Packaging Limited, a leading
manufacturer of plostic bottles and Esterpet’s largest customer, for a consideration of £5.5m, Both investments will form part of the Polymers business in the
Resources & Energy division.

Debt Restructure
On 23 May 2023, the Group restructured its existing debt as follows:

. The Group repaid its private placements of £345.0m. These were replaced by £260.0m of private placements held within Biffa Limited.

- The new nates are a mixture of 5- and 7-year notes with a weighted average borrowing rate of 6.2%.

. Term loans and RCF held by Biffa Bidco Limited, to which the Group has access, were increased. Term logns of £100.0m were increased to £235.0m and
RCF of £225.0m wus increased to £325.0m. Interest is charged at a floating rate and other terms remain unchanged.

EVP Payments
Tn May and June 2023, £7.8m was paid to EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in Note 29. At 31 March
2023, the total tiability was £17.8m The remaining £10.0m is expected to be paid in the year ending 28 March 2025,

DRS

On 7 June 2023 the Scottish government announced that, while they remain committed to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland, it would be delayed until
October 2025 at the earliest. An announcement had been made previously on 18 April 2023 that the start date of the scheme would be delayed from August
2023 to March 2024, Circularity Scotiand Limited ("CSL), the scheme administrator, entered administration on 20 June 2023 as its funding was withdrawn and
was therefore unabie to meet its contractual cbligations to Biffa and other parties. The Joint Administrators’ Proposals were released on 28 July 2023,
indicating that at best Biffa would receive an immaterigi portion of the total amount due from CSL.

in the year ended 31 March 2023 the scheme made no contribution to operating profit but the following moterial amounts were held on the balance sheet at
the year end date:

. Accrued income ~ £6.1m

. Property, Plant and Equipment - £3.8m
. Right-of-use assets - £8.1m

. Lease liabilities - £8,5m

In addition to the amounts recorded at 31 March 2623 the Group had further capital commitments of approximarely £39m, of which o proportion are expected
to be leased. It is likely that impairments will be recognised on a number of assets, with the impoct on FY24 Operating Profit within the range £nil 1o £64m.
The Group has various options available to mitigate the committed cash outflows and latest estimates indicate that up to© £40m can be recovered.

The announcement on 7 June 2023 is judged to be a nan-adjusting event in accordance with TAS 10: Events after the Reporting Period becouse it is not
considered to provide evidence of conditions that existed at 31 March 2023. In other words there were na reliable indications before 31 March 2023 that this
pastponement would occur. Therefore no adjustments corresponding 1o this announcement have been made to the 31 March 2023 financial statements and
instead the appropriate accounting entries will be posted in the year ending 29 March 2024 once mitigation plans are finalised and enacted.
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Parent Company Financial Statements

Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

The parent cormpany statements ore prepared under FRS 101 and refate to the Company and not 1o the Group, The financl statements

are prepared under the historical cost convention.

Non-current assets
Investments
Trade and other receivables

Current assets
__Financial assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

As at As at

31 March 2023 25 March 2022

Notes £m 3 - £m

3 2551 2579

. %200 @ 4540
e b7 6919

k) - . ]
S U 11 I

(1.5} (1.8)
8 350y -

3465y .

.Net current liabilities

L

Noan-current tiabilities

Borrowings 8 R €. = 0 1
- _(3450;
_Metassets o .36 5460
Equity
Catled up share capital 9 3.1 51
Share premium 9 252.2 2476
Merger reserve 95.8 958
_Retained earnings (22.5) 04
Total equity atiributable 1o shareholders 3286 5461

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has nof presented its own income siatement or statement of
comprehensive income. The loss of the Company for the year attributable to shareholders was £11.0rm (2022: £8.9m loss).

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 September 2023, They were signed on its

behalf by:
»’»»Lf.:{‘&

Michael Topham
Director
Compary no; 10336040
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Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Cailed up
share Share Hedging Merger Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 3.1 247.0 (2.9) 95.8 151 359.1
Loss for the period - - - - &9 8.9
Other comprehensive income - - 29 - - 29
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period - - 29 - (8.9) 6.0)
Exercise of share options - 06 - - - (3.6)
Shares purchased by employee benefits trust - - - - (3.6) ?7
Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs) - - - - 27 0.5
Dividends paid - - - - (6.7) (6.7)
As at 25 March 2022 31 247.6 - 958 {0.4) 346.1
Loss for the period - - - - (11.0) (11.0)
Other comprehensive income / {Joss) - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period - - - - 11.0) {11.%)
Exercise of share options - 4.5 - - - 4.6
Shares purchased by employee benefits frust - - - - .5 (L5)
Vailue of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs) - - - - 4.7 4.7
Dividends paid - - - - (14.3) (14.3)
As at 31 March 2023 31 252.2 - 95.8 {Z2.5) 328.6

In May 2020, the Company incorporated a Jersey registered “cash box” company n order fo facilitate an equity raise. The transaction
satisfied gll required conditions to obtain merger relief in accordance with section 612 of the UK Companies Act 2006. The amount within
the merger reserve relating to this equity raise is now a distributable reserve.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies

General Information

The Company is a private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK and is the parent company of the Group. The
address of the Company’s registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High wycombe. Buckinghamshire, HP12 3TZ. The principal
activity of the Campany is as helding company for the Group The principal activity of the Group is the provision of waste management
services in the United Kingdom.

The Company wds a public company limited by shares until Z6 January 2023 when its entfire share copital was acguired by Bears Bidco
Limited, a private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK. The Company name changed from Biffa plc to Biffa
Limited upen delisting from the London Stock Exchange on 27 January 2023,

Basis of preparation
These financial staterments present the results of the Company as an individual entity and are prepared on the going concern basis, in
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reducad Disclosure Framewark” ('FRS 161") and the Comparnies Act 2006.

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 Application of Financial Reporting Reqguirements issued by the
FRC. Accordingly. these financial statements are prepared in accordance with FRS 101, The financial statements have been prepared in
accordonce with the accounting policies set out below, which have been consistently applied to all the yveors presented except where the
Company has elected to take the following exemptions as allowed under FRS 101,

. The requirements of IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows'.
. The requirements of paragraph 17 of 1AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ in respect of key management personnel.

. Requirements of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose transachions between wholly owned members of the Group.

. The requirements of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, as equivalent disclosures ore provided in the consoligated financial srarements
of the Group to which the Company belongs.

» The requirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments'.

- The requiremeants of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurements’, as equivalent disclosures are presented in the consolidated
financial statements.

These fingncial staterments are presented in Pound Sterling ('GBP") and are rounded to the nearest £0.1m,

The Company participates in the Group’s centralised treasury and banking arrangements. The Company is expected 1o generate positive
cash flows to continue to operate in the foreseeable future,

The Company has not presented its own income statement or stafement of comprehensive income as permitted by section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources aof estimation uncertainty

The Compaony does not consider there to be any there to be any critical accounting judgements or key sources of estimarion uncertainty.
Investments

Investments are initiolly sfated ot cost. Investments are tested for impdirment when an event that might affect asset value has occurred.
An impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the corrying amounts cannot be recovered either by selling the asset or by the
discounted future cash flows from the investment.

Dividend distribution

The fina! dividend distribution fo the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in The Company’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Other receivables

Other recetvables are recognised initially at fair value less any provision for expected credit loss. They are subsequently held ot amortised
cost less any provision for expected credit loss.
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L Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes o porty to the contractual provisions of the
instruments, Financial instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the contractual terms expire. The financial
mishunen s vecuygiised by he Curmnpuny are sel oudl below.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initicily at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective inferest method, less
expected credit losses.

Trade payables
Trade payabies are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements.

Borrowings are recognised initiclly ot fair value, net of transaction costs. Any difference between the amount initiclly recognised and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initiclly recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and subsequently remeasured at fair value
at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Company designates cerfain derivatives as either ay fair vaiue hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities); or b)
cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associoted with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probabie forecast fransaction); or c)
net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Company documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception. At inception and
ct each reporting date the Company assesses whether the derivatives used have been highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair
value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 5. Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in the
staterment of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Company has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity and are recorded at par value of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium cccount net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment plans

The Group’s management awards employee share optiens, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting
conditions. The economic cost of awarding the share opfions fo its employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income
statement equivalent to the fair value of the benefit owarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stochastic pricing model.
The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award,

2. Employees and Directors

Biffa Limited had 2 employees during the year (2022: 2), being the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Cfficer. Their emoluments
were as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Aggregate emoluments L5 18
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.2 0.2
Total 1.7 2.0
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2. Employees and Birectors continued

2023 2022
The number of Directors who!: Number Number
Are members of a money purchase pension scheme 2 2
Exercised opfions over shares in the Company 2 -
Had awards receivable in the form of shares under a long-fterm incentive scheme 2 2

2023 2022
Highest poid Director £m £m
Aggregare emoluments 11 1.1
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.1 0.1
Total 1.2 1.2

In addition to the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options in the year and had shares receivable under long-term incentive
schemes,

3. Investments

£m
As at 26 March 2021 2564
Movements relating to share options granted on behalf of subsidiary employees 15
As at 25 March 2022 257.9
Movements relating to share options granted on behalf of subsidiary employees (2.8)
As at 31 March 2023 255.1

There have been no indicators of impairment during the year and no requirement for impairment. The Directors believe that the carrying
value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.

Disclosure of the Company’s joint ventures and associates and subsidiaries is given in Notes 28 and 30 of the Group financial sratements.

4. Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
Amounts falling due after more than one year £m £m
Armounts due from subsidiary undertakings 420.0 4340
420.0 434.0

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of frade receivables approximates their fair value. The balance due from subsidiary
undertakings is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. An expected credit loss provision of £4 2m has been
recognised as at the close of the current period (2022: £4.4m) in relation to the balance due from subsidiary undertakings.

5. Financial assets
2023 2022
£m £m
Financiai assets - 1.0

During the previous financial period the Company undertook Two privare placements and capitalised associoted borrowing costs of £1.0m.
The private placemenrs were refinanced in May 2023 and the capitalised costs have therefare been written off during the year ended 31
March 2023,
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6. Fair value cf financial assets and liabilities
2023 2022
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 420.0 4200 434.0 434.0
Financial assers - - 1.0 1.
Fingncigl ligbilities
Trade and other payables (15) {1.5) (1.8) (1.8)
Private placements (345.0) (3450) (345.0) {345.0)
Total financial assets and liabilities 73.5 73.5 88.2 88.2
7. Trade and other payables
2023 2022
Amounts falling due in under one year £m £m
Other creditors - 05
Interest paycble 1.5 13
1.5 1.8
All creditors are unsecured.
8. Borrowings
2023 2022
£m £m
Amounts falling due in under one year
Private plocements 345.0 -
345.0 =
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Private plocements - 345.0
- 345.0

The £345m private placements were terminated on 23 May 2023 as part of the debt restructure. They were replaced with £260m of private

placement notes held by Bears Bidco Limited, maturing in May 2028.

9. Reserves

Refer to Note 21 of the Group financial statements for details.

10.  Related party transactions

There have been no material related party transactions in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £nil) except for key management

compensdation as set out in Note 5 of the Group financial statements
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11. UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit

Biffa Limited is the parent company of the Group. The foliowing UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within
Section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the period ended 31 March 2023. The undertakings listed below are 100% indirectty owned by
Biffa Limited. In accordance with Section 479C of the Companies Act, the Company will guarantee the debts and fiabilities of the below UK

subsidiary undertakings.

Company Company
Name Number Name Number
Amber Engineering Limited 1067283 Forge Recycling (Holdings) Ltd 11062914
Barge waste Management Limited 2849409 Forge Recycling (UK) Ltd 073B3076
Biffa (Corby) Limited 3216850 Forge waste Limited 4594882
Biffa (Earls Barton) Limited 748129 GS Acguisitions Limited 7255980
Biffa (Roxby) Limited 2031961 Islond waste Services Limited 1552791
Biffa (UK) Holdings Limited 3249158 Lavelle & Sons Limited 1312867
Biffo (WES) Limited 2729507 M Joseph & Son (Birmingham) Limited 440100
Biffa Corporate Holdings Limired 5656364 Material Recovery Nominees Limited 5186581
Biffa Corporate Services Limited 7155949 New Star Environmental Limited 7306131
Biffa Environmental Municipal Services Limited 905800 Norwaste Limited 1041912
Biffa Group Holdings (UK) Limired 4081901 O'Brien Waste Recycling Sclutions Holdings Limited 9560589
Biffa GS (FC) Limited 4800628 O’Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Limited 9362987
Biffa G5 (LPP) Limited 2276396 Poplars Resource Management Company Limited 2630451
Biffa GS (M&B) Limited 1173504 Reclamarion & Disposal Limited 879315
Biffa &GS Environmental Limited 3446693 Richard Biffa (Reclomosion) Limited Q29000
Biffa G5 Environmental Recycling Limited 4786413 RURZ Environmental Limited 6304761
Biffa GS Holdings Limited 4602885 Simply Waste Sclutions Limited 12155099
Biffa GS UK Holdings Limited 4631832 Specialist Waste Recycling Limited SC324466
Biffa Holdings Limited 1032104 SWR Smash & Grab Limited 5667032
Biffo Pension Scheme Trustees Limited 2694166 SWRNewstar Limited 11098385
Biffa UK Group Limited 3650457 Syracuse Waste Limited 13269384
Biffa UK Limited 3650459 UK Waste Management Holdings Limited 2536345
Biffa wasfte Limited 4084432 UK waste Management Limited 1362615
Biffa waste Management Limited 1138022 wastedrive (Manchester) Limited 1517244
Biffa West Sussex Holdco Limited 7001231 wastedrive Limited 1396771
CAMO Limited 6524298 weir Recycling Services Limited 9360664
Company Shop Holdco Limired 12215502 weir Waste Services Limited 3777183
Company Shop Limited 192743 white Cross Limited 1537610
Cressex Insurance Services Limited 6848093

12. Controlling party

Biffa Limited is a 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears Bidca Limited), o company incorporated in the United
Kingdom, whose registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Bucks, HP12 3T2. Biffa Limited is the parent company of
the smallest and 'orgest group in which the Company's results are consclidated.

On 16 July 2023, Bears 8idco Limited changed its name fo Biffa Sideo Limited.

The ultimate controlling party is ECP ContralCo, LLC, registered in Delaware, United States.

13, Post balance sheet events

On 23 May 2023, the Company repaid £345.0m of private placemenis. Refer 1o Note 34 of the Group financial staterments for details.
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’)

The Group’s financial performance is analysed into three components: ‘Staturory Performance’, ‘Adjusted Performance’ and ‘Adjusting
[tems’. Adjusted performance is used as it aids comparability of the reperted financiat performance year to year and between divisions.
Management identify o number of Alternative Performance Measures ("APMs'} in order to separately disclose an adjusted performance for
the Group. The Directors believe that the presentation of the resuits in this way, which is not meant fo be a substitute for or superior to

1 RS migsures, is relevant lo an understanding of the Group's performance frends, hinancial performance and position. Qur APMs and
KPIs are aligned to our strategy and together form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration. Consequently, APMs are
consistent with how the performance is planned and reported internally to the Board and Operating Commitfees to aid their decision
making.

APMs have been presented in this Appendix to provide a useful tool in understanding the performance of the business. It shouid be noted,
however, that these APMs may not be comparable with similarly titled measures presented by other companies. It is recommended that
APMs are viewed as supplementary inforrmation clongside the equivalent statutoery megsures.

This Appendix has been presented to help users of the financial statements understand the rationale behind our use of APMs, our
methodology for identifying adjusting items and the impact of these adjusting items on the APMs. The Group income statement does not
disclose any adjusting items and has been presented as a single column showing the statutory results only. The same approach has been
adopted for the Group statement of cash flows.

Depreciation and amortisation relates to the write-down of both intangible and tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic
lives. Amortisation of acquisition intangibles is disclosed separately in line with divisional Adjusted Cperating Profit.

The Group’s policy is to exclude items thot are considered significant in nature and/or value, not in the normal course of business or are
consistent with items that were separately disclosed in prior periods., Management utilises an exceptional item frarmework that has been
cpproved by the Beard. This follows a three-step process which considers the nature of the event, the finoncial materiality involved and the
particular facts and circumstances. Items of income and expense that are considered for designation as adjusting items include
significant acquisition-related costs, write-downs ar impairments of non-current assets, movements on onerous contract provisions and
strategy-related and restructuring costs.

Closest equivalent
APM statutory measure Definition

Net revenue Revenue Statutory revenue excluding landfili tax. Unless stated otherwise, ‘revenue’ refers to statutory revenue.
Landfilt tax is excluded as the rare [s outside the Group’s control.

See table below for reconciliation

Qrganic Ner Revenue The increase/{cecrease) in Net Revenue in the period excluding Net Revenue from acquisitions compieted

revenue growth in the period and Net Revenue from acquisitions completed in the prior period up to the anniversary of the
relevant acquisition date, to the extent such Net Revenue falls in the current period. where comparative
periods differ in duration, the KPI is adjusted on o pro-rata basis.

Organic Net Revenue Growth can be expressed both as an absolute financial vaiue and as a percentage of
prior period revenue.

Qrganic Net Revenue Growth is presented to demonstrate to users of the financial statements the growth
ottributed to organic growth rather than as a result of acquisitions.
See toble below for reconciliction
Acquisition Net  Revenue Acquisition Net Revenue Growth in any period represents the Net Revenue Growth in the relevant period
revenue growth from (i) acquisitions completed in the relevant period and (/i) any dequisitions completed in the 12 moenths
prior fo the refevant period up to the 12-month anniversary of the relevant acquisition date (fo the extent
such Net Revenue falls in the current period). Acquisition Revenue Growth is calculated on the same basis,
using revenue in place of Net Revenue.

Acguisition Net Revenue Growth is presented to demonstrate the level of growth achieved as a direct result
of the Group’s acguisition strategy.
See table below for reconciliction

EBITDA Operating profit Profit before depreciation, amortisation, net finance costs and taxation.

Adjusted EBITDA Operating profit Profit before depreciation and amortisation, adjusting items, changes to landfill provisions, net finance
costs and taxation.
Adjusted Divisional EBITDA is stated after allocation of shared service costs

Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it is widely used by analysts ond investors to evaluate the
profitability of companies. EBITDA eliminates potential differences in perforrmance caused by variations

in capital structures, tax positions, the cost and age of tangible assets and the extent to which intangibie
assets are identifiable.

See table below for reconciliation
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

APM

Closest equivalent
statutory measure

Definition

Adijusted
Operating profit

Adjusted Profir
before tax
Adjusted Profit
for the period
Adjusted Free
cash flow

Adjusted Return
on operating
assets
Adjusted Return
on Capital
Employed
('ROCE")

Group

Net Debt

Covenant Basis
Net Debt

Group
Leverage Ratio

Cperating profit

Profir before tox

Profit for the period

Net cash from

cperating activities

n/a

n/a

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Profit before adjusting 1tems, amortization of acquisition intangibies, impact of reai discount rate
changes to landfill provisions, net finance costs and faxation.

Adjusted divisional operating profit is stated after aliocation of shared service costs

See table below for reconciliation.

Profit before 1ax excluding odjusting items, amortisation of acquisition intfongibles ond the impact of
redl discount rate changes 1o landfill provisions,

Profit after tax excluding adjusting items, amortisation of acquisition intangibles and the impact of real
discount rate changes to tandfill provisions.

Net incregse/(decrease) In cash and cash equivalents excluding dividends, restructuring costs, adjusting
items, acquisitions, movement in financial assets and movements in borrowings or share capital (but
including finance lease principal payments).

This measure reflects the cash generated in the period excluding adjusting items and forms part of
mancgement incentives.

Adjusted Operating Profit divided by the sum of average of opening and closing Property, Plant &
Equipment, plus average of opening and closing net working capital.

See table below for reconciliation.

Adjusted Operating Profit less amartisation of acquisition intangibles divided by the average of opening
and closing shareholders” equity, Net Debt (including lease liabilities), pensions and envirenmental
provisions.

See table below for reconciliation.

Bank and other barrowings plus lease liabilities and EVP preference liability, less cash and cash
equivalents.

See Note 23 16 the consolidated financial statements for a reconciliation

Bank and other barrowings plus lease liabilities, less relevant financial assets and cash and cash
equivalents. This is the measurement that our lenders use when assessing covenant compliancea.
See table below far reconciliation.

Ratio of Group Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA.

See Note 232 to the censolidated financial statements for a reconciliation.

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting item

Share of Landfill
results in Asset provisions
joint impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation real

ventures and related and Landfill of discount
53 weeks and Acquisitien onerous restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rate
ended Adjusfed assaciates costs contracts costs dispute engquiry 1z intangibles changes Statutory
31 March 2023 £m £m £m £m £m £Em £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,680.2 - - - - - - 0z - - 16804
Costs (1,456.0) (248 - (180 %3] (50.73 (1.4) - 243 (15273}
Share of results -
N 2Rt ventures
and assogiares 1.3 (133 - - - - - -
EBITDA 225.5 (1.5) (24.B) - (180 4 ¥4} {50.0 [¢ Fa] = 243 1531
Sepreciatior anmn - - - - - - 37 - - {1080)
Amortisation [§52)) - - - - - - ab le=Xi] - (293)
[mpairments - - o0 - - - - - @1
Qperating
profit 1128 (1.3 (24.8) (3.1 (18.0) o 4] &0 (0.6) (25.2) 24.8 4.7
Swance income 67 - - - - - - - - 57
Finance costs {29.2) - - - - - (0.3} - (295)
Share of results
I joint veniuras
Zhd assacigtes (0.3) 1.3 - - - - - - - - 13
Profit/ (loss)
befare
taxation 20.0 - {24.8) 9.1 (18.0) [§ ¥] (507 0.9 (25.2) 24.8 (15.1)
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting item continued

Landfill
Asset provisions
impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation real
und reluted and wandtill of discount Exceptional
52 weeks Acquisition onerous  restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rate net interest
ended Adjusted costs cantegets costs dispute enquiry 12 intangibles changes income Statutory
25 March 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,443.2 - - - - - - - - 1,443.2
Costs (1248.2) 943 - (4.8) {20 8; {17.0) Loy - 03 - {1,300.9)
EBITDA 195.0 {(*.4) - (4.8) (20.8) {17.0) {1.0) - 0.3 - 1423
Depreciation (973 - - - - 24 - - 949
Amortisation (11 - - - - - (29.4) - - N
Impairments - (25.0) - - - - - - (25.0)
Operating
profit / (lossy 96.6 (9 4) {250 (1.8) {20.0) {17.0) 1.4 (£9.0) 0.5 - (8.3)
Fnance income 21 - - 11 3z
Finanze costs (22 - - - - - 0.4 - - - (22.4)
Share of results
M joinT ventures
and associates L1y - - - - - - - - a1
Profit / (loss)
before
taxation 75.6 5.4 {25.0) (4.8) (20.8) (17.0) 10 (29.6) 0.3 11 {28.6)
Adjusted profit measures by division
2023 2022
Adjusted Operating profit £m £m
Collections 825 75.0
Resources & Energy 42.3 41.1
Specialisy Setvices 13.8 5.4
Group Business Function (25.8) (24.9)
Total 112.8 6.6
2023 2022
Adjusted EBITDA £m £m
Collections 146.1 130.7
Resources & Energy 78.3 73.4
Specialist Services 21.6 116
Group Business Function (20.5) (20.7)
Total 225.5 1%95.0

Adjusting items

Group Business Function costs represent shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alia, Board and corporate costs, finance,
HR, IT, legal and insurance, external affairs and SHEQ) remaining after allocation to operating divisions. Adjusted EBITDA represents the
profit earned by each division without allocation of depreciation and amortisation, adjusting items, finance costs, material impacts of
changes in real discount rate applied to the Group's long-term provisions and income tax expense. Adjusted Cperating Profit recognises
the impact of depreciation and amortisation excluding the amortisation of acguisition Intangibles, These measures are both reported to

the Group Executive Team for the purpese of resource allocation and assessment of divisional performance.

Share of results of joint ventures
In a joint venture with Encyclis, the Group has invested in the construction of two energy recovery facilities (‘'ERFs’): Newhurst and Protos.
The Newhurst ERF entered commercial aperation during the year to 31 March 2023. The Group's share of the results of this joint venture

have therefore been recognised in Adjusted Operating Profit (£1.3m).
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Acquisition-related costs

Detivery of the Group's strategy includes investment in acguisitions that enhance the guality of 1fs operations. The exclusion of significant
items arising frorm M&A activity is designed by the Board to align shorf-term operational decisions with this longer-term strategy
Accordingly, armounts arising on acquisitions are excluded from adjusted performance. The £2.0m (2022: £9 4m) of acquisition-related
expenditure in 1he 53-week period ended 31 March 2023 relotes 1o professional fees and other costs which are directly artributable 1o
acquisitions.

Also included in Acquisition-related costs are £22 8m of costs relating to the acquisition of the Group by ECP in January 2023

Asset impairments

During the current financial period an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation to the Poplars anaerobic digestion plant, in addition
o o £0.4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth site. The prior financial period saw o £25.0m one-off cost for the impairment of
the goodwill that had been recognised on CSG, which was acquired in February 2021

Strategy-related and restructuring costs

Strategy-related costs of £18.0m (2022: £4.8m) arise from Group-wide initiatives to reduce the ongoing cost base and improve efficiency
in the business. These costs are substantial in scope and impact, and do not form part of our operational performance. Adjusting for these
charges provides a measure of operating profitability that is comparable over time. Within the strategy-reloted costs is £16,2m relating to
the Transformation Project which does not qualify for capitalisation (2022 £4.6m).

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

This charge of £25 2m (2022: £29.6m) represents the amounts amorfised by the Group in eoch period in respect of intangibles from prior
acquisitions, which are reported separately from the Group’s depreciction and amortisation charges. The performance of the acquired
business is assessed as part of the Group’s adjusted operational results. The Group uses this adjusting item to irmprove the comparabiliry
of information between reporting periods and divisions

Impoct of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions

The impact of real discaunt rate changes on landfill provisions reflects the provision movernent which arises whally due to the change in
discount rate. Within the current financial period @ credit of £24 8m was recognised (2022: £0.3m credit). This is not reflective of
operational performance.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry
As set out in Note 27, BWSL is currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of its Landfill Tax compliance.

A provision of £20.0m was recognised in the prior year. In the current year, the provision has been increased fo £64.0m with a charge of
£50.7m recognised within adjusting items. Further information is provided in Note 18.

IFRIC 12 adjustments

The adoption of IFRIC 12: 3ervice Concession Arrangements, results in large accounting adjustments that are not reflective of the
operational parformance of the underlying contracts. The purpose of these adjustments is to reverse the impact of IFRIC 12 1n Adjusted
Performance.

Under IFRIC 12 depreciation on reverting PPE items is reversed out. The IFRIC 12 adjustment reinstares this depreciation.

Also under IFRIC 12 the cost of future capital expenditure that must be incurred in order to fulfit the confract is captured upfront and
recognised as a provision, with the corresponding discount unwind being recognised within net finance costs. The IFRIC 12 adjustment
reverses this charge from the Adjusted Performance.

The net impact of these IFRIC 12 adjustments is g £0 3m credit to the Income Statement, which is freated as an adjusting rtem.

Onerous contracts

Onerous contract provisions reflect the future unavoidable losses expected on the Group’s existing confract portfolio. At the year ena date
the Group held anerous contract provisions for the Leicester City Council, Epping Forest District Council and South Oxfordshire & Vale
contracts.

when onerous contract provisions are recognised or increased, the corresponding P&L charge 1s freated as an adjusting item because
recognising multiple years of losses in one financial year skews the financial performance in that year. Onerous contract provision releases
are also treated as adjusting items because the inflated profir they cause does not represent the in-year performance of the business. This
approach ensures that Adjusted Operating Profit for any given period presents the contract losses incurred in that period.
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Recancifiction of adjusting items fo profit after tax

2023 2022
£m £m
Adjusting items
HMRC 1 andfill Tox enoprury 507 170
Share of results of joint ventures 1.3 -
Acquisition related costsy 248 9.4
Strategy related and restructuring costs 8.0 48
Asser impadirments 9.1 25.0
EVP dispute 1.2 208
IFRIC 12 depreciction adjustment 0.6 (1.4)
105.7 756
Other adjusting items
Amertisation of acquisition intangibles 25.2 296
Impact of real discount rare changes on landfill provisions (24.8) (0.3)
Impact on Operating profit 106.1 104.9
Finance income adjusting items
Exceptional net interest income - (L1
Unwind ¢f discounting on IFRIC 12 provision 0.3 0.4
0.3 07
Share of results of joint ventures (1.3 -
Impact on Profit before tax 105.1 104.2
Taxafion on adjusting items (7.4) (26.4)
Impoct on Loss for the period 97.7 77.8
2023 2022
Adjusting items impacting Operating profit by division £m £m
Collections 6.6 9.4
Resources & Energy 70 23.6
Specialist Services 11 253
Group Business Function 1.4 44.6
Total 106.1 1049
Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Revenue
2023 2022
£m £m
Statutory Revenue 1,680.4 1,433.2
Lancfill Tax (75.7) (79.3)
Net Revenue 1,604.7 1,363.9
2023 2022
Net Revenue by division £m £m
Collections 1,0061 8739
Resources & Energy 363.9 315.9
Specialist Services 234.7 174.1
Total 1,604.7 1,563.9
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation of Statutory Revenuea fa Net Revenue continued

2023 2022

Growth Growth

Revenue growth fm factor £m facter
Net revenue for the prior period 1,3639 288.1

Acquisition revenue growth 836 6% 1799 18%

Organic revenue growth 1572 12% 1959 20%
Net revenue for the current period 1,604.7 1,363.9

Other performance medsures

In addition to the adjusting items disclosed above, the Group uses Adjusted Return on Operating Assets and Adjusted Return on Capital
Employed as performance measures. These are aligned te the strategy and are reported internally to the Board and Operating
Committees to aid their decision making. These are calculated as below:

2023 2022
£m £m
Adjusted Qperating profit! 1128 Q6.6
Average of property, plant and equipment? 634.3 5897
Average net working capital® (12.9) (582)
621.4 531.5
Adjusted Return on Operating Assets® 18.2% 18.2%

s ar

5 oA

2023 2022
£m £m
Adjusted Operating profit 1128 9.6
Amortisation of Acquisition Intangibles (25.2) (29.6)
Adjusted Operating profit less Amortisation of Acquisition Intangibles 876 67.0
Average of sharehalders equity? 466.2 470.6
Average Net Debt? 631.4 547.0
Avergge retirement benefirs? {130.6) (139.0)
Average environmentd| provisions® 637 725
1,030.7 951.0
Adjusted Return on Capital Employed® 8.5% 7.0%

Average of opening and closing sharehelders’ eqguity in 2023 and 2022,

Average of opening and closing Net Debt in 2023 and 2022

Avernge of operuing and closing retirerment benetits in 2023 and 2022 {Note 25).

Averdge of opening ¢nd closing environmental provisions 'n 2023 and 2022 [Nofe 18).

Adjusted Operating Profif less omertisatian of ogguisition intangibles divided by *he average of opening and clasing snoreholders” equity, net debt {inclugiing lease labiliies),
PENSIONS are apvironmental provisions

N N
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Forward-looking Statements

Certain statements made in this Annual Repeort are forward-looking
and nre bosed on corrent avpactations The stotements are suljoct
10 assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are
beyond the Company’s control and which could cause actual resuits
ta differ significantly from those expected. Unless required by law,
regulations or accounting standards, the Company does not
undertake to update or revise any forward-icoking statement,
whether as a result of new information or future developments. Any
forward-iooking statements made by or on behalf of the Group
speak only as of the date that they are made and are based on
knowledge and information available 1o the Directors on the date of
this Annuct Report.

webhsite

The Company’s website www.biffa.co.uk gives additional
information on the business, Notwithstanding the references mode
in the Annual Repor? to the website, none of the inforrmation made
on the website constitutes part of this Annuat Report or is deemed
fo be incorporated by reference herein.
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